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DAY 3 – 18 SEPTEMBER 2015 

 

  [9.30 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning everyone.  Thank you, Mr Allen, for our 5 

submissions which we have read overnight and are helpful.  If you 

wanted to highlight anything in particular you could before you call 

Mr Clark but I will leave that in your hands.  The policy matters and so 

forth that you cover off are clear on the face in terms of the written 

document.   10 

 

 So was there anything in particular you want to emphasise?  I mean one 

of the issues you raised in questioning which concerned my question in 

regard to the policy construct which of course was not intended to be a 

full description of the policy statement, it was really just to frame a 15 

question so you can put your mind at ease there in terms of the proper 

raft of directives that we have to follow under the documents. 

 

 So just on the strategic network perhaps you could address us on those 

matters at paragraph 37 and so forth. 20 

 

MR ALLEN:   Sir, very happy to briefly address you on those.  The opening 

submissions, and as I stated in the submissions, the closing will touch 

on some of the issues you raised in particular on the first day regarding 

the road controlling authority. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR ALLEN:   These submissions refer solely to objective 3.3.12(a) of the 

strategic directions hearing.  As the Panel is aware there is that policy 30 

but there are also other policies relevant, in particular 3.3.7 and (h) and 

(i) of 3.3.7 for the strategic objectives. 

 

 Your Honour also pulled up on the screen yesterday the relevant 

provision from the RPS chapter 6 and that was objective 6.2.1, and in 35 

particular looking at 9, 10 and 11, so there is that framework.  Equally 

there is objective 6.2.4 on the integration of transport infrastructure in 

land use.  And then there is a series of policies that can become 

relevant.  Obviously in this particular site policy 6.3.1 is relevant to 

give effect to the urban form identified in map A.  But then coming 40 

back to the transport side of it, which is really the focus of 

paragraph 37, there is policy 6.3.4 on transport effectiveness. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In essence an aspect of that as I see it, and I will test it 

with you very briefly, the nature and role of a strategic network insofar 45 

as the policy statement is concerned like other strategic infrastructure, 
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in essence it is an asset for the community to serve the community 

wellbeing? 

 

MR ALLEN:   Correct, sir. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in this sense not to be protected in its own right but to 

be considered in terms of the purpose it is intended to serve for the 

community? 

 

MR ALLEN:   That is correct, and the objective of the Transport Agency under 10 

the Land Transport Management Act at section 94 is doing 

effectiveness, safety et cetera in the public interest, so that ties back to 

your community comment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if we have, for instance, a piece of land which this 15 

same document tags for certain purposes, one can draw assumptions 

that there is a relationship of integration there between the land use and 

transport infrastructure in terms of its location and its development 

purposes, do you agree with that? 

 20 

MR ALLEN:   That is right, and that comes back then to the land use question 

and what is the land use for that site in this planning framework, which 

is the non-transport question, but in terms of the identification of the 

site through the RPS and the LURP then it is an identified priority site 

and the integration therefore needs to fit in with this. 25 

 

  [9.35 am] 

 

 There is an additional policy 2, which is policy 6.3.5 just over the page 

and in particular, there 2 has ensuring the nature, timing and 30 

sequencing of new development, a coordinated with the development 

funding implementation. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that was another aspect I had in mind, I knew it was 

there somewhere.  So for instance if we take an asset which has been 35 

programmed and is under construction now through public funds, the 

fact that it might be under pressure in, say, year 2026 in one sense 

might be seen to indicate a need for caution but in another sense it 

could simply indicate that through the life of that, in terms of the 

intentions that asset is supposed to deliver for the community, that it 40 

has delivered on social and economic wellbeing for all of that time, 

hasn’t it, it has enabled community wellbeing including in an economic 

sense during the life of that asset.  That is all a benefit to the 

community over that period of time, isn’t it, so the fact that an asset 

might be under some stress in 2026 may not necessarily be a reason to 45 

say no to a development? 
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MR ALLEN:   Sir, that might be the case, it does then come back to the correct 

land use question which is what I touched on before, is that it is then 

integrating your land use development in a manner consistent with the 

RPS, the LURP and the different chapters of the replacement plan to 5 

ensure integration and ensure efficiency of the strategic network. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but one may be able to look at it at that time and say, 

“This asset has delivered on community economic wellbeing as it was 

intended to do” and it may be well be seen to have a limited life in that 10 

sense but perhaps not on an assumption that at that stage it should 

foreclose development? 

 

MR ALLEN:   That is correct, though there is always the longer life span of the 

network forward looking so it carries on having benefits forward, then 15 

the question becomes, one of funding and I will address this more 

fulsomely in closing. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And coming back to this policy that you have just 

mentioned? 20 

 

MR ALLEN:   And it comes to this policy and the funding regime under the 

Land Transport Management Act is not just looking at local issues, it 

looks at needs and national and regional layer too, projects are 

prioritised on a national and regional basis and funded that way.  So 25 

therefore there is always this issue about need for project versus 

funding for project and prioritising which is what happens.  Projects on 

a national and regional basis and so it fits within that framework too 

but I can hopefully make that succinctly in closing. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks very much, I think that was just a good 

introduction for me to Mr Clark’s evidence.  All right, thanks. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Can I ask one a question? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, certainly. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Mr Allen, there was one thing I was interested in just you 40 

elaborating on a little more and it is your paragraph 52, because that is 

one thing that has been exercising my mind is this action in the LURP 

regarding ensuring that decisions about this area and all other areas, 

greenfields areas in and around the airport is undertaken in an 

integrated fashion, and we have got this hearing now, there is a hearing 45 

coming up relatively soon for the commercial and industrial stage 2 
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which will cover some additional areas in this location.  We have had 

stage 1 already, the hearing, which covers other areas.   

 

 I suppose I am interested in what you are actually saying to us 

particularly in relation to the northwest areas 2 and 3 and in terms of 5 

the way the traffic assessment has been carried out without including 

those areas in the assessment. 

 

MR ALLEN:   So that was one of your questions yesterday to Mr Carr from 

memory about what was included or not and my understanding from 10 

the work with Mr Falconer did was those were areas were not included 

in the model development.  But the concern for the Crown is, and I put 

a few questions yesterday to Mr Carr on it, on the cumulative effects of 

these. 

 15 

  [9.40 am] 

 

 Now, the Crown’s position is planning and effects need to be forward 

focused.  Effect is defined as including a future effect and there are 

these proposals that but for fate of timing and how this process has 20 

worked might have been collectively heard at the same time, in which 

case the Panel would have had a more sort of holistic view. 

 

 My understanding is the Panel might be releasing its decisions on all of 

these at the same time to enable it to catch up but I am not sure if that is 25 

correct, that is just an understanding.  And therefore the key reason for 

putting that in is just to raise the cognisance of the integration with 

these other projects that will be heard in a month’s time and there will 

be cumulative traffic effects on the road network, including the state 

highway network, and what those may or may not be at the moment we 30 

are just looking at the MAIL side of the picture. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Will the Crown, are you taking an interest in the next hearing 

on these same matters? 

 35 

MR ALLEN:   Yes, and we have got Mr Clark filed evidence yesterday as did 

Ms White on the - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Good on you, thank you. 

 40 

MR ALLEN:   On that industrial and commercial stage 2 hearing.  So the 

evidence will be there and it will be called but it is just to remind that 

the LURP does indicate and it comes right back to earlier this year 

when the Crown filed a memorandum about integration of these 

hearings. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, I remember that.  All right, thank you, that is a reminder 

that this is coming up, that these areas will be in a month or so time. 

 

MR ALLEN:   The key focus, and it comes back to the questions from 

his Honour, is this concept of forward planning and future effects so 5 

even though things might change in the future those future effects still 

need to be considered to the degree that the modelling and probabilistic 

nature of it can do. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much, Mr Allen. 

 

MR ALLEN:   Thank you. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And if you can call Mr Clark. 

 

MR ALLEN:   I will pass over to Ms White. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  Is it Ms White or Mrs White? 20 

 

MS WHITE:  Mrs White or Ms White, I am fine either way. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, that makes it easier for me. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   We have two Ms Whites. 
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<IAN DAVID CLARK, affirmed [9.42 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, Mrs White, we have read through Mr Clark’s 

evidence.  Commissioner Illingsworth, did you need a summary? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No, I don’t. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So we don’t need a summary, we could just go straight to 

questions. 

 

MS WHITE:   Sure.   

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So there is a bit of cross-examination.  In light of cross-

examination it is still your intention to cross-examine, Mr Winchester? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, sir, as I advised last night I have withdrawn. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is what I thought.  I had it on the list here, I 

thought you had withdrawn but Mr Williams - - - 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   I was actually wishing to advise the same thing, sir, and the 

Airport’s position is the same in respect of Ms White so. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  All right, well, we don’t need a summary from 

you, Mr Clark, we can just go straight to questions. 

 

MR CLARK:   Thank you, sir. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Commissioner Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Good morning, Mr Clark. 

 30 

MR CLARK:   Good morning. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Excuse me, I am probably going to give you a 

summary of my own before I ask the questions because I sat down this 

morning and read through your evidence again.  So when I read the 35 

evidence I see that you have four key concerns around the assumptions 

used in the new traffic assessment, calibrating the validation of the 

profiling, trip distribution particularly Avonhead Road, lack of 

specified limits and I think sensitivity analysis on the model as well one 

of the components.   40 

 

 It is clear that the Russley Road western corridor is a road of national 

significance and NZTA is building a grade separated interchange at that 

section.  Your key concern must be that the vehicle movements 

modelled truly reflect the situation on this intersection in 2026.  I can 45 

see from your evidence that there have been earlier integrated transport 
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assessments and they forecast flow increases of around 66 percent at 

this interchange in 2026 and your paragraph 7.5 indicates that the 

earlier ITA gave volume to capacity ratios of around 82-83 percent and 

that was a manageable level, considered to be a manageable level. 

 5 

  [9.45 am] 

 

 The MAIL plan change application has resulted in your view and 

potential safety and congestion issues and you have said in your 

rebuttal, and I am not quoting your rebuttal, paragraph 3.2 that you 10 

have, even after all the modelling that has been completed, concerns 

around the accuracy of the model in your view.   

 

 In opening counsel for the Crown, Mr Allen, indicated that you believe 

traffic flows could be understated by up to 15 percent in Memorial Ave 15 

travelling towards Russley Road.  So in the context of that I am going 

to ask you a few questions.   

 

 The first question is this, isn’t it a fact that when predicting future 

traffic flows using a model like microsimulation that there are many 20 

assumptions and many inputs and that it is likely that three or four 

experts are never really going to agree on the inputs or the assumptions 

especially when you have had very short timeframes to complete that 

work? 

 25 

MR CLARK:   Yes, so that probably is fair to say, there is bound to be a level 

of disagreement.  I did hear Mr Falconer say that we recognise we 

don’t have an exact science and therefore one needs to take a slight 

range higher or lower than the absolute number being provided.  We 

have sought to get as much agreement as possible on the input 30 

assumptions and distribution was one that we didn’t alternate (ph 1.58) 

as you heard yesterday, and that does give rise for concern in terms of 

the impact on the state highway. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  And I can see that you have worked 35 

together, all of you, and I think that is commendable.  I am no expert on 

transport matters but to me transport networks are extremely complex 

and they are difficult to model, especially when it is overlaid with 

development projects as those identified in the Land Use Recovery 

Plan, and there is also a massive number of iterative road network 40 

improvement schemes that you either do model or you don’t model and 

it must be very hard to understand the effect of those on the network. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Question? 

 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No, it is not a question, sorry.  I am not trying to 

downgrade the importance of modelling just suggesting that there will 

always be some inaccuracies and we as the Panel have to fly above and 

make a general assessment rather than get too caught in the detail. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, just skip to the question, commissioner. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   The question is, isn’t it a reality that in real time and 

as development occurs Councils, NZTA and with the assistance of 

traffic engineers make improvements that focus on the issues at 10 

intersections and that will occur no matter what happens? 

 

MR CLARK:   So I think my main concern is, yes, there is a level of 

uncertainty, I have acknowledged that, particularly the level of 

uncertainty around the rate of take up of the various zone development.  15 

But when the land comes online one has to think of what the response 

will be in the medium longer term.  You have heard yesterday there is 

approach agree in principle to investigate, to monitor and to bring 

forward measures, although they are not yet programmed, for the main 

western corridor.   20 

 

 But it is difficult to see how you can further upgrade the works 

currently being put in and the construction at Memorial Avenue 

interchange.  The layout I provided with my evidence it shows up to six 

lanes on one approach and that would be the biggest interchange I 25 

believe in Christchurch.  It is difficult to think how you can further 

upgrade that in respect to issues that arise.  So therein lies the problem 

of, as you have heard just half an hour ago, we haven’t yet taken into 

account unimproved development that gets heard in three or four 

weeks’ time.   30 

 

 Now, some of those developments will affect further north or further 

south along the western corridor.  They also may affect this particular 

point where it is difficult to consider further upgrades unless we totally 

bypass the western corridor. 35 

 

  [9.50 am] 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you.  So when I read your evidence, you 

support the Council position clearly because it has a much lower effect.  40 

In your mind, is there any position that may be possible in between the 

two versions? 

 

MR CLARK:   It is always very hard to establish an exact tipping point where 

unacceptable becomes acceptable or vice versa.  There is general 45 

agreement, that we are talking about 1,700 vehicles with the Council 
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proposal, evening peak two-way begins at 2,600 with the MAIL, that is 

the measure of difference of flow and therefore major difference of the 

effect.  If you added a tiny bit to the Council position, it may be okay, 

there is no magic number where it will fall over. 

 5 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just – Ms Dawson, sorry. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just briefly, thank you Mr Clark, I just want to be absolutely 10 

clear that in the areas that you are referring to that are coming up in the 

next stage of the Hearings, are the same areas that you refer to or are 

referred to as the nor-west area review areas 2 and 3? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  And they are up around – on Johns 

Road sort of between Wairakei through Sawyers Arms or Harewood, 

through that area? 

 20 

MR CLARK:   Wairakei to Harewood is area 2 - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLARK:   - - - the area to the south of Memorial Avenue down to the 25 

southern interchange is area 3. 

 

MS DAWSON:   What do you refer to as the southern change? 

 

MR CLARK:   In my appendix 1, taking the north point in the right direction, - 30 

- - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that was interesting. 

 

MR CLARK:   - - - the Memorial Avenue interchange goes through what’s 35 

called zone 3 on that plan. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CLARK:   Going further south within zone 4, is the southern interchange, 40 

because area 3 is just - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   So this is the new interchange that is going to come out of the 

Dakota Park’s area? 

 45 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 
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MS DAWSON:   So that is area 3? 

 

MR CLARK:   Area 3 is to the east of that point. 

 5 

MS DAWSON:   So is that coming up – is there industrial or some sort of 

zoning coming up in the commercial and industrial Hearings and down 

in that vicinity as well? 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes, there is. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is good to know.  And then area 2 is 

the north of Wairakei Road area, - - - 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - which is to the east of Johns Road? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct.  To the east of Russley Road - - -  

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Russley Road - - - 

 

MR CLARK:   - - - between, that’s right.  

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that is good to know.  And so, I mean, I 25 

have just heard your answer to the questions to Commissioner 

Illingsworth and you have got concerns about uncertainty with the 

modelling that is at the higher level, the CAST level modelling in terms 

of effects or the outcomes of that modelling, in terms of effects on the 

State highway as we are considering it now. 30 

 

 And you have another concern that these areas are not included yet, so 

in terms of the cumulative effects, and am I right in thinking that as a 

result of that, you also have a difficulty, - and I will talk to Ms Whyte 

about this - about how the effects of any individual developments 35 

however they are staged and timed on the MAIL site, the effects of 

those on the State  highway will be considered in future processes? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct, yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   I know Ms Whyte raises that, so if we do not look at them 

now or as part of this integrated first consideration of this Hearing and 

the one to come, then it might be difficult to pick up those concerns in 

the future? 

 45 

MR CLARK:   That is correct yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   And do you still have the same concern at some level, or is 

your concern sufficiently ameliorated with the Council’s proposal in 

the scale and nature and level of activity through the Council’s 

proposal for the MAIL site, versus the MAIL proposal? 5 

 

MR CLARK:   There is one point I have prepared in summary that maybe 

needs to come out, is this idea of a cap because we are not talking about 

fanciful scenarios, but there is a measure of commercial use with both 

the MAIL scenario and the Council scenario, and it is quite easy to 10 

consider that in due course the land use activity could give rise to 

greater traffic numbers if there was more commercial or similar uses. 

 

  [9.55 am] 

 15 

 So I understand through Mr Carr’s evidence, that the MAIL proposal is 

to include a cap on commercial services.  He has rightly pointed out 

that we have heard no similar cap being put forward for the Council, so 

that is an area where the Council scenario could lead to greater traffic 

than the 1,700 number currently put forward, currently agreed by the 20 

experts. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in terms of keeping a cap on your concerns, even within 

the Council’s proposals, you would support some cap on those 

commercial activities which non-fancifully could actually grow - 25 

(INDISTINCT 0.49) situations be higher than would be advisable? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much.  That is all, thank you, sir.    30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just picking up that, Mr Clark, you may have covered this 

in your evidence but is the modelling sufficient – do you describe a cap 

in your evidence and recommend one for the Council at a certain level? 

 35 

MR CLARK:   I did, sir, we have modelled 8,200 metres squared for the MAIL 

proposal, I believe that is the figure that Mr Carr has accepted, and I 

have guessed a similar figure for the Council. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Just a few matters of detail. 40 

 

 Your Counsel has just commented earlier about, and you have raised it 

as well, about the fact that this Inquiry we are undertaking now, is part 

of a wider Inquiry and we are yet to hear matters in regard to land use 

development along this corridor which your evidence described as 45 

related. 
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 Without necessarily suggesting that it is something which holds up our 

decision for this matter, but bearing in mind that we need to approach 

our Section 32 AA obligations mindful of the entire Plan, do you 

consider anything is required by way of refinement to the modelling or 5 

other analysis anticipating what we will need to deal with later in terms 

of cumulative effects, we will be looking at CAST and the other things 

that we are relying on, are we likely to get into trouble in terms of 

understanding cumulative effects unless we pay attention to it now? 

 10 

MR CLARK:   I would hesitate to recommend further modelling, but certainly 

one can draw conclusions from the current modelling.  I have said I 

believe that the proportion of MAIL traffic going for State highway in 

the model is currently a bit too low.  And the higher figure in the earlier 

version model (INDISTINCT 3.07) because there is less congestion, 15 

and therefore as soon as you upgrade sections along the western 

corridor, you might find that people then head out towards the 

expressway. 

 

 So that is the area that I am drawing conclusions, from the current 20 

modelling rather than saying you need another version. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you for that, and I am just looking ahead, and 

as I say, not necessarily as an obstacle to what we are dealing with 

now, but as a traffic engineer, do you think that we will be limited in 25 

our capacity by the current tools more than we should be in terms of 

assessing cumulative effects when we come to consider, for instance, 

other proposals and trying to judge the cumulative effect position. 

 

 Does the modelling give us enough understanding of that or is there 30 

anything further required which we could make directions upon in 

order that we are properly equipped for those later Hearings? 

 

MR CLARK:   Sir, I think it is marginally unfortunate the way these Hearings 

are sequential, I do believe cumulative effects are very important, and 35 

the transport decision on chapter 7 did refer to my evidence on that, it 

is very important for the transport authorities to understand those 

effects. 

 

 So to a certain extent I agree that you are slightly hampered by not 40 

being fully aware of the cumulative effects. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we will leave it at that for the moment, but we 

may have to give some consideration to that, as I say, looking forward. 

 45 



 Page 424 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

 Just so that I have got a scale in my mind, and it maybe that you are not 

in a position to do this, but in terms of the comparative difference 

between the Council’s position and MAIL’s position in terms of scale 

of development. 

 5 

 If for instance we go with the MAIL version for argument’s sake, do 

you envisage yourself significantly influenced by that in terms of what 

you would recommend for whether other developments along this 

corridor could proceed or not? 

 10 

  [10.00 am] 

 

 Sorry that was a complicated question.  I just want to get a scale of 

instance for instance, when we come to consider these other matters if 

we were to consent a scale of development at this site that MAIL is 15 

seeking, is your sense that it could well see us decline other 

development given the cumulative impacts or significantly curtail it?  

Or does the modelling not allow you to answer that? 

 

MR CLARK:  I believed, the audio this morning, my evidence went in 20 

yesterday for areas two and three, the modelling for that did assume 

development of the MAIL site.  I cannot on the top of my head assume 

the Council version or the MAIL version.   

 

 My evidence for the next hearing along has focused on the effects of 25 

those developments to the north and to the south of this site where it is 

slightly less sensitive to the operation of the Memorial interchange, 

area two is very much more concerned around the operation of the 

Harewood Road roundabout which is a real bottleneck, with area three, 

I have expressed access concern onto the southern interchange, but I 30 

am concerned there are (INDISTINCT 1.59) effects around there with 

area three on the Memorial interchange, so it is awkward to have these 

taken in part. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do I take your answer to be one or the other?  Is your 35 

answer to us that if one was to look at the scale of development that 

MAIL is seeking you simply don’t know because it hasn’t been tested 

whether that would see you recommend against development either 

north or south?  Or is your position that regardless of the scale they are 

sufficiently geographically spread along the network as to not give rise 40 

to that scale of cumulative consequence? 

 

MR CLARK:   There is some overlap sir.  Definitely area three.  Area two to a 

lesser extent but certainly others have some overlap because of the 

limited access from the east onto Russley Road, so if the interchange is 45 

full and that gets approval we are almost seeing a first-come, first-
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served basis.  It makes it harder to allow the next along to also take 

place and use up the same space of road. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And would you be assisted to understand that difference 

by modelling specific to that question? 5 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now just a couple of other matters.  I did not 

warn the secretariat about this but I wanted to refer you to annexure D 10 

to Mr Carr’s supplementary rebuttal which shows a concept layout for 

the Memorial Avenue site access.  Now I thought yesterday, and this is 

one of those things where I may have just skipped it in dealing with a 

number of things.  I think you have recommended for a different 

intersection treatment, is that right?  We will just wait for the 15 

intersection design to come up, so it is annexure D, Concept Layout for 

Potential (INDISTINCT 3.58) Site Access. 

 

 There is some reference to left-in, left-out and I just wanted to make 

sure I understood. 20 

 

MR CLARK:   No sir, there are two accesses onto Memorial Avenue. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 25 

MR CLARK:   The one to the west is left-in, left-out.  This is the second one 

with full movements. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So, so far as intersection design and treatment 

is concerned you do not have any issues there? 30 

 

MR CLARK:   Only at nitpicking level sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  No, that is good to know.  Now we have heard 

from residents about their concerns about the amenity implications for 35 

them in Avonhead Road for instance of an industrial development on 

this site.   

 

 My question for you is, and I am not saying the Panel has made its 

decision on this at all, but just to test the proposition, were the Panel to 40 

decide it was appropriate to constrain truck movements at Avonhead 

Road for the purposes of amenity of residents, would you have 

concerns that that would – I am just referring to truck movements – that 

that would have a serious aggravation effect on the strategic network or 

not, given that those movements would then all have to be channelled 45 

at Memorial? 
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MR CLARK:  I think it is the correct approach sir, to limit trucks on Avonhead 

Road.  I heard the answer yesterday and I struggle to think are there 

any examples of that happening.  There are a few in Auckland and I 

know there are others under consideration and it could reduce the 5 

effects on Avonhead but it would put traffic on, the trucks on the 

correct roads, which are the state highways. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thanks Mr Clark. Any questions arising? 

 10 

<EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [10.05 am] 

 

MS WHITE:   Yes there is one actually sir.  It is from a matter which I 

understand was going to be in your highlights package, and that is 

whether you had any comments on exhibit F, so the table that was 15 

provided by Andy Carr yesterday. 

 

MR CLARK:   Yes I do.  If we can refer to that one page - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will let that go.  It wasn’t arising but I understand.  If the 20 

Panel has got any further questions we will ask but that is fine.  No that 

is fine.  Perhaps stay on your feet though. 

 

MS WHITE:   Okay, thank you. 

 25 

MR CLARK:   So we received a one page exhibit yesterday.  I just thought it 

would be worth highlighting one particular point.  The fourth line down 

is labelled ‘Johns SH1/Harewood’ and going across there is a value of 

1,234 which is the scenario without MAIL.  However it is not labelled, 

that is actually northbound on Russley Road heading towards Belfast, 30 

so that is the through volume.  You go across to the blue section with 

MAIL, it goes down to 1,206 and you will see the volume to capacity 

ratio go up from 103 to 104.   

 

 This is really highlighting the fact that there is some traffic from MAIL 35 

heading to the state highway.  It is probably displacing other traffic.  So 

if upgrades come along as a result of this initiative by the various 

authorities, that should resolve the 103 to 104 percent but I can see it 

attracting traffic back onto the state highway and that is when I can see 

the distribution of trips from the MAIL site onto the state highway 40 

increasing. 

 

 That bottleneck then affects the next one along.  So if you go down to 

near the bottom of that page there are two entries for Johns/Sawyers 

Arms roundabout.  If the Harewood Road roundabout is more than 45 

100 percent at capacity, then not all the traffic is getting through, so 
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you should not be surprised to see the flow, the performance of 

Johns/Sawyers to change from 107 to 108.  By that I am saying that not 

any more traffic can get to that point and things cannot get much worse. 

 

 This is Mr Penny’s point yesterday that some of the effects of the extra 5 

traffic, they are not hidden but they are sheltered by other bottlenecks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Commissioner Illingsworth, any questions arising from 

that? 

 10 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is the corollary that until the particular staging and timing 15 

alongside what upgrade works are also staged and timed can be 

considered together, you cannot unpick what might happen in relation 

to those particular intersections for example? 

 

MR CLARK:   The exact timing when things get to a particular point, we may 20 

not be 2026 if the take up of land is a bit slower or a bit quicker, that 

will affect the operation in a particular year.  So modellers always refer 

to modelling a particular year.  They are really modelling a particular 

scenario rather than calendar year. 

 25 

  [10.10 am] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which has been posited to happen by that particular year? 

 

MR CLARK:   That is correct. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Christensen, you did not elect to cross-examine on this 

but given the nature and extent of questioning from the Panel I will 35 

give you opportunity if you wanted to confer with Mr Carr on anything 

to ask any questions arising. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I do not think there is anything I need to ask, thank 

you, sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, thank you very much.  Thank you very 

much, Mr Clark, and again the Panel records its thanks to Mr Carr, to 

Mr Penny and yourself.  You have all approached this matter with a lot 

of hard work and professionalism and it has assisted us in an area that 45 

is always complex.  So thank you very much. 
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 I almost forgot Mr Falconer, who I thanked the other day.  It certainly 

does help when an expert does determine that their theory has changed 

as a result of what they have understood from their exchange with other 

experts.  We appreciate that. 5 

 

 All right, now we have got Ms Whyte. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.11 am] 

 10 
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<MARGARET JANE WHYTE, affirmed [10.12 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   From Mrs White to Ms Whyte. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MS WHITE [10.12 am] 

 

MS WHITE:   Can you confirm that your full name is Margaret Jane Whyte? 5 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   And you have the experience and qualifications in your 

evidence? 10 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   And you have prepared a primary statement of evidence dated 3 

September 2015 and a supplementary statement of evidence dated 14 15 

September 2015? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   Do you have any amendments or corrections to that evidence? 20 

 

MS WHYTE:   No. 

 

MS WHITE:   Do you confirm that your evidence is to the best of your 

knowledge true and correct? 25 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS WHITE:   Could you please read your highlights package and remain 

seated for questions? 30 

 

MS WHYTE:   Okay.  I am going to be very brief on my highlights package. 

 

MS WHITE:   Okay. 

 35 

MS WHYTE:   There is only one matter I really wish to address and that matter 

is the planning framework, around the 5,000 square metres of office as 

a permitted activity. 

 

 In my evidence-in-chief, and it is mainly paragraphs 5.37 to 5.39, I 40 

address that the provision of that office activity, and I agreed with Ms 

Carter that this provision would be consisted, would have been 

provided for within the other two Industrial Park Zones, being Tait and 

Awatea. 

 45 
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 For me, providing as much consistency as possible within the rules 

applying to a single zone, being the Industrial Park, was an important 

consideration, and the statements of my evidence are still correct with 

respect to the consistency for Tait and Awatea. 

 5 

 However, in the upcoming Stage 2 commercial and industrial hearing, 

there is an additional area of land sought zoned for Industrial Park, and 

this the Industrial Park Wairakei zone, which the Council has zoned 

within its Stage 2 notification.   

 10 

 While the rezoning is for the Panel in future hearings, the evidence of 

the Council and revised provisions responding to this evidence has 

been provided, and that was attached to the evidence of Mr Stevenson.  

 

 The revised provisions for the Industrial Park Zone Wairakei make no 15 

provision for 5,000 square metres of office development as a permitted 

activity.  So consistency therefore, for me, is a less compelling reason 

for the 5,000 square metres office space on the MAIL site than when I 

prepared the evidence. 

 20 

 If I can just clarify the other zoning that is being re-sought in relation to 

Area 3 that is coming up?  That zone is – two submissions addressing 

only part of the Area 3 site, not the whole area, and they are seeking a 

General Industrial Zone or similar, and the other submission has just 

sought an industrial zone unspecified as to the type. 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Could I just interrupt?  Are they through by way of 

submission?  It is not zoned by the Council, not supposed to be zoned 

by the Council. 

 30 

MS WHYTE:   The Area 3 is not.  Area 3 has not been rezoned by the Council 

in its Stage 2 proposals, so it has come – there are two submitters that 

have come through. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is what has confused me. 35 

 

MS WHYTE:   Right, yes.  Finally in relation to that, if the Panel is minded to 

provide for the 5,000 square metres of general office, then I do think an 

amendment to policy 5 is required to provide policy support for that 

level and type of office activity. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  That is it? 

 

MS WHYTE:   That is it. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you.  Mr Winchester? 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [10.15 am] 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  Good morning, Ms Whyte.  I know Mr 

Willis has provided higher level evidence in terms of the LURP and the 5 

RPS.  If I was to ask you some questions in terms of some of that 

context, which might then lead into the discussion about appropriate 

level of office at this site, would you be able to deal with that? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I will try as hard as I can. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   All right.  I wonder if we could bring up RPS Chapter 6, 

and I want to ask you some questions the concept of urban form and 

how urban form is dealt with in the RPS and how that translates into 

what we are dealing with today in terms of zoning and types of activity. 15 

 

 So if we can first of all to RPS objective 6.2.2.  It is quite explicit in 

terms of its subject matter, it talks about urban form and settlement 

pattern, and I will just ask you to bear that in mind.  But you would 

agree, wouldn’t you, that in terms of the subsidiary matters that are 20 

dealt with under 1, 2, 3, 4, down to 7, what we are specifically dealing 

with here is Matter 4, “providing for the development of Greenfield 

Priority Areas” and that associated wording? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you.  Then if we can move to objective 

6.2.6, which appears to be the next place where the concept of urban 

form is specifically referred to in the RPS and, well, there is a cross-

reference there because it talks about the settlement pattern brought 30 

about by objective 6.2.2.  So you see there is a relationship between 

those two matters? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Then we can go to policy 6.3.1, and do you see at items 

1 and 2 there is specific reference to “giving effect to the urban form 

identified in map A” which identifies the scope of the urban area and 

the identified Greenfield Priority Areas? 

 40 

 So when we are talking about what urban form is what is meant by the 

RPS, would you agree that one of the components is consolidation and 

identification of the urban area of Christchurch? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   And a second factor which goes into the concept of 

urban form is the zoning pattern? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   Is another factor the location and balance between the 

network of centres? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   And then at a more fine-grain level, when you are 

looking at how these policies and objectives of the RPS are 

implemented, does that then go into site specific zoning, in terms of 

achieving urban form? 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   With respect to greenfield areas? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And a component of that finer-grained recognition of 

urban form is the level and type of activity that is provided for, isn’t it? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   So if we trickle down from the highest level of the RPS 

down to the specific zoning that we are looking at, you would agree 

that the fact of the zoning for industrial purposes is highly relevant in 

terms of the concept of urban form? 30 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

  [10.20 am] 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   And the absence of the identification of a centre at this 

site is relevant, isn’t it? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   And so when we look at what an adverse impact on 

urban form means, then the question of how much office and how 

much retail is provided for at this location, is integral to the concept of 

appropriate urban form, is it not? 

 45 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, it is. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  I think that is helpful just in terms of what 

that concept means and how it is translated.  I now just want to ask you 

some questions about policy 5 and the changes that are outlined in the 

evidence, I think it is the supplementary, rebuttal and supplementary 5 

evidence of Ms Carter, and you and Ms Carter and Mr Stevenson 

talked about this policy disconnect and how to address, I suppose, the 

need from a policy perspective to constrain the amount of office at this 

site? 

 10 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And Ms Carter’s rebuttal evidence at page 6, sets out 

two options which she discussed with you and Mr Stevenson? 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   In light of what you have said this morning about your 

commercial industrial Stage 2 evidence and the need for consistency, 

do you have a different view about whether it is necessary to include 20 

additional wording to this policy? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I think that depends on what the judgement of the Panel is as to 

that office.  I think if there is a provision to be made for any form of 

general office that is not associated with – which is not a secondary 25 

component to a high technology industrial activity, then yes, to enable 

that I think there does need to be a change to the policy. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  Have you considered the relief sort in 

submissions across the board on this matter? 30 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And based on your analysis of submissions, is there 

scope within those submissions to go lower than 5,000 square metres of 35 

office as a permitted activity? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  In terms of option 2, assuming that it is 40 

considered appropriate by the Panel, I just want to talk about the 

concept of unintended consequences, and I just want to test some issues 

with you. 

 

 I suggest to you that in terms of (iii) it is rather a blunt instrument? 45 

 



 Page 435 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, it is. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  Are you satisfied that it deals specifically and 

discreetly with the circumstances of the Memorial Park Business Zone 

and that (i) and (ii) might not enable an escape clause or leave the door 5 

ajar in terms of additional office.  And possibly, I could ask a further 

question to identify - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just perhaps that question first, and then the further 

question. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, certainly.  So did you understand the question? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I did, what I was doing was just reflecting on whether policy 3 

was specific to general office and still providing a possibility of other 15 

office, but the way it is written it is absolute, I think.  In terms of my 

reading of it, so (a) would be to avoid office development in industrial 

areas other than – sorry no, no it wouldn’t, no.  I think potentially, two 

could still apply because there is an ‘or’ between, I think that is 

problematic, yes, I have seen that, yes, ‘or’, so I think in terms of 20 

Industrial Park Zone for Memorial Avenue, either 2 or 3 could 

potentially be. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, because potentially you have locked in the 5,000 

square metres as permitted in (iii) - - - 25 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   - - - but if someone wanted to go further and said well, I 

have got some secondary office because we are establishing high tech 30 

industry out there, that could provide for more, couldn’t it? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, it could. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And do you have a suggestion to seal off that problem? 35 

 

MS WHYTE:   You could, if you want that problem sealed, you could insert 

the rules located in industrial park zone other than the industrial park 

Memorial Avenue zone, into two so that would specifically exclude it if 

that was the outcome you wanted to achieve. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, Ms Whyte, that is very helpful.  Thank you, 

sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   Now I think Mr Williams. 45 
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MR WILLIAMS:   As advised earlier, no questions, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is right, yes, Mr Minhinnick. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR MINHINNICK [10.25 am] 5 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you, and good morning, Ms Whyte.  

Mr Winchester has covered some of the matters I was going to question 

you on. 

 10 

 But just firstly, as far as the overall planning framework, you have had 

some questions from my friend Mr Winchester already, you would 

agree though that it does set a strong direction in terms of the location 

of commercial, or commercial activities across the city? 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   With respect to commercial activities, yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   And the RPS policy 6.36 is clear that industrial zones are 

primarily to be used for industrial activities? 

 20 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   And then going to the industrial policies, that policy 

framework uses avoidance language? 

 25 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   So as far as policy 4(c), it is about avoiding - - - 

 

MS WHYTE:   It is. 30 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   - - - it refers to avoid the use of industrial zone taking on 

industrial activities. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Could you give us a page there? 35 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   If you go perhaps to the version attached to the back of 

Ms Carter’s rebuttal. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and just give us a page reference? 40 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Sorry, that one does not include the objectives and 

policies. 

 

MS WHYTE:   It does not have it, back in the Council - - - 45 
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MR MINHINNICK:   Perhaps attached to – if we go to the submission for the 

Crown presented this morning, page 7 of those. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Which I do not have a copy of.  I have got a copy of the 

objectives and policies but it is in a slightly different document, here it 5 

is. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   So it says, “Avoid the use of industrial zones for 

non-industrial activities that could adversely affect the strategic role of 

the central city district and neighbourhood centres as focal points for 10 

commercial, community, residential and other activities?” 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   And then policy 5 again refers to the use of the word 15 

‘avoid’, “avoid office development in industrial areas other than where 

it is…” and then it sets out (i) and (ii)? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 20 

MR MINHINNICK:   And I will return to policy 5 a little bit later on. 

 

 As far as the retail component sought by MAIL, you would agree – 

there is general agreement amongst the planners that that is 

inappropriate and inconsistent with that Higher Order policy 25 

framework? 

 

MS WHYTE:   I think there is a consistent view that has certainly come 

through the evidence. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Whyte can only speak to her own evidence. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, she can comment on what she understands the other 35 

witnesses to say but we have to read those other witnesses opinions for 

what they say, not what Ms Whyte thinks they say. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Certainly.  So as far as your view, you would agree that 

the retail, additional retail sought by MAIL to be an neighbourhood is 40 

inconsistent with that policy framework? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 
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MR MINHINNICK:   And the additional 10,000 squares of retail sought by 

MAIL, is similarly inconsistent with that Higher Order policy 

framework? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Sorry, I missed – the 10,000 of which, sorry? 5 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   So the additional 10,000 square metres of office beyond 

that supported by yourself? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I do not think supported by myself is quite the right word, 10 

but the additional 10,000, yes, I do. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   You would agree that the CBD recovery is of critical 

importance? 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes, and that is reflected in the LURP and in the RPS? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 20 

 

  [10.30 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But I would just make one observation, when an expert’s 

theory is very closely aligned to a submitter, questions that invite an 25 

obvious answer mean that the answers to the Panel have less weight, so 

just bear that in mind. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Certainly sir.  So the reason for that question is that I 

wanted to understand your views on the roles that the provision of 30 

hotels may play in the CBD recovery. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Can you be more specific, in terms of the context?  I am just 

not clear.  I have not addressed hotels specifically in my evidence and I 

am not an expert in relation to hotels.  I am just not clear what it is you 35 

are asking. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Perhaps I will come back to that point.  Are you aware 

of any provision for guest accommodation in any industrial zones 

anywhere else in the city? 40 

 

MS WHYTE:   You mean rules that would enable it - - - 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   That is correct. 

 45 
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MS WHYTE:   - - - (INDISTINCT 1.20) not as a permitted activity but I think 

in terms of matters that could be consented there may be some 

opportunity - - -. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you. 5 

 

MS WHYTE:   - - - that come off the Industrial zone, Industrial General 

possibly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry again Mr Minhinnick, I am interrupting you a lot 10 

this morning but you have your own choice of planner in Mr Phillips, 

and you were responsible for briefing him and to the extent of which a 

planner can give expert evidence on that, questions could arise from his 

evidence to the extent that he covers it I suppose.  Beyond that it 

sounds a little bit like fishing for another planning opinion.  Again it 15 

goes to the question of weight. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes sir.  I would like to take you to the question of the 

first 5,000 square metres of office.  As far as the current wording of 

policy 5, I understand that that wording was sought by the Crown 20 

through stage 1. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes it was. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   And do you consider that that wording is clear on its 25 

face? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Do you consider that the provision of 5,000 square 30 

metres of general office is consistent with that policy as currently 

worded? 

 

MS WHYTE:   No. 

 35 

MR MINHINNICK:   And so as far as the wording of policy 5, it is a general 

avoidance policy with two exceptions? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Well as currently worded, yes it is. 

 40 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes.  From a planning perspective, does a policy framed 

in that way lead to permitted activity status necessarily?  If you fall 

within one of those exceptions?   

 

MS WHYTE:   Potentially yes. 45 
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MR MINHINNICK:  As (INDISTINCT 3.23) does it require permitted 

activity status? 

 

MS WHYTE:   No it does not require - - - 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But in the sense that a rule has to give effect to a policy.  

Is that the sort of frame of reference for that question? 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Sir the reference is that the starting point for that policy 

is avoidance, and there are two exceptions that that policy provides, 10 

aren’t there? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes there are. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:  Now there is a spectrum of activity statuses below 15 

prohibited, of course. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:  And so that policy does not require that permitted activity 20 

status is the activity status that is to be applied necessarily, does it? 

 

MS WHYTE:   No. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   So a more restrictive activity status for offices could still 25 

meet that policy? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Are you meaning offices other than in one and two? 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   So this is for within, if you are falling within one of the 30 

exceptions, so in one or two, does it require permitted activity status? 

 

MS WHYTE:   No I have already answered that, no. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Have you read Mr Phillips’ rebuttal statement? 35 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes I have. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:  In his section 4 he talks about the possibility of 

discretionary activity status for office activities. 40 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MS WHYTE:   I have just got to find it sorry.  Statement of rebuttal, yes sorry, 

section 4. 45 
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MR MINHINNICK:   Section 4, so pages 4 and 5 of his rebuttal statement. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   So in his 4.3 he said that if rule P11 did not apply, 5 

offices ancillary to permitted activities would still be permitted.  

Beyond this offices would require resource consent as discretionary 

activities where adverse effects and consistency with policy 5 could be 

assessed.  In my view this would appropriately implement and achieve 

the outcomes intended by policy 5. 10 

 

MS WHYTE:   Well yes in terms of, well actually I do not entirely agree.  I 

mean certainly in terms of the way policy 5 is currently worded, yes 

that is correct, but I think the way that policy 5 is actually worded you 

would struggle to get a resource consent for a discretionary activity 15 

through that policy because anything that is not a secondary component 

– either if it is not ancillary or it is not a secondary component – is a 

void.   

 

 So I do not actually see that discretionary activity status really helps.  If 20 

you are looking at seeking to enable any general office activity there 

would need to be an amendment to that policy in my view. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes thank you, but as far as providing a framework, it 

still enables offices that fall within those two exceptions, discretionary 25 

activity status would, for offices other than ancillary, would still 

provide a framework where office activities that fall within the second 

exception could still be consented. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes.  So I do not consider those in general office activities, 30 

sorry, so yes.  So this policy will still enable a resource consent 

application to be made and considered on its merits for a secondary 

component to a high technology industrial activity. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you.  Now finally just looking at the overall 35 

potential activity mix under the provisions.  So firstly as far as the 

provisions that the Council is putting forward, those provisions provide 

for permitted activity status for food and beverage. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 40 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   For service station. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 45 

MR MINHINNICK:   Gymnasium. 
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MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Commercial services. 

 5 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Preschool. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 10 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Ancillary offices to all of those activities? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 15 

MR MINHINNICK:   And ancillary retail. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am sorry Mr Minhinnick, we can read. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And there is an opportunity for submissions. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Certainly sir.  It is just - - - 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am sorry to keep interrupting you but it is just a question 

of the value of the evidence we get on these matters.  It does not help, if 

a planner can read as well as us, I presume they can. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:  Understood sir.  As far as the provision of trade 30 

suppliers, do you consider that that is an industrial activity? 

 

MS WHYTE:   In terms of the definition of the Plan?  Is that what you are 

asking? 

 35 

MR MINHINNICK:   Well - - - 

 

MS WHYTE:   Because the Plan defines what activities are industrial. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   - - - in the context of a policy framework that suggests 40 

that the Industrial zone should be used primarily for industrial 

activities. 

 

MS WHYTE:   I do not have the same issue with trade suppliers because there 

is specific recognition in some of the Higher Order Documents relating 45 

to trade suppliers and trade suppliers are also a particular activity 
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provided for in the Industrial General zone so I do not have a particular 

issue around trade suppliers being as a general concept inappropriate 

activities in industrial areas. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes, but my question was do you consider it to be an 5 

industrial activity in the context of a policy that talks about the 

Industrial zone being used primarily for industrial activities? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Given that the implementation of that policy relates to the rules 

I would need to defer to the definition but I do not have a – industrial 10 

activity - - - - 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Perhaps if I - - - 

 

MS WHYTE:   - - - it is not strict, I mean, yes, I don’t think it is strictly – I am 15 

just trying to recollect.  I do not have the Definitions chapters here.  I 

do not think the definition strictly falls within an industrial activity 

definition. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Again if it is a planning question, you have your own 20 

planning witness. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Indeed.  It goes to the question of the provision for other 

activities that are non-industrial in nature and so looking at consistency 

with that policy. 25 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   By all means go in that direction but, just that the witness 

is, I think at times struggling with the context, as am I, as where you 30 

are coming from. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes sir, certainly.  So in light of the range of activities 

provided for as permitted activities and the provision for trade suppliers 

as restricted discretionary activities, plus the specific exclusion of 35 

industrial activities over part of the site fronting Memorial Avenue, do 

you consider that overall even the Council proposal provides for 

primarily industrial activities in an Industrial zone? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes I am relatively comfortable that it does. 40 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you very much Mr Minhinnick.  All right now 

we are on to Panel questions.  Ms Dawson? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Many of my questions have been asked by others 

Ms Whyte, so thank you very much for those answers.  Coming back to 

this tricky question about the 5,000 square metres of general office.  

Can you remind me what the Crown’s submission and evidence was on 

this matter in relation to Industrial Park zones in Stage 1? 5 

 

MS WHYTE:   In terms of evidence there was very little because the policy 

position had effectively been agreed with Christchurch City Council 

prior to the hearing, so the key focus in relation to the Crown’s 

submission was on the policy and amending the wording and it related 10 

to inserting some additional words.  Unfortunately I actually do not 

have it with me, I cannot look at the words on - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Don’t worry, sorry to go back to this, but the 5,000 square 

metres, was it the actual quantum of 5,000 square metres of general 15 

office in the rule, was it sought by the Crown? 

 

MS WHYTE:   No it wasn’t. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It was either there when it was proposed or sought through 20 

some other route. 

 

MS WHYTE:   My recollection is I think that came through submissions in 

relation to Tait. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Tait, yes.  So the Crown’s submission then was on making 

sure that the policy was adequately and accurately worded to provide 

support for some office activity but I think you have said in evidence 

you accept that it - - - 

 30 

MS WHYTE:   To be fair, Mr Dawson, I am actually trying to recall it and I 

cannot recall what the actual submission was.  I think there was 

certainly some area around item A1, I just cannot recall. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 35 

 

MS WHYTE:    If I had the version of Mr Stevenson’s I would be able to tell 

you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all right, I can go back to that.  But it was not the 40 

Crown’s submission or your evidence that there should be general 

provision for 5,000 square metres of office in Industrial Park zones? 

 

MS WHYTE:   No. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   That was not the thrust of the Crown’s submission? 
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MS WHYTE:   No it was not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  So it has come along and now we are looking at it 

as a bit of a gap or a hole that has come to light at this hearing. 5 

 

MS WHYTE:  Yes I must say, because I was doing the evidence for the Crown 

and at the time of the phase 1 hearing I had not realised the issue, the 

disconnect between the rule and the policy. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:  And so the Crown’s point now is just that there is a 

disconnect and if, in the case of the zone we are looking at now, there 

is going to be a continuation of what is provided for in Tait and Awatea 

and this zone - - - 

 15 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - it would be good to fix up this policy disconnect.  Is your 

position no stronger than that? 

 20 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you are not making a submission to us on what should or 

should not go where, in fact even your consistency concern you said 

has lessened because we are now faced with another zone where the 25 

MAIL may not be the same provision. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes and I mean whether it should be office activity in general 

is a matter for the Panel to determine - - - 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Yes (INDISTINCT 4.44). 

 

MS WHYTE:   - - - what I am saying is that from a planning point of view, on 

the face of reading the policy as it stands, there is a disconnect and I do 

not think that policy would enable general office activity as it stands, as 35 

it is written now. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Even if it came to be considered as a resource consent, 

whereas actually in Tait and Awatea it is permitted, so there wouldn’t 

be any consideration it would just happen. 40 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I think that is it. So Tait and Awatea would be able to 

comply for a certificate of compliance for example, and then not have 45 

any consideration of the policy.  I think if you were going through a 
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resource consent for the MAIL site you would have consideration of 

that policy and as it is worded I think it would be very difficult to 

obtain consent. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So in retrospect there is a disconnect between the permitted 5 

activity and this policy? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes there is.   

 

MS DAWSON:   But I think Ms Carter, and do you agree with Ms Carter, that 10 

that would be a matter of going back and looking at something that has 

already been considered in Stage 1 - - - 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and the proper processes would have to be undertaken. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Absolutely in terms of that and that was something that both 

Ms Carter and I were very conscious of in looking at redrafting options 

because certainly in terms of this process I do not think it was 20 

appropriate to try and undermine what had happened or what Tait or 

Awatea had thought had been achieved. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  Now I raised this with Ms Carter and I would be 

interested in your opinion about, and I think Mr Christensen raised it 25 

with Ms Carter as well but the technique of using what is effectively a 

repetition of the rule in a policy. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Which makes it very, well that technique in itself, people 

may have different views on that and I would be interested in your 

view on that, and then what that then means in terms of the ability to 

ever consider a resource consent. 

 35 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So what guidance does that policy give anyone as to what is 

to be considered? 

 40 

MS WHYTE:   I think what the policy does is it is very blunt and it says 5,000 

square metres of general office I think is all you would be able to get.  

So from my perspective it was very deliberate drafting. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if one was writing a rule from a policy like that would you 45 

normally write it as a discretionary activity for more than 5,000? 
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MS WHYTE:   No.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Because it’s (INDISTINCT 2.15) - - -  

 5 

MS WHYTE:   I think it would be very difficult to obtain consent. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MS WHYTE:   And I think to a degree that is also the situation with the current 10 

policy. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So from your knowledge of the reason for this policy, if you 

have it, and how it applies across Industrial Park zones, have you been 

able to think of any sort of policy guidance that could go in that policy 15 

rather than just repeating the rule.  Like for what purposes is the rule to 

achieve? 

 

MS WHYTE:  Without knowing what the decision is in relation to the 

evidence and what is appropriate or not will determine on what the 20 

policy should be.  So it is a difficult one.  Mr Christensen in the Stage 1 

hearings has sought quite different changes to those policies and those 

policies, I have concerns in relation to how that would be applied, the 

policies that have been advanced would apply to all over Industrial 

Park zones, but if those policies were specific to the MAIL site, then 25 

that would implement I think the rules that MAIL are seeking. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, for the purposes of this site. 

 

MS WHYTE:   For the purposes of this site. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the gap in relation to the other zones would just sit there 

waiting for some resolution if needed at another date. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   In relation to the additional Industrial Park zone in, I think it 

is Wairakei? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   There is a Wairakei to Harewood Road, you said that there is 

no provision proposed in that zone for this 5,000 square metres of 

general office.  Do you know if anyone is seeking that through 

submissions? 45 
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MS WHYTE:   Not in relation to office.  I have read all of the submissions 

relating to that zone.  There is one submitter from a party who had 

sought two-fold, one was an extension of the zone, and then secondly 

they provided for a range of non-industrial activities so it was quite 

general, but it did also specifically refer to retail and accommodation. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   But even if there isn’t anyone seeking that in this process, if a 

general policy was put in then at some point someone could come 

along and seek it, or seek it through a non-complying activity even in 

that zone say, or seek provision and then that policy would apply more 10 

generally to Industrial Park zones if it was written that way. 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes it would. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Now I was just going to ask you about 15 

this high traffic generating rule you cover in your rebuttal evidence, 

and I think this is 5.10 of your rebuttal. 

 

 Commissioner Illingsworth has some questions about that as well, so I 

might – but I just have a couple of other questions. 20 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so what we might do, it is slightly unusual but 

we might go this way, and then go that way because if I have any 25 

questions, it might be that Ms Dawson can also ask you about followup 

on that if it relates to the planning. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So Commissioner Illingsworth. 

 30 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So my query around 5.10 was the – when I read your 

supplementary, I think you were saying that the high traffic generation 

rules in chapter 7 are such that resource consent applications for 

individual activities on the site may fly under the radar and not be 

required under the high traffic generation rule to produce either a base 35 

for a full ITA, but the cumulative effects of that may well require an 

integrated transport assessment, and you suggest in here inserting a 

new rule under item C, 5.10C? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   So I am just wondering if you could explain that to 

me in a bit more detail and explain how you might add a rule that 

works? 

 45 
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MS WHYTE:   The concern I was responding to was the uncertainty in relation 

to network effects that Mr Clark addressed in his evidence, so what I 

then did, when he raised that concern, I then looked and saw well what 

is a range of planning provisions that might be available to address that, 

and it is specifically relating to the high trip generator rule. 5 

 

 So the concern is just to – if there is a concern amongst the traffic – 

your decision on the traffic that there might be some network effects 

that are not considered, then there is a slight, there is a small gap of 

those activities that will not trigger the rule in chapter 7. 10 

 

 So one of the means of potentially dealing with it, I do not think you 

should – just given the Panel has just released its decisions on chapter 

7, I would look at inserting a site specific rule into the MAIL 

provisions to address that matter and either provide different triggers or 15 

total triggers or something that if there was that concern, it would 

enable it to at least alter the activity status from permitted so that that 

matter could be addressed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, and just a followup on traffic related matters, 20 

did you hear my questions of Mr Clark this morning regarding trucks in 

Avonhead Road? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I did. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Were the Panel to decide that it is appropriate to address 

that issue, can you think of a planning mechanism that would 

effectively be to the effect of directing heavy truck movements to 

Memorial Avenue? 

 30 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, I know it is something that has certainly been traversed in 

other areas and where you can actually impose a rule connecting - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Obviously on the public road itself, there are submissions 

that can be made on those but I am generally that it is not restricted out 35 

there, but if we are dealing with the confines of a site and how it is 

configured and how its operated, it is a land use question when it gets 

to the road, is it not? 

 

MS WHYTE:   It is, yes, and what is perplexing me is whether – because once 40 

it is developed it is a matter of the actual – the effect relates to the 

physical use which would happen at the time when the buildings and 

activities are developed and the trucks are actually moving, so by that 

stage the subdivision would have likely happened and you have got a 

number of individual property owners. 45 
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 And so you would effectively need to try and determine a control in 

relation to that that would require them not to use that road. 

 

 The alternative would be if you could do something in the design that 

would physically make it more difficult for trucks to utilise Memorial 5 

Avenue, then you could identify that as a key structural element on the 

Outline Development Plan. 

 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Would it not be as simple as saying, on the need to find a 10 

category of activity, if you are asking yourself the question, is this 

activity permitted or is it controlled or is it some other thing, and a 

description of what fits those categories includes a control that says, 

yes it is if it does not do that? 

 15 

  [10.55 am] 

 

MS WHYTE:   Clearly, definitely that is a much simpler answer and yes, and 

that would definitely achieve it, so you would have – so the activity 

status would determine an assessment of that matter at the time and 20 

then, if necessary, conditions could be imposed on the consent 

specifically addressing that, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, thank you, Ms Dawson. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  Just going back to – I understand what you are 

saying and you have repeated that to Commission Illingsworth about 

the lack of a trigger for individual site specific projects, proposals, 

under the high traffic generating rule, but if we had some remaining 

concern about potential cumulative effects or staged effects into the 30 

future, that that rule could be modified and capture activities within this 

zone. 

 

 Are there ways that we could be relieved of the concern about that 

without doing – without having to put that rule in at this stage, or 35 

certainly as we consider this stage and the Stage 2 area in an integrated 

way? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Absolutely.  Other ways are – effectively these are the matters 

that are best addressed at plan change level, that is the reality of it in 40 

that what you look at normally in plan change level is, can the general 

effects of the activities that are enabled to go into the zone, are they 

taken care of. 

 

 So if there were remaining concerns and it depends on if the traffic 45 

evidence is preferable, but in terms of this process, you could, if there 
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were remaining concerns, you could alter the nature of activities that 

are provided for in the zone and change the activity status of the 

activities in the zone and I suspect they would be, from my perspective 

in terms of planning integration later, that would probably be preferable 

than reinserting an additional rule because again, you would just be 5 

repeating provisions that - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   And having to have a basis for making triggers that are 

different for this zone than another zone - - - 

 10 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - or all the other zones? 

 

MS WHYTE:   Absolutely, I think it is definitely the least preferable option as 15 

opposed to being comfortable but the effects can be taken care of when 

the zone is established, the size of the zone and the activities that are 

provided for in that zone. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And we have a mechanism cumulatively to do that because 20 

this Hearing and the next Hearing are being heard effectively 

altogether, one after the other, but - - - 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   - - - being considered together.  Thank you.  One other matter 

and I am asking you this because you are here, and I think you might 

have mentioned it – have you turned your mind, if you haven’t just say 

‘no I have not turned my mind to this,’ the consistency of the Outline 

Development Plan with the RPS Policy 6.33, because it has just sort of 30 

twigged in my mind - we have dealt with this quite a lot in the 

residential Hearing, neighbourhood Hearing, it has become apparent – 

maybe it was in the Crown’s legal submissions, I can’t remember, that 

this policy is also relevant to greenfields business Outline Development 

Plans? 35 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So have you looked at this Outline Plan and the associated 

rules and provisions that go with it because I note that the policy talk is 40 

about not just the picture, but the rules that go with it and have you – 

sorry – 6.33 - - - 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, 6.33, that is where I am at. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   - - - and whether it adequately gives effect to that policy? 
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MS WHYTE:   I think either it does currently, I think all of the matters that are 

addressed in policy 6.33 in my view, have been considered and 

addressed in either the planning change documentation, the Stage 2 

Proposal or the evidence that has been presented here. 5 

 

 So when I had read it and turned my mind to it, I did not have any 

particular – I did not see any particular gaps. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the question we have just been talking about and Mr Clark 10 

also commented on about the staging of the development – the staging 

and the nature and the scale of the development of activities on this 

site, and that being integrated with the staging of infrastructure 

development, be something that this policy requires to be looked at, 

either through that outline development plan or its associated rules? 15 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MS WHYTE:   Yes, it does and that is something that was explicitly addressed 

in the Crown submission on, I think primarily it was on the MAIL plan 20 

change, and I think as we have gone through the process – and I guess 

to be fair, Ms Dawson, I had not reconsidered that in light of Mr 

Clark’s evidence because that all happened quite quickly. 

 

 But up until the traffic, I think the Crown, well, in terms of my 25 

perspective, looking at this policy I felt relatively comfortable that 

there was not a specific need for a different staging.  We did explore 

some options at mediation around if MAIL were getting the quantum of 

office activity, whether there should be staging in relation to – the first 

lot goes near Memorial Avenue and the other lot goes somewhere else.  30 

But it was determined not to go through.   

 

 But staging is also another matter that could address the concerns 

raised by Mr Clark, in relation to all of the development occurring and 

managing those effects at the same time. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  My final question is, are there any – I 

know you have a table attached to your evidence, but are there any 

other outstanding matters that you want to draw to our attention that 

have not been picked up? 40 

 

MS WHYTE:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, Ms Whyte.  That is all. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising, Mrs White? 
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MS WHITE:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you very much, Ms Whyte, it is very 

helpful.  Now I just want to check something. 5 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.01 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Williams, what we will do is we will call Ms Tansley 

after the – we will take the recess now and we will just look at any 10 

questions we have over the break. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.02 am] 15 

 

RESUMED [11.20 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Williams, you are quite entitled to put any questions to 

Mr Tansley if you wish that have arisen as part of calling him but as 20 

matters stand at the moment the Panel doesn’t have any questions.  We 

fully understand his brief and on the basis of where things are at, we do 

not have any questions of him but I suggest you call him and we will 

have his evidence entered anyway. 

 25 

MR WILLIAMS:   Yes, I think I am quite happy just with his evidence being 

entered, sir, so on that basis I will call Mr Mark Tansley.  He has 

waited three days for this. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am mindful of that and I am sure he is experienced 30 

enough to know that just because we do not have questions doesn’t 

mean we do not find his evidence helpful. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   No, absolutely, and I appreciate that sir. 

 35 
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<MARK GAUNTLETT TANSLEY, affirmed [11.21 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR WILLIAMS [11.21 am] 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Good morning, do you confirm your full name is Mark 

Gauntlett Tansley? 

 5 

MR TANSLEY:   That is correct. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   You have produced a statement of evidence dated 

4 September 2015? 

 10 

MR TANSLEY:   Yes. I have. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   You have got the qualifications and experience set out in 

that evidence? 

 15 

MR TANSLEY:   Indeed. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Are there any corrections you wish to make to that 

evidence? 

 20 

MR TANSLEY:   No, there are no corrections.  I think there is one comment I 

should make. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, you are not entitled to make it unless the question is 

put. 25 

 

MR WILLIAMS:    I am not in a position, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You can ask whether he has any comments to make but 

on the basis - - - 30 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Are there any comments you wish to make in respect of 

your evidence? 

 

MR TANSLEY:   Thank you.  Sir, I think I should just confirm that there were 35 

opinions attributed to me expressed in Mr Penny’s evidence which 

occurred as a result of an exchange after my evidence was completed. 

So I simply confirm what was in Mr Penny’s evidence that was 

correctly attributable to me. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, Mr Tansley. 

 

MR TANSLEY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Subject to that comment you confirm your evidence is true 45 

and correct? 
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MR TANSLEY:   I do. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Thank you. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much for your assistance. 

 

MR TANSLEY:   Thank you very much. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.23 am] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think, Mr Chapman, we are up to you I think. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Mr Bonis, first, sir, for the Airport. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bonis, another one sitting down the back.  I do have 

some questions. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   I will now call Mr Bonis. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, we have questions. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Mr Bonis does have a summary which I think he probably 

should read given the position reached and I have got copies here 

which I can pass to the Panel. 25 
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<MATTHEW WILLIAM BONIS, affirmed [11.24 am] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Appleyard is slightly ajar closing has helped highlight 

no doubt the core issues that Mr Bonis would apply his mind to in light 

of the exchange we had. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Yes, sir, and I am conscious of turning up today, I was 5 

anticipating Ms Steven attending and cross-examining and it appears 

that is not happening.  I see she is down to present closing a written 

closing on the 23rd. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps we will just be hard on Mr Bonis given she is not 10 

here. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR WILLIAMS [11.25 am] 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   So what I was really foreshadowing, sir, and to the extent 15 

you might want a closing from me today it might be prudent that we 

actually wait and see what Ms Steven has to say or what arises from the 

Panel and we will make a call on it then.   

 

 But anyway turning to Mr Bonis, do you confirm your full name is 20 

Matthew William Bonis? 

 

MR BONIS:   It is. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And you have produced a statement of evidence dated 25 

3 September 2015? 

 

MR BONIS:   I have. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And a supplementary statement dated 14 September 2015? 30 

 

MR BONIS:   I have. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Are there any corrections you wish to make to that 

evidence? 35 

 

MR BONIS:   No, there are not. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   On that basis do you confirm that that evidence is to the 

best of your knowledge and true and correct? 40 

 

MR BONIS:   I can. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   On that basis can you please provide your summary, which 

I think the Panel has hopefully got written copies of now, and I 45 



 Page 459 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

understand that some of my friends will have questions for you and 

then the Panel. 

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you.  Sir, if I may, the purpose of providing a written 

summation is to perhaps save a bit of time in terms of questioning 5 

specifically from legal representation from the Commodore Hotel. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just go for it. 

 

MR BONIS:   In terms of zone and purpose there is no dispute as to the 10 

rezoning for the subject area to be rezoned as Industrial Park Memorial 

Avenue.  I consider that the Industrial Park zone provides for business 

uses for the MAIL site but that the extent of commercially orientated 

zoning sought by the MAIL proposal is not the more appropriate in 

terms of the higher order planning documents.   15 

 

 The extent of commercial activity sought under the MAIL proposal in 

my view conflicts with the Industrial Park status and context in the 

Regional Policy Statement and the industrial proposal.  To highlight 

this, and this is in response to a question that Ms Dawson asked 20 

yesterday to a couple of witnesses, table 1 of Mr Penny’s evidence-in-

chief, and it is also in the joint transport caucusing statement, sets out 

the model maximum level of uses that would be provided by the MAIL 

proposal.  Of all of the categories modelled industrial warehouse and 

distribution accounts for less than 20 percent of the 86,360 square 25 

metres modelled for the site under the MAIL proposal.   

 

 Identified at paragraph 53 of my evidence-in-chief the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement, policy 6.3.6, seeks that new greenfield 

priority areas for business in Christchurch City are primarily used for 30 

industrial activities and that commercial use in these areas are 

restricted. 

 

 Paragraph 62 of my evidence-in-chief states that I consider there to be a 

disjunct between the uncontested Industrial Park zone objectives and 35 

policies and the activities that are proposed within the MAIL proposal.  

I consider that in terms of the range of activities provided that the 

Council proposal is the more appropriate. 

 

 In terms of infrastructure I understand that subject to specific limits the 40 

sewer and water network can appropriately service the site.  The sewer 

discharge limits provided by Mr Collins and agreed by Mr O’Neill are 

contained at page 20 of the amended provisions in Ms Carter’s rebuttal 

evidence.  There is an additional limit as to no discharges until the 

lower Riccarton interceptor works have been undertaken and I 45 

understand that to be agreed.  
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 In terms of transport my supplementary evidence identifies primarily 

based on the evidence of Mr Penny that the Council proposal is the 

more appropriate than the MAIL proposal.  This is due to, despite there 

being extensive existing congestion, the MAIL proposal likely requires 5 

infrastructure improvements to be brought forward, the Council 

proposal was not modelled and will likely generate less vehicle trips 

and associated issues of congestions and safety on the roading network.  

And there are Regional Policy Statement strategic directions in 

proposal 15, policies associated with integrating land use and 10 

infrastructure, transport infrastructure, as well as providing for the 

integration of commercial activity with community, residential and 

recreational activities in locations accessible by a wide range of 

transport modes.   

 15 

 I do however acknowledge that Mr Falconer and Mr Carr have advised 

that the transport effects of the MAIL proposal can be accommodated 

within the network.  In my view transport effects are a subsequent 

matter to a primary determination as to whether the broad range of 

activities under the MAIL proposal appropriately achieves the higher 20 

order planning documents. 

 

 In terms of noise sensitive activities, in terms of healthcare facilities I 

understand that Ms Carter and I agree as to the limitation on overnight 

accommodation.   25 

 

 For restraints on guest accommodation I wish to point out that I am 

wedded to the additional clauses identified at paragraph 92 of my 

evidence-in-chief.  In this regard I was responding to matters and 

proposed rules raised in the evidence of Ms Carter.  The purpose 30 

around the additional constraints for guest accommodation were based 

on the following: The definition in the Canterbury Regional Policy 

Statement of travellers accommodation as a noise sensitive activity and 

to response to the issues raised in the joint statement of Messrs Camp 

and Chiles as set out at paragraph 83 of my evidence-in-chief relating 35 

to outdoor amenity and duration of stay.   

 

 I was not able to recommend to this Panel that outdoor amenity 

associated with guest accommodation should be a non-complying 

activity.  This was the status recommended in the evidence-in-chief and 40 

rebuttal of Ms Carter.  I consider that the restriction lacked certainty 

and that the status was inappropriate. 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 45 
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 Mr Chiles stated yesterday in answer to questions that the joint 

statement approach provided by himself and Mr Camp regarding 

outdoor amenity had snowballed.  Albeit he did identify that there 

would be disturbance annoyance effects and that the noise levels 

expected within the contours were going to increase in future. 5 

 

 Mr Chiles recommended common sense over regulation and that also 

has additional benefits in terms of achieving objective 3.2.2.  I also 

note, and this is perhaps a really important point in this context, that if a 

hotel is wishing to establish in this Industrial zone, that the surrounding 10 

industrial land use mix and associated permitted noise levels is more 

likely to be a deterrent to outdoor amenity than compliance with 

proposed regulation associated with air noise contours.  And there was 

an exchange yesterday sir, with yourself and Mr Chiles as to the 

interface with other boundaries. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR BONIS:  I acknowledge the Higher Order Documents and the 

considerations of Mr Chiles that would be in effect.  I also have some 20 

experience such as the Russley Holiday Park and the Caravan Club in 

Rolleston that perhaps have lacked the certainty that such a provision 

would impose.   

 

 I wish to advise the Panel that this matter has not been raised by CIAL 25 

or its experts in the previous Chapter 15 Commercial proposal, it has 

emerged out of evidence for the Council for this proposal.  On that 

basis I support the intent but not the application of additional 

regulation.  Accordingly I do not consider that additional controls as to 

restricting outdoor amenity are warranted in the Industrial Park zone. 30 

 

 I note that Mr Chiles’ rebuttal evidence is to the appropriateness of a 

30 day limit, and I consider that this would at least provide greater 

certainty to the provision than reliance on transient, as contained in the 

guest accommodation definition. 35 

 

 Lastly, in terms of the runway end protection area, the basis of the 

runway end protection area is set out in both my evidence and that of 

Mr Boswell to the Panel for the Chapter 10 part designation hearing.   

 40 

 I have within my evidence-in-chief for this hearing at paragraph 64 to 

68 provided a very brief synopsis of the purpose of the REPA, that the 

designation does not authorise works on the MAIL land, and that the 

REPA contributes to meeting objectives in the Higher Order planning 

documents as to the safe, efficient and effective operation and 45 

development of the Airport. 
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 I have also identified that were the designation to be uplifted I would 

have concerns as there would not be an adequate mechanism as being 

necessary to ensure public safety and efficient airport operations. 

 5 

 My evidence-in-chief identifies that there would be additional benefits 

through having land use provisions for the MAIL site that recognise the 

existing REPA designation, especially in terms of Regional Policy, 

policy 6.3.3 which will require amendments to the ODP to illustrate 

land set aside for development, that is clause 3H, assist with the co-10 

ordination of land, clause 7, and illustrate how potential adverse effects 

from existing, nearby existing or designated strategic infrastructure will 

be avoided, remedied or mitigated, and that is clause 9. 

 

 I concluded in my evidence-in-chief that the designation is in place and 15 

in my view appropriately restricts land use within the REPA subject to 

1.7.6, and that is still my view sir. 

 

 I see the need for land use provisions over and above the designation as 

a legal question.  I have noted the additional benefits of further 20 

identifying in the ODP provisions associated with the REPA.  In part 

these will provide greater certainty as to the expectations of 

development for that area given the existing designation. 

 

 An example of this is the evidence of Mr Compton-Moen who despite 25 

referencing the existing REPA designation provided a designed 

(INDISTINCT 3.35) for this development with industrial and small 

scale retail tenancies within that designation. 

 

 I also note the concern raised by Panel members as simply parroting the 30 

current designation limit, as outlined in paragraph 70 of my evidence-

in-chief, simply provides the landowner with the absence of a 

section 105 pathway should the Airport then decide itself to lift this 

aspect of its designation, and I understand and acknowledge that 

concern. 35 

 

 Accordingly should the Panel agree that with legal submissions that 

additional land use controls on the MAIL site are necessary to provide 

for these existing designation, I have been instructed to consider how 

the ODP could be amended and a new provision inserted to recognise 40 

the existing designation. 

 

 I consider that instead of the CIAL relief a restriction only to buildings 

as a non-complying activity may appropriately reflect the designation 

without duplicating it, as a designation would still be required to 45 

manage other aspects of its purpose. 
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 Such a limitation, as identified in the ODP in such a manner achieves 

Regional Policy 6.3.3 and yet still provides for the Industrial Park zone 

and some uses, albeit these would largely be limited to carparking, to 

be undertaken and the proposed rule is at 4.10. 5 

 

 I am happy to answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right Mr Bonis. If they had speed reading in the 

Olympics you would be a candidate. 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Sorry, it was rather laboured. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you did it in 10 minutes. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:  Can I just say, I find it very difficult to follow you at that 

speed. 

 

MR BONIS:   Sorry. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   It must be my age or whatever but it would not hurt to slow 

down just a tad, thank you. 

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so I think subject to those things you confirm 

your evidence and we will go to Mr Winchester.  All right, 

Mr Winchester, thank you. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WINCHESTER [11.35 am] 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you sir.  Good morning Mr Bonis, thank you for 

that summary, it is very helpful in terms of focusing questions.  One 

matter, and it is just to close the loop on questions I put to Ms Whyte 

this morning about urban form.  You heard those questions and 35 

answers? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I was here for that exchange. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  And it is my omission, but probably just for the 40 

assistance of the Panel, first of all is there anything that you materially 

disagree with in terms of the question and answers in terms of 

Ms Whyte’s answers this morning about what urban form means in the 

context of the RPS? 

 45 
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MR BONIS:   No I do not.  There is perhaps an additional nuance that I could 

usefully add.  My understanding around the urban form effects, it is 

specifically related or has a specific aspect in terms of commercial 

distribution and at Regional Policy Statement 6.3.6, and I will just have 

to find the respective clause - - - 5 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes. 

 

MR BONIS:  - - - it refers to the consideration of both significant distributional 

effects from commercial activity, but also impacts in terms of urban 10 

form effects. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:  Yes, all right, well how about we bring up that particular 

clause, I think it is 6.3.6, paragraph 4.  So in light of where we got to 

with Ms Whyte when you look at the question of urban form effects as 15 

it is stated in that clause, how do you say it has an implication in terms 

of 1) the activity mix, and 2) the quantum of activity proposed at this 

site? 

 

MR BONIS:   It has a consequence in terms of focus in my view, when looking 20 

at both of those aspects.  The rationale for putting it in here I 

understand is to move away from a sole consideration of whether or not 

there is a significant distributional effect in particular, and to look at 

also the cumulative effects because we are in a polycentric network in 

Christchurch, is to look at not just individual implications or impacts on 25 

particular centres but to also look at what are the implications in terms 

of the wider urban form and that is why Ms Whyte was absolutely 

correct in terms of identifying the urban limits, consolidation around 

key activity centres and how they relate to intensifying residential 

development and the transport networks that support those, and modal 30 

choice according. 

 

 So it is to provide a policy context for looking at those things over and 

above just a simple focus on significant distributional effects.  And I 

understand it is pretty common now throughout the country. 35 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, that is helpful.  I appreciate your indulgence 

on that question, Your Honour.  Now I just want to turn to the issue of 

the REPA and about the appropriate treatment of that in terms of this 

proposal and I am just looking at your written summary you have 40 

provided this morning.  Now as I understand it there is no real dispute 

that it is relevant to consider the designation and it is also relevant to 

consider the zoning in terms of the Airport and the activities on it.  Do 

you agree with that? 

 45 

MR BONIS:   Yes I agree with that. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  You have stated at your paragraph 4.6 that you see 

the need for land use provisions over and above the designation as a 

legal question.  I am going to ask you your opinion as a planner, in 

terms of the appropriate outcome, and you have recommended a non-5 

complying activity rule in relation to buildings? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   And that is one aspect of the appropriate outcome? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Is it your opinion that in terms of coming to the most 

appropriate provision which deals with the context, that it is not 15 

appropriate to freeze the zoning as Rural 5 over that area of land? 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

MR BONIS:   That is certainly the approach that I have taken, from my point 20 

of view, there is no consideration that the block as a whole should not 

be rezoned as industrial park zone. 

 

 The concern that I have and it has caused me quite a bit of internal 

thought is, if I was designing the ODP from the beginning – perhaps if 25 

I can answer it this way – in looking at those matters in 6.33 and also 

the existing designation, it would be a matter that would have bearing 

within the ODP, it would be identified as landscaping or car parking or 

something else just to identify quite clearly that buildings are not 

anticipated within that component.  And that would run in parallel with 30 

the designation and it would not provide an undue burden on one 

particular landowner.  That to me would be the most integrated 

planning way of dealing with it. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you.  So another way of looking at it is the fact 35 

the designation and the constraints that it imposes, do not provide the 

answer in terms of the most appropriate rule, do they, you still need to 

do a part 2 assessment of what is the most appropriate in terms of the 

underlying zoning? 

 40 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, thank you, that is all I have, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Winchester, Mr Chapman. 45 
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<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [11.41 am] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Good morning Mr Bonis. 

 

MR BONIS:   Good morning Mr Chapman. 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Just for you Commissioner Dawson, I did happen to hear 

this witness order a triple long black for morning tea. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No wonder, I had a single, I couldn’t catch up. 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I am going to ask you just a series of questions in relation 

to the Commodore, so I should firstly ask you have you been to the 

Commodore and looked at the Commodore’s outdoor areas? 

 15 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Were you in Court when I questioned Ms Carter in relation 

to the rules that should apply to the Commodore’s overall site? 

 20 

MR BONIS:   I was here for that exchange, yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And do you understand that she said that consistency of 

rules should apply across from the currently zoned rural 5 land, across 

to the land that is now being taken out of this MAIL Proposal? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   I was here for that, yes, but I guess I have a slightly different 

view.  I mean, the purpose of this zone is an industrial park zone, and I 

understand that the zoning framework for that part that has now been 

taken out, is going to be around guest accommodation, so there is a 30 

different zoning underlying context to it. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   So your issues in relation to guest accommodation solely 

relate to this zoning, is that correct, that is before the Panel today? 

 35 

MR BONIS:   That is the context that I have put it in and I have tried to make it 

really clear in my summary, but perhaps went too quickly.  The 

concern that I had around outdoor amenity stemmed from the Council’s 

provisions seeking that outdoor amenity be non-complying, I do not 

support that. 40 

 

 Looking at the industrial park zone, the purpose of the industrial park 

zone and the provision of rules specifically around noise activity, and 

listening to Mr Chiles yesterday, I thoroughly agree with him that 

common sense would prevail in terms of the industrial park zone.  45 

 



 Page 467 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

 Outdoor amenity is more likely to be precluded on the basis of what is 

happening next door and within the zone, intra-zone, rather than what 

is happening at the interface or in relation to the air noise contours. 

 

 So on that basis, I have recommended to the Panel that I do not support 5 

the provision of limitations in terms of outdoor amenity. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   But even without a common sense approach that you have 

referred to in your summary, just on the plain wording of the noise 

sensitive activities, you would agree that the first two exceptions about 10 

designing and constructing a hotel, are about what the built form of that 

hotel is in terms of the soundproofing in the building? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it would also perhaps extend to the layout and the 

arrangement in itself. 15 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Whether one has a courtyard environment or something of 

that nature? 

 

MR BONIS:   And how that is designed, yes. 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And then the third modifier is operated to a standard.  Do 

you have any view in terms of what ‘operated to a standard’ means? 

 

MR BONIS:   I have taken the view that it extends to almost the function of the 25 

type of accommodation, that is this issue around is it a transient, is it a 

bunker type accommodation, or is it more resort style so what is the 

operation or the market that the hotel is looking at operating within. 

 

 So on that basis, you know, I think outdoor amenity does play a part in 30 

terms of the operation of the accommodation itself. 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   It is not about pulling in the loungers when a north-west is 35 

blowing effectively? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, to me it goes to the sort of functional elements of what the 

hotel is trying to achieve. 

 40 

MR CHAPMAN:   And again, and focusing on that definition, the issue is not 

about avoidance is it - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   No. 

 45 

MR CHAPMAN:   - - - it is about mitigation? 
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MR BONIS:   Yes, which is why I could not support the non-complying 

activity status in the first instance. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you, no further questions. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chapman.  Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Bonis.  Going back to a more – starting on a 

more general question, I wonder so that I am clear about the context 10 

within which our overall decisions are being made about this zone, 

given that the SPAZ as it is currently called, has just become operative, 

I wonder if you can, from your – I presume you have been involved 

with this SPAZ - - - 

 15 

MR BONIS:   I have, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - on behalf of the Airport, - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:    - - - so could you just give us a brief summary of the purpose 

of that zone and the general types of activities that are permitted or 

controlled, but with particular emphasis on retail and office? 

 25 

MR BONIS:   Sure, I will do this as best as I can from memory.  The plan 

change was essentially to firstly install policies and objectives for the 

Special Purpose Airport Zone, there were none within the Plan, it was a 

set of rules prescribing respective statuses of various activities. 

 30 

 So that was the first component of it.  Tied in with that was a 

consideration of what a contemporary airport operates as in terms of a 

wider range of uses than simply planes coming and going, and sort of 

support logistics for that.  So there was a broader range of business 

activities that were then tied in with it. 35 

 

 So for example - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   If you could just – I will just take you back.  Having gone 

through the whole process, now that we have got a zone in place, are 40 

you able to summarise for me what - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   The range of process? (ph 2.27) 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, the sort of overarching objective – I called it the purpose 45 

– but what is the zone trying to achieve, just in summary? 
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MR BONIS:   Effectively the efficient and effective operation of the Airport, 

not only as an airport but also as a business industrial hub. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, as a normal airport these days would? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, but there are some limitations in terms of the business side 

of it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Because we have been told that this SPAZ zone has a 10 

different focus, quite a different focus we have been told by, I think 

maybe Ms Carter, from the more general industrial zones or industrial 

park zones, I am going to have to try and differentiate those. 

 

MR BONIS:   I mean, there are certainly a lot of similarities in terms of the 15 

levels of logistics and industrial activities and warehousing that is 

proposed or provided for.  One of the key limitations, I understand, 

between the general industrial zone and the industrial park zone and the 

airport zone, is the higher retail and office activities prescribed as 

non-complying activities whereas they are discretionary within 20 

Proposal 15. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So the provisions are tighter in the airport zone - - -   

 

MR BONIS:   At the Airport, they are more restrictive in terms of what I will 25 

call general office and also commercial retail. 

 

 There is a quantum of retail that is provided for but that reflects and 

does not expand on the existing Spitfire Square consent which is 

largely constructed, so any new additional retail over and above that 30 

that is not actually tied in with the terminal, is also non-complying. 

 

 So it is quite restrictive in terms of broadening into those wider ranges 

sort of centre based activity. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   I think the turf at Spitfire Square is about four and a half 

thousand square metres or something like that, of that ilk. 

 

MR BONIS:   That is correct. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   And then there is the terminal, but beyond that general retail 

would be non-complying, - - - 

 

MR BONIS:   Correct. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   - - - and offices, general offices that are not part of the core 

aviation type activity, would also be non-complying? 

 

MR BONIS:   That’s right, yes.   

 5 

MS DAWSON:   So although the focus – the objectives are to facilitate the 

Airport and all sorts of activities that an airport normally has these 

days, that does not go so far as to having widespread provision for 

general offices or general retail within the zone? 

 10 

  [11.50 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   No and that was done purposefully, and also the Regional Policy 

Statement was there and present at the time and that provided some 

quite key specific pointers as to the recovery of the CBD, primacy of 15 

KACs and so forth, so that was never in dispute between the Council 

and the Airport. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the Airport is not a centre as it would be identified for 

that, in the policy. 20 

 

MR BONIS:   No, not at all and Spitfire Square is not either, within the 

hierarchy of centres. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, okay, so that is not even a local centre? 25 

 

MR BONIS:   No it is not. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, okay.  Well that is good, thank you, that helps me.  

Just looking at outdoor amenity just briefly because I understand that 30 

you are not saying that you do not support any restrictions on outdoor 

amenities, and I take from your answer to Mr Chapman that you are 

satisfied that given the zone for this area and the sort of focus of that 

zone and the other activities, in other words the context for the 

travellers accommodation, that without any particular control over 35 

outdoor amenity, travellers accommodation would be consistent with 

the direction provided in the definition? 

 

MR BONIS:   In my summary, and again I raced through it, I support the intent 

of a nuanced limitation around outdoor amenity to fit within that 40 

definition, but there is a balance with that and objective 3.2.2 of 

Strategic Directions as to removing unnecessary prescription.  And 

looking at the context of the Industrial Park zone on its face and also 

listening to Mr Chiles yesterday I think regulation in this instance 

would be heavy handed and unnecessary. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   And there is regulation, isn’t there, in terms of the sorts of 

uses that could go around it, which would then influence whether or not 

it would be likely to be operated in a way that would result in outdoor 

amenity that would have a reverse sensitivity effects on the Airport? 

 5 

MR BONIS:   Yes, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  And just finally turning, sorry my second to last 

question.  In your evidence-in-chief in paragraph 62 you were sort of a 

bit cagey in terms of, although you covered an analysis of the Strategic 10 

Directions and Chapter 6 of the RPS and the objectives and policies of 

the Replacement Plan, you did not come to any conclusion about 

whether a commercial outcome was appropriate or not.  And then in 

your supplementary evidence, in paragraph 19 you did come to a 

conclusion but it was restricted to traffic implications, in other words 15 

the appropriateness of the MAIL proposal versus the Council proposal 

in terms of the higher level objectives and policies in relation to the 

transport network.  But do I understand, can I take it from your 

summary that you have presented and the answer to some of your 

questions to Mr Winchester that you are actually saying to us as a 20 

planner, you feel that the commercial aspects of the MAIL proposal are 

not appropriate in terms of the higher level documents? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes.  What 62 was focused on was not traversing into the effects 

of whether or not commercial activities here were good or bad as it 25 

were in a general sense but more given the uncontested policies, given 

the uncontested zone, whether or not the range of uses that were sought 

within the MAIL proposal were more or less appropriate in terms of 

those provisions and my conclusion at 62 was that they were less 

appropriate and that the Council’s proposal was the more appropriate.   30 

 

 In the supplementary, and looking at the transport witness evidence 

which was specifically focused around effects it was possible to look at 

sort of the broader network considerations in terms of the integration of 

land use and infrastructure and where such intensified commercial 35 

development should go and I was more comfortable providing a 

recommendation to the Panel in terms of those effects and how that 

fitted in with the decision that the Panel needs to make. 

 

 But coming back I guess to my summary this morning, in a way the 40 

transport considerations in my view are a secondary determination as to 

what is the zone.  What is proposed on it, does that fit first and 

foremost with the wider policy framework?  And then consequently 

looking at the transport effects because they may be less pertinent. 

 45 

  [11.55 am] 
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MS DAWSON:   So am I right in picking up from your summary that you are 

being more clear and more specific about your concern about the 

disjunct between the commercial aspects and the higher level policy 

framework? 5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And you are strong about that as you were about the traffic 

side when you had more specific matters to go on? 10 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, yes, thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right.  Now just coming to the REPA finally.  I thank you for 

your suggestion as to how a rule might be framed if we decided to do 15 

that.  I just want to take you back to how you have come to your 

conclusions and you have mentioned that you recognise the difficulty 

of having rules that replicate the designation and where that might end 

up for the landowner concerned, and you have clearly said to us that 

there is a legal position on this which is beyond your brief.  But in 20 

coming to your conclusions, what options, what alternatives have you 

thought about in your mind that could address the safety considerations 

on this part of the site?  Because we have to think about that range of 

options and it would be helpful to know what options have gone 

through your mind. 25 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I understand and I have given this considerable thought in 

terms of the mechanism of the designation versus the mechanism of 

having land use provisions.   

 30 

 For me it comes back to the answer that I gave to Mr Winchester.  If I 

was designing the ODP from the very beginning it would provide a 

wider range of activities that you could put on that particular location 

that perhaps would be more reflective of what the designation purpose 

is.  It may not be car parking, there may not be a rule that I have 35 

suggested in terms of a non-compliance for new buildings, it may 

simply be landscaping, well-designed stormwater and so forth.   

 

 So there could be a range of activities that are provided there but given 

the hearing has moved on, the ODP is there, what I wanted to put 40 

forward was an option that could be slotted in with the existing ODP 

and made to conform and it seemed to be that the no building provision 

was the easier.  It also fits with – and if you recall my designation 

evidence to this Panel – at the time there was the plan change proposal 

in from MAIL that actually identified that area as such and I advised 45 

the Panel that it is not going to be fatal in the land use because that is 



 Page 473 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

essentially what they are already suggesting.  Through the 

machinations have moved on from that, I suggest one option is to move 

us back towards the, but there may be a range of options.  I see this as 

perhaps being the most appropriate if the Panel is of a mind after 

hearing the legal advice. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that would be an option that allowed this area to be 

recognised as an Industrial Park zone, within that particular part of the 

site, so it would recognise the appropriateness I suppose of moving on 

in terms of land use development, but the safety aspects could be 10 

recognised as part of an integrated industrial development of that area.  

So another option is just to leave that corner of the site as Rural but you 

have said I think in answer to Mr Winchester that it is not appropriate – 

or well he might have put to you, not appropriate to freeze the land I 

think he said, in Rural 5.  So you have explored that in your mind? 15 

 

MR BONIS:  Yes I have and I agree there are beneficial uses for that site 

within an Industrial Park zoning that could support more intensive 

activities without being fatal to the purpose of the REPA designation, 

like car parking, campervan parking, reserves, landscaping and 20 

suchlike.  Leaving it as Rural 5 does not make much sense to me within 

that prospect.  It does not represent an efficient use of that particular 

land.  It is how do you identify a range of activities that would be 

compatible with the Industrial Park zoning, are not fatal to the 

designation purpose, but yet spread the burden I guess of a lower order 25 

of intensity and development on that site from just that particular 

landowner.  

 

 And I think those are the machinations that have gone through my mind 

in terms of the proposal put forward. 30 

 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   And the other alternative of replicating the REPA controls, in 

the Industrial Park zone say, I think you have said that that is not 35 

necessary, well, an alternative somewhere between that could be 

achieved.  In other words the safety aspects that are achieved through 

those controls can continue to be achieved through the designation? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, I gave quite a bit of thought to this last night after listening 40 

to your questioning to Ms Appleyard, and the issue is how do you 

provide for a similar level of control that spreads that burden equally 

but also means that the airport still sees some benefit in having that 

designation in train and therefore giving the landowner an opportunity 

to seek recompense, you know, through that particular process. 45 

 



 Page 474 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

 So simply just duplicating the controls obviously provides far too much 

weight back to the airport to uplift the designation and so forth and that 

was what the independent decision maker Milligan looked at when he 

was looking at PC16, and I agree and I acknowledge that.  So it is 

within that spectrum of doing nothing to fully replicating the REPA 5 

provisions which effectively look at taking away one of the 

mechanisms for dealing with the imposition of that regulation. 

 

 So what I have tried to settle on is something in the middle, it means 

the designation still has a purpose, it still needs to sit there and there is 10 

still that avenue by which that landowner can look at the 105 process if 

they need to. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So if in doing and looking at it in terms of section 32 or 

32AA terms and weighing up the costs and benefits of these options, 15 

would you as a planner consider that the sort of matters you have just 

been talking to me about, in other words where the costs and benefits 

lie, how they are equitably distributed, are those matters that you would 

see to be appropriately considered as part of a section 32 consideration 

of alternatives? 20 

 

MR BONIS:   I have not done those to a level that I would be completely 

comfortable with in terms of what I am putting forward to you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, but in general terms are they the sorts of matters that a 25 

decision maker or a proponent of a proposal can weigh up? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much, thank you for help, 30 

Mr Bonis. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Dawson.  Commissioner Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Bonis, just following up on that a bit further, just 

working out some issues, because I was not part of the hearing on the 

REPA.  If you are to tell me succinctly what is the section 5 purpose of 

the REPA in terms of social, economic and cultural wellbeing, health 40 

and safety, people and communities, what is it? 

 

MR BONIS:   It is first and foremost health and safety and, secondly, it is 

economic in terms of the purpose of the airport and its ability to 

undertake its operations in a sustainable manner. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Right.  And just a second dimension to this, if we go to 

policy 6.3.3 and put that on the screen please and blow it up a little bit 

so we can see subparagraph 9.  I want you to just look at 

subparagraph 9 of that policy and let me know whether you think it is 

relevant to our consideration of what we should do with this land.   5 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, it is and, as I identified in both my evidence-in-chief and 

also the summary of this morning, that is one of the clauses where I 

believe the ODP could be improved to show the designation. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, I might have overlooked that and it just 

seemed to me, just reading it myself, I came to the same view.  So in 

terms of the question of alternatives, that section 5 purpose if we rely 

simply on the designation, the consequences, the first gatekeeper on 

whether or not that purpose is delivered is the airport? 15 

 

  [12.05 pm] 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So the question of appropriateness there is whether or not 

the airport is the proper gatekeeper on a health and safety issue of this 

kind on its own? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The next question I have in terms of the mechanism for a 

non-complying activity, do you recommend for associated objectives 

and policies? 

 30 

MR BONIS:   There is no need to, sir, the chapter 6, which will be in front of 

the Panel later, has an extensive number of policies and objectives 

around the REPA provisions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so I have not had a chance to look at those but 35 

just in broad conceptual sense though, a non-complying activity 

construct, say we look at a building and looking at it in a purposive 

way.  When I say “we” I mean a resource management consent 

authority looks at building.  So in order to properly apply the intentions 

and to decide whether or not a consent should be granted for a building 40 

those objectives and policies are going to be quite important in terms of 

the intentions of non-complying, aren’t they? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So what you are saying is you agree with that and you are 

satisfied that they deal with the health and safety issues, so can you 

summarise for me how they do that without chapter and verse, as 

quickly as you can, so that I understand that? 

 5 

MR BONIS:   Specifically they look at limitations to built form where it would 

otherwise affect the safety and operation of the airport. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so it sounds like what you would recommend to 

us is that we withhold judgement on exactly whether or not that is 10 

sufficient until we come to scrutinise it at that stage? 

 

MR BONIS:   Yes, and I have identified in my evidence-in-chief that those 

matters as a package will be in front of the Panel at that stage. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, for that.  Just one other issue and it 

does help that you have clarified your thinking overnight in regard to 

the outdoor amenity question.  But something you said actually started 

to get me interested in something else and it arises from Mr Chiles’ 

evidence, and it may be that you are limited in your capacity to help me 20 

with this, and it may be that I need further help from the Council and 

MAIL.  But one of the things Mr Chiles, I think it was Mr Chiles, one 

of the noise experts explained to us was around – yes, it was Mr Chiles 

- that the Commodore Hotel would be looked after by the relevant 

noise limits at the boundary and so we didn’t need to be concerned 25 

about that matter.  And I said something along the lines of subject to 

making sure that in due course we do find that and somebody is going 

to tell us about that, in terms of the Commodore. 

 

 So this land, if it is developed in the way that the zoning would allow 30 

for given it is such a large piece of land, would likely be developed on 

an extensive subdivision and so forth as a prior step, so we will end up 

in all likelihood with different landowner interests on this piece of land.  

So I am just thinking ahead to the internal noise boundary question and 

as to whether in fact there is something needing to be thought about 35 

there were the Panel to decide to allow for travellers accommodation 

on a part of this site.  Are you in a position to comment? 

 

MR BONIS:   In a general sense there is a mixture of activities, not all of them 

perhaps maybe compatible with each other in terms of the nuisance 40 

provisions for the zone, from what I understand to be the respective 

noise standards. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So is there something in the standards that I have not seen 

which would effectively provide an equivalent noise boundary 45 
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protection between a hotel that was established on a subdivided site 

within this site equivalent to what the Commodore Hotel would get? 

 

MR BONIS:   No, that is not my understanding from reading the proposed 

Council rules. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thanks, Mr Bonis.  So any questions arising, 

Mr Chapman? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any questions arising in re-examination? 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   No, sir. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Williams.  Thanks very much, Mr Bonis. 

 

MR BONIS:   Thank you.’ 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.09 pm] 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Patterson I think.  Well, Mr Chapman, in your hands. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Thank you, sir.  I have not prepared a written opening.  I 

indicated to the secretariat that I will be filing written submissions in 25 

closing next week. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   However, would it helpful for the Panel to sort of outline 

where I am going to head in terms of those closing submissions at this 

stage? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it would, just to give us an orientation of your 

evidence. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   First off, sir, I have to say that from the Commodore’s 

perspective that over the course of this Hearing some of their issues 40 

have ameliorated, and that principally arises from the initial stages of 

this Plan Hearing whereby the Plan which was before you earlier in the 

week, showed the Commodore land as cross-hatched in green and with 

a no build rule on that particular land.   

 45 
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 So we were in a red rag to a bull sort of situation at that point, sir, so 

we have ameliorated in the course of these submissions where in 

Ms Carter’s final version of her Outline Development Plan, it is clear 

that that land is to be taken out and be given effectively a separate 

zoning on its own, and the zone will run across both Commodore 5 

parcels of land. 

 

 However, in spite of that, there are principally three issues which still 

concern the Commodore and those issues obviously concern the 

gateway to the city, they are concerned about traffic in terms of what 10 

this proposal will do to principally, their clients, in terms of access and 

egress and the loading on the surrounding road network. 

 

 Clearly they are also concerned in relation to the setback and noise 

provisions associated with an industrial development immediately on 15 

an hotel boundary, zone boundary, which I submit is somewhat of an 

unusual situation. 

 

 So in my closing, I am clearly going to address you on your 

requirements to address the existing environment, and I am also going 20 

to be referring you to the LURP provisions which my friend referred 

you to today, in relation to achieving a degree of consistency and 

integration, and that involves you in my submission, not just looking at 

this particular zone but looking at the surrounding zones from the 

purposes of achieving consistency and integration. 25 

 

 And I will put a number of questions to witnesses, for example, on 

consistency in relation to the various heights that might come to play in 

terms of zone rules. 

 30 

 I am going to have to check the transcript quite accurately in terms of 

whether I even need to address you on the issue of noise sensitive 

activities, I think there has been a high degree of consensus amongst 

the witnesses as to how that will play out in practice, and it may be that 

I simply do not need to address you at all in my written closing on that 35 

subject. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just to assist you on that matter, the only issue, I just 

have not had a chance to look at and somebody can help me at some 

stage hopefully, on the answer Dr Chiles gave in regard to the 40 

management of noise across the boundary. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I have Dr Trevathan being called, I intend to put those 

questions that I put to Dr Chiles, to Dr Trevathan on that very point, sir. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you.  And you mentioned the setback issue in 

regard to it being a noise matter, you did not mention the landscape 

(INDISTINCT 3.47). 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   That is clearly the case, my apologies, it will be – both 5 

noise and landscape, particularly in terms of the line of some of my 

questions on the immediate landscape that will be across the 

Commodore boundary. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Where will that get to in terms of closing, sir, I think 

probably where it will get to logically, will be I will be making an 

amendment to Ms Carter’s plan, Outline Development Plan attached to 

her evidence, to simply put in a setback along that hotel boundary with 15 

notations on the Outline Development Plan as to what either must 

happen or cannot happen within that setback.  I think that is a practical 

way of addressing that issue. 

 

 So with those comments in mind, unless you have got any questions for 20 

me, I will plan to call Mr Patterson. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I will just check with my Panel members. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, that is fine. 25 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, it is very helpful for us to have that. 

 30 
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<MICHAEL THOMAS PATTERSON, sworn [12.15 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [12.15 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Mr Patterson, your full name is Michael Thomas Patterson? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   That is correct, yes. 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   You have prepared and filed a brief of evidence for this 

Hearing dated 3 September? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you wish to make any amendments to that brief? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   No, I do not. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would you please confirm your evidence for this Hearing 

please? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   It has been – the evidence is prepared, would you like me 

to give some sort of summary or - - - 20 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I am going to ask you next, once you have confirmed your 

written evidence, I am going to ask you for a, effectively for a 

highlights, for you to present highlights.  So firstly would you confirm 

your evidence? 25 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would you just present a highlights package in terms of this 

evidence please. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Chapman, I have got a note from the secretariat that 

Mr Patterson has asked the secretariat to bring up an image. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Yes. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Has that been provided to Counsel? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, it has not, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, this is just so we do not get (INDISTINCT 

1.40) difficulties. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   It was formulated this morning as part of his highlights. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Well before it goes on the overhead, I would like Counsel 

to have a look at it just simply so that they do not raise an objection or 

something that I have not - - - 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I do not have a copy of it myself. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, are you happy with that, Mr Christensen, just to 

let it go and see what happens. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   See what happens. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay, thank you. 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Okay, so in terms of a highlights – what we wanted to do 

in our evidence is convey that our family have lived and worked at the 15 

Commodore site for 43 years.  I live with my wife and four children in 

the house that adjoins the Commodore there, and we bought that 17 

years ago.  We bought that to provide ourselves with a buffer as well.   

 

 So we have worked, toiled away and operated this hotel for 43 years 20 

and, you know, we turned what was a paddock into a pretty good 

environment.  We have got – we have won awards for our gardens and 

there is extensive landscaping there and we actually won an award for 

New Zealand Small Gardens for part of the garden behind the rooms. 

 25 

 Yesterday, I was at a – there was a launch of – Southern China Airways 

are coming to Christchurch and it sort of dawned on me exactly how 

important our environment is, even the Mayor said how Christchurch is 

the gateway to the South Island and the Airport area, which includes 

where we operate our business, is the front door. 30 

 

 And our biggest concern is to ensure that there is a buffer between us 

and what we are faced with next door. 

 

 At a time when the city was at its knees and crawling out for extra 35 

accommodation, we provided that accommodation so we have built up 

over a whole lot of – a number of years, and the latest rooms face out 

into the rural setting and they really are, you know, they are first class 

rooms. 

 40 

 That is pretty much the essence of what I have got in my evidence. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Mr Patterson, and thank you for showing the 

Panel members through, as I indicated before, on our site visit. 

 45 
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MR CHAPMAN:   Since we have brought up this issue of (INDISTINCT 

4.29) we may as well put it up on the screen and show it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   By all  means, just - - - 

 5 

MR CHAPMAN:   So do you want to explain this image please, Mr Patterson. 

 

MR PATTERSON:   This is what we are trying to guard against, you know, 

this is not in parallel with the experience that our tourists and guests to 

our hotel reserve, you know - - - 10 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Sir, can I ask what - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I beg your pardon. 

 15 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   What is it intended to show or is it an existing 

building? 

 

  [12.20 pm] 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well, just hold on Mr Patterson.  There are several 

issues I have got with this.  I am not going to allow it in on the basis 

that it is simply of an unknown authorship.  On matters where there is 

an expert opinion it is more relevant on these matters than a lay 

opinion, which any person can form, and the Panel members have their 25 

own eyes and are equipped to make those observations beyond which a 

landscape expert can assist us.  So we will take it off the screen and 

take it out of the system thanks and we will just rely on the evidence as 

it is. 

 30 

MR CHAPMAN:   Would you answer any questions that counsel or the Panel 

have of you? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Sure, yes. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so thank you.  So Mr Christensen. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHRISTENSEN [12.21 pm] 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes thank you sir.  Good morning Mr Patterson. 40 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Morning. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:  Proposals for rezoning of the MAIL site have been 

around for a number of years, haven’t they? 45 
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MR PATTERSON:   There have been a number of different proposals over the 

years, sure. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Over the years, yes.  Can you recall perhaps the earliest 

proposal to rezone that site?  How long ago was that? 5 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Well I mean there have been a number over the years.  

How long ago?  Probably 15 years ago. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes.  There was a proposal around 2002/2003 for a 10 

business rezoning of the site, do you recall that? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   I remember residential plans and there have been business 

plans as well.  I have seen a lot of stuff, yes. 

 15 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Perhaps if I could show you just a document which 

might help. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have copies? 

 20 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Perhaps I need to have it as an exhibit sir, I just want to 

perhaps assist the witness with - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well if you are going to ask questions on this I think if 

you just hold back from that until we have got enough copies for Panel 25 

members, okay. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, I do not have full copies for the Panel sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right well just move to something else, come back to 30 

this.  It is just that otherwise we will just wait until that comes back. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, well I will move on.  So we are talking about a 

2002/2003 proposal.  In 2009 there was a proposal which was called 

PC35 which was lodged about a Business zone.  Do you remember that 35 

one? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   2009.  Would that be when the black fence went up?  I 

can recollect that. 

 40 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I asked you about a Business zoning.  It was a large 

business centre.  You do not recall that proposal? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Well there has been a lot of stuff coming at us but I mean 

not specifically, no. 45 
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MR CHRISTENSEN:   Those proposals if I say before the earthquakes were 

generally of a commercial business park nature, weren’t they?  Rather 

than an industrial site. 

 

MR PATTERSON:   We have seen plans on residential and there have been so 5 

many plans come over the years, yes.  I cannot quite remember exactly 

when they all came in, but yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   But it was not until the Land Use Recovery Plan, the 

LURP, that was really the first suggestion of industrial, was it? 10 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Well I am not really sure what is industrial and what is 

commercial. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that 2009 matter the National Investment Trust stage of 15 

things? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   No, the National Investment Trust sir is this document 

which I have now. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   This was originally, well the issue was around whether 25 

a Business zoning was able to be considered by the Environment Court. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So that is the National Investment Trust.  At 2009 it 30 

was actually Memorial Avenue  Investments Limited. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Well we have now got the document in front of 

us so. 

 35 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, thank you.  So Mr Patterson I am showing you a 

document which is dated 13 June 2003 and it is a letter from myself to 

the Registrar of the Environment Court on behalf of National 

Investment Trust.  Now it does not have any of the attachments but I 

just wanted to get you to look over on page 2 where amongst the people 40 

to which this letter and its attachments were copied was your legal 

advisors.  You see that at the bottom? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   To Duncan Cotterill, yes. 

 45 
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MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, yes.  And so this is really just to ask you to 

confirm that in June 2003, 12 years ago, there were proposals around 

re-zonings which your advisors or yourself were aware of.  I do not 

really need to get you to confirm that because there is the record.  So sir 

would you like that as an exhibit? 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, I am just – Mr Patterson, do you have no 

recollection of this? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   I do remember there has been proposal over the years, 10 

certainly yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  It is just that your earlier answers indicated you 

had no recollection of anything in particular, and I think it would help 

if you could just test your memory a little bit harder when a question 15 

has been asked of you, to be a bit more precise in your answers.  If you 

cannot remember, well that is fine it will just be a matter, which I find 

highly surprising given your length of association with this site. 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Well there has been a multitude of proposals over the 20 

years, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, all right. So when you say you cannot remember 

which one or so, it may be that you can help us and help the questioner 

about the sorts of things you cannot remember, rather than just saying 25 

something vague about what you cannot remember.  It just goes to your 

memory more than anything else. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you sir.  Now Mr Patterson the latest set of 

accommodation block I think was built in 2013 wasn’t it? 30 

 

MR PATTERSON:   No, it was started in 2011 and completed in 2013. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, thank you.  And this is the one which has the four 

storeys and looks directly towards the Alps across the MAIL site, isn’t 35 

it? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So we know that there have been proposals over a 40 

number of years for rezoning.  Did you assume that it will always be a 

paddock on the MAIL site? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   It seemed like that is the way it was heading, yes. 

 45 
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MR CHRISTENSEN:   So to that extent you sort of took the risk that it might 

not be and one day there might be a proposal that might come along 

which would be acceptable and then the building that now faces the 

west would overlook that rezoned site isn’t that correct? 

 5 

MR PATTERSON:   Well to a certain degree that is why we bought the house 

where I live, to actually give ourselves a buffer. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Answer the question please. 

 10 

MR PATTERSON:   So can you repeat the question again? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Effectively you took a risk in building that block that 

the MAIL site would not be rezoned for business or urban use? 

 15 

MR PATTERSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Mr Pocock in his evidence refers to some trees on the 

MAIL site that were directly in front of the 2011/2013 building and he 

says that they were removed around the time that building was 20 

constructed.  Are you able to help the court about why or what 

happened there in terms of those trees?   

 

MR PATTERSON:   Yes, I tell you exactly what happened there. 

 25 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, could you tell us please. 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Well at the time Frank Van Schaijik had his name on the 

title and what actually happened was Frank was actually part of a 

construction team or he provided us with the steel and it was on his 30 

authority, it was actually one of his machines was working from there. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   And who was it that removed the trees? 

 

  [12.30 pm] 35 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Our builder with Frank’s permission. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, thank you very much.  Frank is a former owner of 

MAIL? 40 

 

MR PATTERSON:   That is my understanding, yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Or one of the owners?  All right, thank you.  No further 

questions. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   We will call this Exhibit G. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you, sir. 

 

EXHIBIT #G – NATIONAL INVESTMENT TRUST LETTER TO RMA 5 

APPLICANT DATED 13 JUNE 2003 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  So Exhibit G is the National 

Investment Trust Letter of Service to the Environment Court, dated 

13 June 2003.   10 

 

 All right, I will just check with my Panel members.  Ms Dawson, did 

you have some questions? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Hello, Mr Patterson, thank you very much.  Just one question 15 

and you may not remember so tell me whether you do or not but 

following on from what Mr Christensen asked you, prior to the 

earthquakes there was a significant review of the urban growth strategy 

for Christchurch.  It became known as Plan Change 1 to the Regional 

Policy Statement where the new areas for business development were 20 

looked at for the city. 

 

 Do you know if you or anyone on behalf of your company took an 

interest and took part in that process? 

 25 

MR PATTERSON:   In the process which was? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which was the where business activity was to be located 

around the periphery of Christchurch.   

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There was a hearing. 

 

MS DAWSON:   There was a hearing, there was the Regional Council sort of 

ran a consultative process or lots of reports written - - - 

 35 

MR PATTERSON:   This was prior to the earthquake? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  It was sort of in the five years prior to the earthquake. 

 

MR PATTERSON:   No, we would rely on whether you are toiling away 40 

running a hotel and we rely on the information we are given for the 

lawyers and how that affects us, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   That is all right, that is fine.  You do not recall yourselves 

taking an active part.  Thank you very much, that is all I need to know, 45 

thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Commissioner? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Mr Patterson, just reading your evidence.  You have 

asked for a 20 metre setback from any industrial uses and I was just 5 

wondering whether you could explain what you would like to see in 

that setback.  Is there, for example, would there be six metres of 

planting and would the remaining 14 have some storage on it or is there 

any specific requirement about that setback from your point of view? 

 10 

MR PATTERSON:   Landscaping would be preferred. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   For the full 20 metres? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Patterson.  Just a few questions.  One of 

the issues which we have to grapple with and come to a decision here is 20 

what proper mix should be on the land next door and that is on the 

basis of – which your lawyer may have explained – it is on the basis of 

some things which we are given direction on by different documents 

like the Regional Policy Statement.   

 25 

 One of those directions relates to it being primarily for industrial 

purposes and so there is this question around what else can we allow 

for and I was thinking about the frontage and your comment about the 

gateway entrance of Memorial Avenue and the importance of that to 

your hotel and our relationship to tourism and so forth. 30 

 

 Do you have a view around whether your interests would be better 

served or not with regard to having hotel uses not in a trade 

competition sense, keeping that aside, but just in terms of how that 

frontage would look versus industrial with appropriate setbacks and so 35 

forth on the street.  Do you have any sense of which of those? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Yes, as a family we have talked about this a lot and I 

suppose it would be fair to say our preference would be some form of 

commercial thing along there would be appropriate but the question has 40 

to be asked, is this the right timing?  Is this the correct timing given the 

way the city is? 

 

  [12.35 pm] 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   We will deal with all of that and that is for us to work out.  

So really what I asked you, my question was on that premise that we 

will have to make certain decisions and they will have to give effect to 

certain documents which I have just described to you and also have 

regard to everything involved on this site. 5 

 

 So what you are saying is on that basis where we have to zone it – and 

it has to be primarily industrial if that is what we have to do – you are 

saying rather than industrial on that frontage with a setback you would 

rather have commercial usage, then do you mean a hotel? 10 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Certainly something tasteful and a pleasant entranceway 

versus warehousing, that is for sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is good to know.  Just one other thing and I 15 

appreciate you are running a busy hotel, you would have to do a lot of 

delegation of these sorts of tasks and in terms of that site visit that we 

undertook and you took us through the front entrance and then we 

whipped up past (INDISTINCT 1.30) corridor and I noticed a fully 

enclosed swimming pool that looked like – with a roof on it.  Is that 20 

what I saw there?  Is that the swimming pool for the hotel facility? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Yes, it is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And was it built as part of the last round of building? 25 

 

MR PATTERSON:   No, it was not.  The swimming pool – what happened is 

my dad embarked on a trip around the world to have a look at 

swimming pools and looked at ones in Hawaii and Fiji and different 

places, decided that was inappropriate for Christchurch.  That one is 30 

replicated on one from Tasmania, and it has windows that you can open 

to go indoor/outdoor flow, so you can actually open the doors on the 

good days we have here in Christchurch. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And it has got a roof as well? 35 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Then we went up the lift to the third floor and we went 

into one of those rooms and we looked out – we opened the sliding 

door and we are on a balcony and we are looking straight out across to 

the air traffic control tower at the Airport, as far as I can recall that was 40 

my line of sight, it was a bit dark. 

 

 So that balcony arrangement, was that something that – one of the 

issues we have been grappling with is just what do we need to control 

and what can we just allow sensible development on in terms of 45 

outdoor amenity and noise.  Do you recall whether or not you had to 
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get resource consent for that indoor/outdoor arrangement there or was it 

just done under the building consent?  Was it a choice you made? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   We were allowed to do that without special consent but 

we have also provided mechanical ventilation for those rooms as well. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  Do you have – you have got a very generous 

outdoor area and I have not yet seen the tennis courts but I am told 

there are tennis courts and so forth there as well and you have 

obviously got that front garden area which is quite a visual feature.  Are 10 

there times when you would organise say for weddings or other things 

– outdoor events there on the exterior of the grounds as opposed to the 

interior – do you ever do that sort of thing? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   Seldom.  The more appealing garden is on the inside but 15 

there are occasions when people would like to gather at the front of the 

hotel, but from the servicing perspective the facilities are inside. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right.  Just in terms of say guest sleeping and 

that sort of thing in the hotel, do you get an occasional complaint or 20 

regular complaints or whatever about noise from aircraft, that sort of 

thing or is not really - - - 

 

MR PATTERSON:   There is.  It actually seems to be a problem on a still night 

and the engine testing would probably be more of an event than the 25 

landings but occasional take-offs in the morning, too.  You get those 

days that are particularly still. 

 

  [12.40 pm] 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the acoustic treatment of the glazing on those new 

rooms facing the airport, are they just standard acoustic treatment or 

did you have to get in something bespoke by way of design for that? 

 

MR PATTERSON:   No, they are standard industrial commercial suites of 35 

ranch slider doors, but they are argon filled, but it is to better the 

insulation if anything. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. Thanks for much for that.  Okay, any questions 

arising?  No.  Thank you.  Any re-examination? 40 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thank you very much for your help. 

 45 

MR PATTERSON:   Thank you.   
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JUDGE HASSAN:   These processes can be formal but it is important that we 

really get the best evidence out and sometimes we have to be a bit hard 

on people to do that.  Thank you for your help.   

 5 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.40 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Mr Chapman your next witness. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Mr Trevathan, or Dr Trevathan, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Dr Trevathan, okay. Thank you. 
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<DR JEREMY WILLIAM TREVATHAN, affirmed [12.41 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [12.41 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Your full name is Jeremy William Trevathan? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   And prepared a brief of evidence for this hearing, dated 8 

September? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you wish to make any changes to that brief? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No.   

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Could you please confirm your brief to this Panel. 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes.   

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Just one matter to put to you.  I am not sure whether you 20 

were in Court when I was discussing noise issues with Dr Chiles? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No, I was not, no.  

 

MR CHAPMAN:   We were effectively discussing the noise treatment on the 25 

boundary between the two zones, and Dr Chiles response to that was 

effectively that everyone has to comply with the most noise sensitive 

standard, and that would the method whereby the Commodore would 

get the assurance that this proposal to increase night time noise levels, 

it would always have to comply with the Commodore’s requirements 30 

for noise.  Do you accept that, firstly just as a point of principle from 

the Plan? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 35 

MR CHAPMAN:   Can I just ask you some practical questions about how that 

is achieved, as to whether you have a view on it.  If you are an industry 

wanting to go up to those night time levels because you work 24/7 in 

the industrial area, but you are not on the boundary of the Commodore 

site, how is that industry going to know about the issue that it needs to 40 

comply with noise limits on the Commodore boundary? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   I make the point Mr Farren made in his rebuttal was that 

there is some commentary proposed before the noise limits in the Plan, 

which explain the situation in terms of any noise generated and needing 45 

to comply with the limits at all noise sensitive sites.  So it would 
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require that person to do some research, understand how it applied to 

their site and that in fact, although on the face of it they appeared to 

have a 60 night time limit or all their boundaries they might actually be 

limited by the 40 limit over at the Commodore site, even though they 

didn’t adjoin.  5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Are you aware of there being any issues when there is quite 

a strong difference between a night time level in one zone and a much 

lower level in another zone? 

 10 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, I suppose as a general principle the position of 

activities which have extremely different requirements in terms of 

noise are as a matter of principle is never a good idea.  So if you have, 

in this case an activity with a night time limit of 60 and then over the 

boundary at night time limit of 140, then while I accept the plan as 15 

written in compliance with the plan, would guarantee or should provide 

some ultimate backstop that there would be no problems, in reality it is 

a more complex situation that if there was some graduated change from 

those higher noise activities to noise sensitive activities.   

 20 

MR CHAPMAN:   Now, would you please answer any questions that counsel 

or the Panel have.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Williams, are you not electing to cross-exam on this 

one? 25 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   No, thank you, sir.   

 

MR ……….:   I think given the position reached, sir, I have got no further 

questions as well.  So, thank you, sir. 30 

 

  [12.45 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I will just test for the Panel.  Ms Dawson? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you Dr Trevathan.  Just following on from the 

questions, the discussion you have just had with Mr Chapman.  Could 

you just explain how the noise limits at the residential boundary, or in 

this case the hotel boundary, would be measured or determined for any 

particular activity, how do you know, how is it checked whether a 40 

particular activity, which may be two or three doors along from that 

boundary is meeting this standard at that boundary when there are other 

things going on in the vicinity? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, I understand the thinking behind your question, 45 

which is that it is a complicated situation, or it can be where there are 
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multi noise producers on adjoining sites.  So the reality is we were 

requested to undertake that sort of exercise – you would go out, you 

would inspect and potentially do measurements in close proximity to 

the noise generators, so you understood what was going on on the 

various sites, and from that initial exercise you would devise a method 5 

for establishing compliance, ultimately at the boundary. 

 

 So if the source you are interested in was dominating then it may be a 

simple exercise – you would go and stand with a sound level meter and 

check what you measured.  If it was more complicated, which might 10 

not necessarily just be other sites generating noise, but a road 

generating noise, then you have to use, I guess a less direct approach, 

so undertake measurements up close and then go back and calculate 

what that must mean at the boundary, et cetera.   

 15 

 So it does complicate the situation if there are multiple noise sources 

and that noise sources of relevance might not just be the closest ones, 

but they it distributed across a site. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But it is something that can be calculated or modelled if it got 20 

even more complicated, and can that be done relatively accurately, in 

other words you might calculate it from what you know up close and if 

you went back and checked, if you ever could, would you be confident 

that that would be an adequate reflection of what would actually be 

happening at the boundary? 25 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, the processes are established enough that it would 

be a repeatable exercise. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and how does that work – if you could explain how it 30 

works with cumulative noise, like every individual activity that might 

end up with a noise effect at the hotel boundary complied with the 

living zone noise standards, does that mean that is the actual noise that 

would be heard at the boundary or could cumulatively, even if 

everyone complied, the actual noise at the boundary would be higher 35 

than that? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, and that was actually a matter that I was pondering 

whilst sitting this morning, is that typically it would be the closest noise 

source which would dominate the environment when you were 40 

standing at that boundary, and so this issue of cumulative noise would 

not be particularly relevant.  But in a situation like this where you could 

have the person that had purchased that closest site to the Commodore 

boundary, so they have got three boundaries with a 60 limit and one 

with a 40 limit, so they are going to have to work quite hard to stay 45 

within that 40 limit. 
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 But then you will have someone set the next site back that has got four 

boundaries with a 60 limit, so then they are potentially being 

anticipating a more lenient environment to operate in, but find they are 

also limited by the 40.  And these in this particular situation, there is 5 

more likelihood of accumulative noise situation where everyone is 

designing to 40 in that boundary, and it ends up cumulatively being in a 

level over 40.   

 

 That said, the way the decibel scale works means, if its 40 with one 10 

source and then you introduce a second at 40, you go to 43, so there is a 

cumulative effect.  But is not as dramatic as doubling in the levels. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So that was going to be my next question, so there could be 

an increased noise experienced, but there is a limit to that, in other 15 

words because the activities will generally get further and further away 

and the way the noise standards work it is not going to suddenly get up 

to 60 or 80 at the Living zone boundary as a result of - - - 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No, certainly not 60 or 80. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

  [12.50 pm] 

 25 

DR TREVATHAN:   And as I say, I could have done some simple sums to put 

some structure in it, yes, but I have not, because the other unique thing 

that occurred to me was, with the multilevel building on the 

(INDISTINCT 0.18) site, those upper rooms will have line of sight 

down over the closest buildings which are purchased, which would be 30 

another thing that people establishing on that adjoining site would have 

to consider was that they may be setback from the site, there may be a 

warehouse built between them and the Commodore, but those rooms 

from the Commodore are still looking down over top, and so that 40 

limit again may be more difficult than they anticipated to comply with. 35 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   No, certainly not 60 or 80, yes, and I say it just – I could 

have done some  

MS DAWSON:   And the way noise standards - because they include how it is 

measured - the way they are established, would that take into account 40 

the need to go higher up the boundary I suppose, in another words, to 

take into account effect on taller buildings that are on the boundary? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, the City Plan makes reference to New Zealand 

Standard 6802 which sets out, but the relevant position is probably 2.5 45 
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metres above ground level and the same above any floor level of 

interest - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 

 5 

DR TREVATHAN:   - - - of the multi storey build. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so it does not just have a set standard above ground 

level. 

 10 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. Now I have one other question, but I might check – 

in paragraph 3.5 of your evidence, you talk about heavy vehicles that 

might operate during night-time on sites that might be adjoining or 15 

close to the Commodore boundary, and the likelihood that that could 

result in either allowable or inadvertent exceedances, I just want to 

make sure I understood what you are meaning by that, if you could just 

explain that a bit more clearly to me. 

 20 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. So it is a reasonably simple little exercise. I went 

through based on heavy vehicle manoeuvring in a sealed area, which I 

guess was something that sprung to mind in this context because it is 

the type of aspect of an industrial activity which on occasion we get 

involved with, where there are residential neighbours and there is 25 

something like that which is causing a disturbance. 

 

 And so the exercise I went through was looking at that type of activity 

occurring during the night-time period and what the separation distance 

would need to be from the Commodore boundary for compliance with 30 

the limits. 

 

 And I guess the point of reference was the 20 metre setback which I 

understood the Commodore were keen to put it in their submission, and 

for that particular source the analysis indicated that it was unlikely that 35 

you could undertake that type of activity within 20 metres of the 

boundary at night-time without exceeding the limits, and so I thought 

that was a useful illustration of the types of issues which anyone 

establishing on the adjoining site would need to be aware of. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   So even if the building was setback 20 metres, if they use that 

20 metres for truck manoeuvring and backing up to the building or 

whatever, that it could be quite possible that those manoeuvres within 

that area would not comply with the living zone noise standard? 

 45 

DR TREVATHAN:   That is right. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes. And then, from your experience of Christchurch, are 

there other situations where an industrial park or industrial zone, but in 

this case it is an industrial park so it is not heavy industrial zone, where 

they adjoin residential areas without a road or something in between, I 5 

mean is it common or it does happen from place to place? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, no I believe there are a number of instances. Yes, 

when giving that some thought, earlier the one that – well one that 

sprung to mind that we had some (INDISTINCT 4.16) with, was at 10 

Wigram Skies, where there is an industrial aspect to the development 

and then there is residential directly adjoining, albeit separated by 

landscape buffer of the, I guess the type that the Commodore are 

considering here. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   But it is a neighbour-to-neighbour matter that does need to be 

addressed, but it can be addressed in some - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As a matter of process. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   - - - other places? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Commissioner, any questions? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes, Dr Trevathan, in 3.2 you actually identify the 

noise levels from the Replacement Plan? 30 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 

  [12.55 pm] 

 35 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes. And at 3.6 you said, so those are the ones that 

would apply in this situation I guess is the first question? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   There is some grey area there in my mind because those 

limits are derived from my reading of table 1 in 6.1.4 of the proposed 40 

plan. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Okay. 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   And which limits will apply depend on the ultimate 45 

zoning of the Commodore site, which I understand is being discussed 
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as residential with a guest accommodation overlay, and at the moment 

it is a little ambiguous from that table whether that means for example 

40 night-time limit would apply or a 45 night-time limit will apply. 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, well that perhaps answers my second 5 

question which was around 3.6, where you said “that should provide 

Commodore with some reassurance”, and I really wanted to ask you 

whether you thought that standard was satisfactory or not, because it 

was not clear to me that you were happy with that standard. 

 10 

DR TREVATHAN:   No, that wording was not supposed to indicate that, it 

was - - -  

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   You are? 

 15 

DR TREVATHAN:   - - - that was complied with - Commodore should not 

experience any awakening events or adverse noise events or anything 

like that.  

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Thank you, thank you, that is what I wanted to know, 20 

and just one last question, do you have an opinion on the effectiveness 

of landscaping in the form of trees on noise reduction? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Typically I think the response you would get would be, it 

will have no effect. You need something like 100 metres of dense 25 

planting and then you get a couple of decibels type thing, so in this type 

of context it is not going to provide a meaningful additional 

(INDISTINCT 1.49). 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Are there any other mechanisms that you could use? 30 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   It really is about, if you are looking at a barrier type 

situation, establishing a continuous barrier which has some mass to it, 

which is why in traffic noise situations you will see a earth bund or a 

timber fence, which in this particular situation I suppose because of the 35 

type of the development on the Commodore site those type of 

measures, yes, may be effective for the lower levels but you have got 

an issue with a tall building where if you are trying to introduce a 

barrier to prevent line of sight the adjoining neighbour, it is going to be 

a pretty difficult exercise. 40 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   Yes. Okay, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one question, Doctor, in paragraph 3.5, just quickly, 

in regard to heavy vehicle movement, do you think the source – I 45 

understood you to say that the source of that risk was in regard to say, 
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backwards manoeuvring and/or unloading that sort of thing, as opposed 

to the normal forward driving of a heavy vehicle. 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   The data which I used for that little study was based on a 

heavy vehicle starting up and turning and pulling out of a paved area, 5 

so it was not a - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It was not a view that - - -  

 

DR TREVATHAN:   - - - a forklift running around unloading a heavy vehicle. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, as opposed to a vehicle moving, say in a forward 

direction onto the site or off the site? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes, it was for that specific scenario. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That you described? 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   And noise levels might be different for other scenarios. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, thank you, Doctor. Any questions and re-25 

examination? 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. I think we will call your next witness 30 

through – we are running a little bit behind time but I think we will do 

that now and, mercifully though we are not running through to 6 

o'clock tonight. 

 

 You are free to go, thank you. 35 

 

DR TREVATHAN:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.58 pm] 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We will hold the cross-examination till after – let me see, 

it is – Mr Christensen, I think we will hold the cross-examination till 

after lunch is (INDISTINCT 4.05). 

 

45 
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<CHRISTOPHER JOHN WILSON, sworn [12.59 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CHAPMAN [12.59 pm] 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   Your name is Christopher John Wilson? 

 

MR WILSON:   Yes. 5 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   You have prepared a brief of evidence for this hearing, 

dated 2 September? 

 

MR WILSON:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   You wish to make any changes to that brief? 

 

MR WILSON:   No. 

 15 

MR CHAPMAN:   Do you confirm your brief? 

 

MR WILSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   The highlights summary of your evidence to present to the 20 

Panel. 

 

MR WILSON:   Thank you. The Commodore has been designed to enjoy an 

external environment, and it is currently sitting in its gardens and 

enjoys views to the mountains and generally has a park like 25 

environment which sets it apart from other hotels. 

 

 We are seeking that setback because we feel that that is required to 

mitigate the effects of an industrial park on the Commodore and we 

think that that setback needs to be of an appropriate scale - - -  30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You are using the word “we”, do you mean “I” - - -  

 

MR WILSON:   “I” is - - -  

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - or “we”? 

 

MR WILSON:   “I”. 

 

  [1.00 pm] 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. It is not your client’s opinion. Carry on. 

 

MR WILSON:   I believe it needs to be of an appropriate scale and density to 

protect the Commodore’s existing environment and that the planting 45 
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needs to be significant, and we have suggested at least two rows of 

trees with under planting, so that’s what we have based it on.  

 

 And the last, I guess, item we have addressed is the height limit. The 

current height limit of the Commodore site is 12 metres, and the 5 

proposed 15 metre height limit, I feel would allow for, I guess, a fairly 

extreme type of warehousing given that typical warehousing is 

normally around 10 metres high, that would be standard warehousing, 

and we are concerned about the treatment of a 15 metre high wall that 

could potentially be built around 20 metres from the Commodore 10 

boundary. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. I think with that summary, we will take the 

lunch adjournment and be back at 1.30 pm. 

 15 

ADJOURNED [1.01 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.29 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now, Mr Christensen, any cross-examination? 20 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHRISTENSEN [1.30 pm] 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Hello, Mr Wilson. I wanted to ask you some questions 

about your figure at the end of your evidence, please. You referred to 25 

that in your paragraph 24 and this is in relation to your opinion that a 

greater than 6 metre setback is necessary. I am just wanting to make 

sure that I understand the figure correctly. You have shown that there is 

a 5.5 metre distance between what you call the Commodore Hotel and 

the boundary of the Commodore land. Could I refer you please to Mr 30 

Pocock’s evidence in his rebuttal evidence of 8 September. Do you 

have a copy of that? 

 

MR WILSON:   Not in front of me. 

 35 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I am sure your counsel will be able to find you a copy. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   This is Craig’s rebuttal dated 8 - sir, my copy is marked. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just run it by Mr Christensen. 40 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   I am just looking Photo A. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are we able to bring it up on the screen? 

 45 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   No, that is fine sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a message to counsel that are streaming in late, 

Commissioner Illingsworth must be out of here by 4.30 pm. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So it is up on the screen now, Mr Wilson. So looking at 5 

your figure which is number 8 Commodore Hotel boundary, what you 

are showing there, am I correct that it is the building which is 

perpendicular to the boundary which is noted as 2006? 

 

MR WILSON:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So that is the building you are referring to? 

 

MR WILSON:   Correct. 

 15 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Now that particular building though, does not have any 

accomodation rooms directly facing the MAIL site does it? 

 

MR WILSON:   Not accomodation rooms, no. 

 20 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So the accomodation in what is marked on Mr 

Pocock’s figure as 2013 are about12 metres from the boundary? 

 

MR WILSON:   Correct, yes. 

 25 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Now, could you look again at that Photograph A, of Mr 

Pocock’s, and in relation to the setback and whether 6 metres is 

adequate, if the panel were to decide that a greater than 6 metre setback 

was necessary in this instance, would you agree that the extent of such 

a setback does not need to be the entire length of the boundary, but just 30 

that area in front of one or other of those blocks? 

 

MR WILSON:   No. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Why is that? 35 

 

MR WILSON:   Because the guest experience really starts at the car park when 

people come to visit the hotel. So they would typically go and park and 

then walk along that boundary back to the hotel, either to a room or the 

conference facilities. So if we were faced with a 15 metre high blank 40 

concrete wall, that would be highly visible from basically, the guest’s 

perspective. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Does the entire boundary have a car park? 

 45 

MR WILSON:   No, just to the extreme right of that photo. 
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MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, and further to the right, it is not shown, but off 

this photograph is just an entrance way, is it not? 

 

MR WILSON:   Correct, yes. 5 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So you are saying that in your opinion, a greater than 6 

metre setback is required not only for the accomodation but also for the 

car parking? 

 10 

MR WILSON:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   All right, thank you very much. That is all I have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Christensen. I have just lost my place for a 15 

minute. So we have got just questions from the Panel. Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Wilson. Just one further clarification I was 

going to ask you about the same diagram attached to the back of your 

evidence. The 12 metre distance that you have got marked up at the 20 

bottom of that diagram, is that 12 metres to where a 10 metre high 

building might go to? 

 

MR WILSON:   Yes, yes, that would be if you had a typical warehouse 

building that you would expect in an industrial subdivision. 10 metres 25 

would be expected. 

 

  [1.35 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   10 metres would be a typical height? 30 

 

MR WILSON:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And if by chance someone wanted to build a 15 metre high 

one, if that is what the rule allowed, what is the distance – I mean, it 35 

would just be scaled off there and it might be 20 metres? 

 

MR WILSON:   Yes, I think on the far right of that diagram, yes, you can see 

the 15 metres so it would be in the order of, well it says at the bottom 

of that diagram 20.3. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   I see, I had not noticed that, thank you very much. That is the 

20.3, yes. 

 

MR WILSON:   Yes, to 15 metres. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Commissioner Illingsworth? 

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one question, Mr Wilson. If there was bunding 

provided along that edge to assist with noise mitigation as well, with 

sensible planting along the top, that could achieve significant 

mitigation, could it not? 10 

 

MR WILSON:   Depending on the size of the bunding. You are talking about 

an earth bund? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 15 

 

MR WILSON:   Well yes, it would depend on the size. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. Questions arising? 

 20 

MR CHAPMAN:  No re-examinations. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 

MR CHAPMAN:   If that is the case for the Commodore, I am not sure, I do 25 

not need to be asked to be excused from this hearing, do I? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you do not, Mr Chapman. Thank you very much, and 

thank you to your business. 

 30 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.36 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Minhinnick, we have got you next I think. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you, sir. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We have read your submissions, so unless there is 

anything specific you wanted to bring to our attention you would like 

focus on. 

 40 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes, as far as those submissions, I guess they were 

framed as closing legal submissions in accordance with the directions, 

but in advance of Mr Phillips presenting his evidence, the timetable 

does provide for, after Mr Phillips and the (INDISTINCT 1.59) to 

present those. I am quite happy to speak to them now if you would 45 

prefer, or to simply call Mr Phillips now. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well look. I think you could probably go with 

calling Mr Phillips but I will give you leave if there is anything that you 

wanted to highlight in light of how the evidence went and so forth, if 

you want to. 5 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you, sir. There were a couple of minor points that 

I did wish to just speak to as far as my submissions, and then a couple 

of points just to add to as far as where things have moved between 

filing those submissions 3 o’clock yesterday and where we have got to. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right. So if you want to do that after the evidence 

or before, whichever. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   I think it probably makes sense to have Mr Phillips 15 

called now and then I can just incorporate any additional matters as 

well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine. 

 20 

MR MINHINNICK:   All right. 
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<JEREMY GOODSON PHILLIPS, affirmed [1.37 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR MINHINNICK [1.37 pm] 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Good afternoon, Mr Phillips. Could you please confirm 

your full name is Jeremy Goodson Phillips? 

 5 

MR PHILLIPS:   That is correct. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   And you have produced two statements of evidence for 

this hearing, being a primary statement of evidence dated 3 September 

and a statement of rebuttal evidence dated 8 September. 10 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   That is correct. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   And your clearance and qualifications are as set out in 

that evidence? 15 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   They are. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Do you have any corrections to make to your evidence? 

 20 

MR PHILLIPS:   No, I do not. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   So could you confirm that your evidence is true and 

correct to the best of your belief? 

 25 

MR PHILLIPS:   It is. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you, now would you mind just speaking to the 

key highlights of your evidence and then answer any questions from 

counsel and the Panel? 30 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Certainly. My views are generally consistent with the views 

of the other planners and I generally support the Council’s position on 

the provisions that are set out in Appendix B of Ms Carter’s rebuttal 

and her corresponding rationale. Where my views depart from Ms 35 

Carter and Ms Whyte is in respect of the enablement of offices. I do not 

consider that a permitted activity standard providing for 5,000 square 

metres of general office activity in the zone is appropriate in terms of 

Section 32, on the basis that the economic conferencing statement and 

evidence of Mr Osborne identifies adverse effects on the recovery of 40 

the central city. Enabling general offices in conjunction with other non-

industrial activities will have a combined or cumulative effect in terms 

of the composition of activities within the zone. The higher order 

commercial and industrial policy framework seeks to focus commercial 

activity on centres and avoid office and non-industrial activities in 45 
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industrial areas where they effect centres, and otherwise ensure that 

industrial zones are used primarily for industrial activities. 

 

 And also a gateway and amenity reasons in my view are not significant 

or unique enough in the face of adverse effects and the policy conflict, 5 

and amenity aspirations for Memorial Avenue can otherwise be 

achieved through alternative means. In my view, general office activity 

should instead be provided for as a discretionary activity on the basis 

that this would firstly be consistent with the objectives and policies in 

the RPS, LURP, Industrial, Commercial and Strategic Directions 10 

chapters including industrial policy 5 in particular. 

 

  [1.40 pm] 

 

 It would still allow for ancillary offices as permitted activities and it 15 

would otherwise provide for other non-ancillary offices to seek 

resource consent on their merits where there are specific and 

cumulative effects and consistency with the policy framework, 

including policies 4 and 5 could be assessed. 

 20 

 That would be enabling for offices which are secondary to high 

technology industrial activity in Industrial Park zones but I accept 

Ms Whyte’s comments this morning that with the avoid language it 

would present a significant obstacle to other office proposals.  However 

that would be still consistent with the approach taken to offices in other 25 

industrial zones. 

 

 Whilst not addressed in my evidence, noting Ms Carter and 

Ms Whyte’s statements to the Panel on consistency reasons with the 

Awatea and the Tait zones and the resolution of a policy disconnect, I 30 

firstly note Ms Whyte’s evidence this morning about the Wairakei 

Industrial Park zone which does not have or is not proposed to have a 

5,000 square metre allowance.  In my view that weakens the 

consistency arguments for office enablement at MAIL, and it also 

highlights the risk of other Industrial Park zones seeking enablement of 35 

offices for reasons of consistency. 

 

 I also consider, like Ms Whyte, the consistency of provisions between 

zones is certainly an ideal but given the potential effects of enabling 

office activity and the strong policy direction that counters this I do not 40 

consider it sufficient reason to enable office activity at the MAIL site.  

Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Phillips.  Right, Mr Winchester? 

 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   I gave notice yesterday that I have withdrawn 

Mr Phillips from cross-examination. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, my notes were not quite up to speed. 

 5 

MR WINCHESTER:   No, it has not quite been updated, sir.  Just for the sake 

of completeness, Mr Paris, I have withdrawn. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I have noted that. 

 10 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will take that off now though.  Mr Christensen? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CHRISTENSEN [1.42 pm] 15 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you, sir.  Mr Phillips, can I refer you to the 

Regional Policy Statement policies please, objective 6.2.6 business 

land development.  And with reference to clauses 1 and 3, this is an 

obvious question but I will ask it, there is reference there to providing 20 

primarily for accommodation of new industrial activities, and just 

confirm that that does not mean, in your view, entirely? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   I would agree with that. 

 25 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Now, in policy 6.3.6 of the Regional Policy Statement 

business land, looking at No 4 and there are two clauses here.  The first 

is “New commercial activities are primarily directed to the Central 

City…” et cetera, “where these activities reflect and support the 

function and role of the centres”, and there is a second clause “or in 30 

circumstances were locating out of centre will not give rise to 

significant adverse distributional”.  Would you agree that the “or” is an 

important word in that clause? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   In that clause I would agree, yes. 35 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So there are two situations that this clause provides for, 

isn’t there? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Within that policy, yes, that is correct. 40 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   And in terms of the second clause there is a reference 

to “significant adverse distribution or urban form effects”, yes? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Correct. 45 
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MR CHRISTENSEN:   Would you accept that the word “significant” also 

applies to urban form effects, that is it is seeking to effectively avoid 

significant adverse distributional effects and significant adverse urban 

form effects? 

 5 

MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, I would accept that. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Now, going to the policies of the Replacement Plan, 

this is section 16.1.1.3, this is the policy 5 question that we have been 

looking at.  Have you seen MAIL’s submission on the changes my 10 

client seeks to policies 3, 4 and 5? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   In the context of stage 1? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Stage 1. 15 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Would you accept that the wording proposed there in 

policy 5 would allow for office use as proposed firstly by the Council? 20 

 

  [1.45 pm] 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Sorry, are you talking about the amendments proposed by - - 

- 25 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   The amendments proposed by MAIL, I will read it.  

This is “Avoiding office development in industrial areas other than 

where it is…”, new word, “…suggested located in greenfield priority 

areas business to a level which avoids significant adverse distributional 30 

or urban form effects including effects on the viability of the Central 

City or Key Activity Centres”.  Do you accept that wording would 

provide policy direction for the Council’s proposal of the 5,000 square 

metres should the Panel decide that those words were appropriate? 

 35 

MR PHILLIPS:   In terms of not having, it would be useful to have the words 

in front of me sort of being a visual person.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just in terms of that, Mr Christensen, are you referring to 

words from the submission on behalf of your client, the submission 40 

form? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And what page - - - 45 

 



 Page 514 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Sorry, the submission form, no, sir, they have been 

revised.  They were revised during the course - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   They are attached to your legal opening submissions. 

 5 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   They were attached to the opening legal submissions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Appendix B. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is the submission on the stage 1 objectives and policies, 

isn’t it? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, thank you, Ms Dawson, they were I think 15 

appendix A to the submission.  Sorry, appendix B to the submissions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can that be brought up?  We will just wait for those to be 

brought up I think. 

 20 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, perhaps go back through your 

question. 

 25 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes.  So if we could scroll down to policy 5 please.  So 

that is the wording that my client is seeking for the policy amendments. 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   And the question? 

 30 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   The question is if the Court were minded to accept that 

that is an appropriate wording that is consistent with the higher order 

documents, would you agree that that wording would provide the 

policy framework to enable the Council’s proposal for 5,000 square 

metres of office to be provided? 35 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   I think if that wording were accepted it would provide a basis 

for the 5,000 square metres which is lacking at the moment.  I would be 

concerned as to, I am mindful of whether the economic evidence took a 

position on significant adverse effects with that level of office activity 40 

but - - - 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, it is on the proviso that that wording meets the 

requirements of the higher order documents. 

 45 
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MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, and obviously I would still have reservations about the 

appropriateness of that wording but I think in terms of the question 

would that provide a basis for 5,000 square metres I think the answer 

would be yes. 

 5 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   And if the Panel were to decide that a total of 15,000 

square metres of offices was appropriate and consistent with the higher 

order documents, that policy or wording like it would also provide the 

policy framework for that? 

 10 

MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, I think it is a position that that level of or any level of 

floor space can be supported on its effects then the general wording that 

is proposed there I think would provide for it. yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   And then it would be a matter of judgement around 15 

what is significant adverse effects, wouldn’t it? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   That and obviously the appropriateness of that wording, yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   All right, thank you.  Now, I would like to ask you on a 20 

completely different topic, really I hope for the assistance of the Panel, 

around noise sensitive issues particularly in guest accommodation.  

Now, I am aware that you have provided some advice to Clearwater 

Resort in past years and there has been a lot of discussion through the 

course of the hearing around hotels and reference to Clearwater and 25 

Sudima and Commodore, and I think you might be able to provide the 

Panel with some assistance around the nature of Clearwater relative to 

those other hotels. 

 

  [1.50 pm] 30 

 

 Clearwater is not just a hotel is it?  It has got residential activities as 

part of that complex. 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Correct, yes. 35 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   That is both in houses, standalone, but also a series of 

apartments. 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, correct. 40 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:  And even within the hotel area there are areas which are 

privately owned. 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Correct. 45 
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MR CHRISTENSEN:   And the nature of that arrangement is such that some of 

those areas within the hotel can be lived in by the owners for some 

significant periods of time? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, that is correct.  I mean the nature of their ownership, 5 

they are owned by individuals, leased back as I understand it to hotel 

managers, but they can be occupied for periods of time by those 

owners, yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   To your knowledge there is no restriction on the period 10 

of stay? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   No, not that I am aware of.  I know that has been a point of 

debate but was to what, I am not aware of any definitive restriction. 

 15 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   All right, thank you, I think that is all I have.  Thank 

you Mr Phillips. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Christensen.  Ms Dawson? 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Thanks Mr Phillips.  You talk about the 5,000 square metres 

of office being preferably as a full discretionary activity rather than 

permitted, and I think you said policies 4 and 5 would give adequate 

policy guidance for considering resource consents as full discretionary 

for general office.  When you look at the way policy 5 might be worded 25 

with this amendment suggested by Ms Whyte and Ms Carter, do you 

think there is sufficient policy guidance in those policies to give the 

sort of guidance that a full discretionary activity would require? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   It is something I have sort of grappled with over the day 30 

because I think hearing Ms Whyte’s evidence this morning about that 

word ‘avoid’ and that being sort of the starting point for that policy I 

agree that it is pretty limited, and what that policy says to me is that 

ancillary office activities are okay, and it says that offices which are 

secondary to high technology industrial activity are okay but anything 35 

else is not but it does not tell you specifically why they are there.  You 

have got to look to policy 4 and even policy 3 about the types of 

activities that are envisaged or some of the Higher Order provisions in 

the Strategic Directions chapter.  So I think it could be improved. 

 40 

 I wondered whether that policy could be more about providing for 

those activities rather than avoiding office activities generally because I 

think the avoidance role is something that policy 4C adequately covers, 

and that provides reasoning. So policy 4C talks about avoiding the use 

of Industrial zones for non-industrial activities generally, so that would 45 

encapsulate offices as well and then it goes on to say why in terms of 
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those effects on the roles of centres which is helpful and could inform 

applications for discretionary consent. 

 

 So I appreciate there are issues there around procedure and in terms of 

how far those changes can be made but yes I wonder whether policy 5 5 

would be better framed as a providing for, enabling policy for clauses 

(INDISTINCT 4.27). 

 

MS DAWSON:  All right, well thank you for your perspective on that.  

Because this is a specific policy relating to office development it would 10 

tend to be the place one would go to get the most specific guidance on 

how office development in industrial areas is to be considered, and 

ancillary offices are provided for separately as permitted activities and 

there does not seem to be much questioning about that, so the only 

thing left is the high technology to be potentially considered as a 15 

discretionary activity.  All right thank you very much. 

 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

 So the other matter I wanted to ask you about is if you could elaborate 20 

on your views as to why you do not agree with Ms Carter whether the 

gateway location, the whole special nature of Memorial Avenue as 

such is to warrant any special treatment in terms of land uses that might 

go down that boundary? 

 25 

MR PHILLIPS:   Firstly I would say it is probably not so much an issue of 

contesting the value or amenity or memorial aspects of Memorial 

Avenue itself, it was more about whether that reason is enough to 

overcome the policy and the effects issues around enabling offices.  I 

think the other aspect that my evidence focused on was that to the 30 

extent that a high amenity outcome is sought in that location.   

 

 I do not think offices necessarily guarantees you that, there could be 

good offices and not so good offices, and I think there are other 

activities including industrial activity which could be provided for in 35 

that location and subject to other amenity controls for example that 

could still ensure a high quality outcome and interface with Memorial 

Avenue. 

 

 I mean I have said in my evidence in paragraph 5.5 I have sort of said 40 

independent of that reasoning I would go on to sort of say I think there 

are other bigger issues, so there is more saying to the extent that 

Ms Carter has relied on that, I do not think there is much in it. 

 

MS DAWSON:  I know you have spoken to us previously about your 45 

experience with a wide range of business type applications, proposals 
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around the city.  But it is proposed to have a controlled activity rule for 

any buildings I think it is within 50 metres of Memorial Avenue and 

there are some assessment matters.  There is a setback which there is 

disagreement whether it should be 10 metres or a 20 metre setback. Do 

you think that suite of rules, in your experience in applying those sorts 5 

of rules, is adequate to respect the special nature of Memorial Avenue 

without needing to consider what land uses might go down that 

frontage? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:  To be honest I have not looked at those provisions in any 10 

detail and I did not feel it was necessary to make that point there that 

again, whether it is an office, whether it is some type of retail or 

whether it is industry or high tech, those activities can result in good 

outcomes and they can result in bad outcomes, so you cannot sort of 

rely on, I did not place a lot of weight on the activity being the answer.   15 

 

 I think amenity controls, be they landscaping, be they general urban 

design controls, or be they other sort of performance related standards 

about the location or the style or the height of buildings, that is 

probably a matter for others to determine how appropriate they are.  I 20 

think they can be fashioned to achieve something that is workable and 

certain and achieve some of the strategic objectives, and then also 

achieve you know, what the target is here, which is a good interface 

with the road. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that was my question.  Do you think those sorts of rules, 

which are the sorts of rules we have here, which is basically a setback, 

landscaping perhaps, controlled activity, can be fashioned to create an 

adequate amenity interface with Memorial Avenue even for industrial 

or warehouse or that sort of activity fronting Memorial Avenue? 30 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Yes, short answer is yes, yes.  And again as an example I 

mean in the Operative, or the current Plan that we have, you know 

there is a rule applies in some of the Industrial zones around offices and 

showrooms being located at the front of the buildings facing the street 35 

so that is trying to improve the quality and street interface for industrial 

activities by saying well we have got that sort of active component in 

the front door, stick it at the front rather than have it hidden around the 

back, so you can go a bit further than that but I think those controls can 

be achieved. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  Thank you very much Mr Phillips. 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   Thank you. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Commissioner Illingsworth? 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions thanks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a few matters Mr Phillips.  Just on that last matter, on 

an assumption that we are going to have to consider the question of 5 

office both whether it is separate or whether it is going to be an 

ancillary component or both of say an industrial activity, given the 

challenges of this site do you see that there is any capacity without 

running into trouble with the superior documents for allowing a little 

bit more flexibility for ancillary office size? 10 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   I do not perceive difficulty with ancillary office size, I think 

there is already a policy basis or justification for that in terms of 

policy 5.  I think the question is how much before it starts becoming 

problematic in terms of other centres, that is probably a matter for the 15 

economic experts as to where that threshold lies. 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

 And again, that is why I have sort of said, look, you know, the safe 20 

answer is saying if it is discretionary, then you can make your case 

based on the merits of something, so you might have something that is 

a bit bigger than what the permitted activity standard allows for 

ancillary offices, and you turn up and you make your case, and you 

might provide an assessment that says, hey, in this case, there will be 25 

no impact for reasons X, Y and Z and you can rely on policy 5 and be 

confident of getting an outcome, and that is a safer position in my view 

than necessarily opening up the door to permitted activity standards if 

there is not the evidence to support it. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple of other matters.  One just a simple matter of 

enquiry.  In terms of the brief you have taken from your two clients 

here, Avon Hotel and Andrews Centre Limited, there is some 

disclosure of the activities of those two clients in their submissions, it 

says something in regard to the interests of those submitters. 35 

 

 Do you know anything about the nature of what they are, what they 

undertake? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   My understanding is that they are a vacant site on the corner 40 

of Armagh and Colombo in the central city, and vacant land or 

undeveloped land in the Avon Loop area, and as far as I am aware, that 

is all those entities have. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I notice one of them has got reference to hotel in the name 45 

and I presume that might have been historical pre-earthquake hotel? 
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MR PHILLIPS:   That is right, the one in the Avon Loop. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one thing I noticed from reading your evidence, is 

that you direct your attention to retail and office, and as far as I can tell 5 

you do not really spend any time on the question of traveller’s 

accommodation.  Was that because you were instructed not to? 

 

MR PHILLIPS:   No, I mean, early on I sort of said my – I had to give 

evidence on retail and the office side of things, I thought there were 10 

quite strong policy directions around those. 

 

 In terms of guest accommodation, I basically said look, it is not an area 

that I see much scope in terms of the planning arguments noting guest 

accommodation does not fall within the terms of commercial activities, 15 

and that is probably where I set my brief up from that point going 

forward so it never really made it into my evidence at any stage. 

 

 I think hearing the discussion around it, I have probably formed some 

further views on it but I think that is still probably near relevant to my 20 

thinking on the matter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now just in terms of that, Mr Christensen, any questions 

arising? 

 25 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   No thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Any re-examination. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   No questions. 30 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.03 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Minhinnick, thank you very much Mr 

Phillips, you have been helpful to us. 35 

 

 Did you want to speak to any particular points, Mr Minhinnick, on any 

matter.  While we have got a time constraint, effectively, the updated 

position on Commissioner Illingsworth is that if he does not get away 

by 4.30 he misses a flight tonight which means he has to probably stay 40 

overnight and then make his way to Hamilton tomorrow. 

 

 So ideally, I would not like to put him in that position if I can avoid it 

but we are ahead of the game in terms of time, so. 

 45 
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MR MINHINNICK:   Certainly sir.  I had requested simply the 10 minutes for 

my closing and so I separated these and simply wish to highlight some 

of the key points. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 5 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   And just update them to the extent if there has been any 

further matters of relevance in the last 24 hours or so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I was starting to worry that I had lost sight of your 10 

submissions.   

 

MR MINHINNICK:   I think there are hard copies with the secretariat - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 15 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   - - - if the Panel do not have them already. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I have read them overnight and the other Panel 

members have too. 20 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you, sir.  So just as far as the introduction.  I 

certainly do acknowledge that this is a (INDISTINCT 4.24) site and 

you do have a number of issues to deal with that have been raised 

through this Hearing process. 25 

 

 My clients concerns are quite focused as far as the additional activities 

sought to be enabled by MAIL, and those are as set out in 1.2. 

 

 At 1.5, I just make the point that, share the concerns of the Council and 30 

the Crown in relation to the additional retail and office sought by 

MAIL beyond that put forward in the Council Proposal. 

 

 And at 1.6 do suggest that there are still concerns with the initial 5,000 

squares of office and with guest accommodation. 35 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

 In the next section, just focus on the difficulty faced here with not 

having planning evidence to support the proposal by MAIL and no 40 

Section 32 analysis in respect of the current MAIL proposal.  

 

 Your Honour has made a request for that, or a planning analysis to be 

provided through the closing submissions and in my submission that is 

a second rate substitute to having independent expert planning analysis 45 
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through an expert witness, as you have heard from a number of other 

parties producing planning evidence. 

 

 There is a suggestion of trade competition, and so I have just dealt with 

it there, I do not intend to cover that any further. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the Panel has got no evidence before it to suggest 

there is a problem.  

 

MR MINHINNICK:   As far as retail, we have set out in section 2 what the 10 

economic evidence says and also the planning evidence. 

 

 In my submission, the overwhelming weight of evidence is against 

such an enablement being provided.  

 15 

 And I do make the point in 2.4 that the planning evidence is unanimous 

in that regard. 

 

 In section 3, as far as the office activity proposal, no other parties 

supporting the 15,000 squares put forward by MAIL, the most any 20 

other planning witness can support is 5,000 square metres, however, 

there are still difficulties with even that level of enablement.   

 

 Set out in section 3.3, and with reliance on Mr Osborne’s evidence in 

particular, there are concerns with even that first 5,000 squares and the 25 

provision of office up to that level. 

 

 At 3.4, I address the consistency issue that Ms Carter in particular, 

seems to rely on.  You have the acknowledgement by Ms Whyte earlier 

this morning about the difficulties with that consistency approach.  You 30 

heard from Mr Phillips as well today on that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, we did. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   And then at 3.5, and I guess it is a follow-on point from 35 

that, this issue if 5,000 squares are provided at Memorial Avenue as 

well, what happens when any later application for an additional 

industrial park zoning is provided.  Ms Carter said you need to take into 

account the economic evidence, yet it does not seem that Ms Carter is 

practising what she is preaching. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, she is practising what she is preaching, she is 

entitled to have a view as a planner which we will weigh and consider, 

and there is a question of trade off and judgement to be made in this 

equation so I do not think Ms Carter, or the Panel appreciates that sort 45 
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of comment on her evidence.  But obviously, we do have the evidence 

of Mr Osborne. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Yes, certainly and perhaps I have overstated that.  I have 

as set out in my submission, suggested that the evidence of Mr Osborne 5 

should be preferred.  Thank you. 

 

 And then just moving through to 3.7 and this question of whether 

policy 5 could be changed. 

 10 

 I guess one of the difficulties that this Panel faces is that the actual 

policy gap is in relation to Tait and Awatea in policy 5, it is the 

permitted activity rule there and so as far as looking at policy 5 in 

Memorial Avenue, policy 5 in my submission is clear in what it 

prescribes, and is looking at what rules reflect that policy direction. 15 

 

 And then finally on the guest accommodation point. 

 

 I do concede that I do not have evidence put forward in support of this 

position, and so the submission in this regard is, I guess, slightly 20 

different in respect of the office and retail components, and it is urging 

caution in making sure that there is a robust evidential basis for an 

enablement of this nature. 

 

 And so I certainly do acknowledge that the submission that I can put 25 

forward on the travellers accommodation component is of lesser 

moment perhaps, than the retail and the office components of my 

submission. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and in terms of that, it seems to me that unlike office 30 

and retail where there is a policy direction, there is not one on this 

matter and therefore it comes back as you say, to an evaluation of 

benefits and costs and what is the most appropriate outcome, ultimately 

I guess to deliver on the requirements of part 2 of the Act in due course.   

 35 

  [2.10 pm] 

 

 And that does come back to the evidence, doesn’t it, and it does at least 

express perhaps a caution not to be more generous in the evidence, in 

fact being tendered on that would suggest we should be. 40 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Certainly, and the only point I would add is as far as the 

policy direction there is the policy direction about industrial activities 

primarily being provided for in an Industrial zone but that is about as 

far as I can go on that one. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   There are clearly issues to consider and no doubt the 

applicant is considering them for closing, as to how to deal with the 

potential reverse sensitivity risk inter-zone if one has bedrooms in one 

side facing warehouses on another. 

 5 

MR MINHINNICK:   Certainly, and as I said at the start there are a number of 

complexities to this site and that is but one of them.  And certainly as 

Your Honour has said, the consideration of traveller’s accommodation 

is one that has to be made in the realm with the range of other activities 

enabled as far as the overall, the enablement provided by this zone and 10 

whether it reflects that policy direction as far as what Industrial zones 

should be providing for. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 15 

MR MINHINNICK:   So those were matters I just wish to address you on and 

happy to answer any questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Minhinnick, I will just check if there are 

any.  Ms Dawson, do you have any questions? 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   No I do not have any questions thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No.  Commissioner Illingsworth? 

 25 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:  No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No. Thanks very much for those submissions, they are 

helpful, Mr Minhinnick. 

 30 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are free to go obviously when you want to. 

 

MR MINHINNICK:   Thank you very much. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Now, so Mr Paris is next on the block, and Professor 

Bagchi.  What we will do is we will have him sworn in and I will look 

after those aspects for you and I understand there is a summary and 

obviously speaking to that and that is fine so if you just come forward, 40 

Mr Paris. 
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<CLIVE PARIS, sworn [2.12 pm] 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Just pause for a minute and I will find the evidence.  So 

despite that kerfuffle Mr Paris I can assure you that I have read your 

evidence. 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes, okay. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I have got a couple of questions for you.  But you 

have been sworn so I am just going to complete the other details.  Is 

your full name Clive Paris? 

 10 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are employed as an insurance loss adjuster. 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Though your evidence is not about that matter.  And you 

have lived in Avonhead and worked there for 26 years? 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 20 

 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now you have prepared an initial statement. 

 25 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you have given us a supplementary statement called 

a highlights package which we have both read.  Are there any 

corrections you want to make to either of those? 30 

 

MR PARIS:   We are agreeing to support the Crown and Council with their 

consideration - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just stop. 35 

 

MR PARIS:   - - - as outlined in the documents - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  All right so there are no actual corrections, 

typographical errors, that sort of thing in either statement? 40 

 

MR PARIS:   No. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you confirm those statements to be your evidence? 

 45 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:  All right. So now that we have been through those 

formalities, Professor, pertaining to this witness’s evidence are there 

any particular questions your wanted to put to him that arise out of 

what you have heard to date, just in terms of any supplementary 5 

matters that relate to his evidence? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is fine. 10 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, so I will just open up for Panel questions then. 

 15 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson?  Oh, before I do that, my apologies.  You 

have got the opportunity now to speak to your synopsis, your highlights 

package so if you want to do that now you can, but we have read it over 20 

the lunch break as well. 

 

MR PARIS:   Okay.  Do you want me to read it again? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is up to you.  We are appraised of it, but if you 25 

wanted to you can speak to that.  Would you rather just have our Panel 

questions? 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, we will do that.  Okay, Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Well thank you Mr Paris and thank you for this summary that 

you provided and that we read. 

 35 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   It is helpful to have that, thank you, as your evidence covered 

a lot of different matters.  I just have three questions for you.  I am 

interested in the degree to which the Avonhead Community Group was 40 

involved in the sort of city-wide or greater Christchurch-wide 

discussions and policy development relating to where new industrial 

areas should go around Christchurch.  And I mean as a planner I would 

refer to them as plan change 1 to the Regional Policy Statement but I 

do not want to say that if you do not know what I am talking about.  It 45 

is sort of the Urban Growth Strategy, the UDS, LURP - - - 
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MR PARIS:   When was that? 

 

MS DAWSON:   It was before the earthquakes, sort of lead in about the five, 

four or five years leading up to the earthquakes and then it got 5 

overtaken by the earthquake. 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes.  We were not involved in those as a community group. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, so you did not input to the sort of Urban Growth Strategy 10 

for Christchurch which looked at where these sorts of industrial areas? 

 

MR PARIS:   No. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No.  All right, thank you.  Then my other questions are much 15 

more specific.  I was just wondering if the secretariat could bring up an 

aerial photograph of the area and firstly just so that we can look at 

Avonhead Road and just for you to point out to me the extent of the 

residential development and where the Residential zones go relative to 

where the exits or entrances might be from the MAIL site.  Can you see 20 

the plan in front of you there? 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I know it is hard when you have not got the arrow in your 25 

hand but are you able to point out to me, and perhaps it is 

approximately where the arrow is sitting at the moment, where the exit 

or the proposed road from the MAIL site might come out onto 

Avonhead Road?  Do you know from this plan here, are you familiar 

with? 30 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes, yes, I am trying to gauge the number, I think is it 23?  I 

cannot see it.  520? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   520 so there is a number 500 at this end, that is where that 35 

arrow is at the moment and 520 is halfway down the middle. 

 

MR PARIS:  Yes, there is Kingham Place, is the first on the right from 

Roydvale Avenue, then there is the exit from the Commodore Hotel on 

the right. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR PARIS:   And then further down there is the two exits, round about where 

the (INDISTINCT 4.42) is there, further down there. 45 

 



 Page 529 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

MS DAWSON:   Further? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Towards the 500? 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Somewhere down there. 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   So that is still opposite where the residential houses are? 

 

MR PARIS:   That is my understanding. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  And then I wonder if you could then take us to the 15 

Russley Business Park which is a bit south, and just so that we are 

familiar with the matters that the group has raised with parking on the 

roads leading out of the Russley business park – it may not show on 

this.  Are you able to direct where that is?  

 20 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

MR PARIS:   If you go down to - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   Further south? 25 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And just further keep going? 

 30 

MR PARIS:   See Fenhall Street, yes, then we will have Springhill if you - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Go back up? 

 

MR PARIS:   Back up, yes.   35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just so that we make sure we know. 

 

MR PARIS:   No, you have gone too far.  Now back. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   What is that street that you use as the example of - - - 

 

MR PARIS:   Fenhall Street. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Fenhall? 45 
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MR PARIS:   So if you go down to – yes.  Come back to Bentley Street and 

you will see just down there it is. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I can see Bentley.  Oh, there.  So that - - - 

 5 

MR PARIS:   That is where – yes.  

 

MS DAWSON:   So Fenhall Street provides that - - - 

 

MR PARIS:   That is the Business Park in there. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, that part there. 

 

MR PARIS:   So where that arrow is there, just to the left of that arrow is the 

exit that vehicles and pedestrians use to go down Fenhall Street. 15 

 

MS DAWSON:   Is Fenhall Street a somewhat different scale and style of 

street than Avonhead Road, for example, in terms of its width and - - -  

 

MR PARIS:   In terms of width? 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, the width of the roadway and what you might expect on 

Fenhall Street compared with Avonhead Road in terms of traffic 

movements? 

 25 

MR PARIS:   It is still residential. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   If there was not an exit out of the end of it into the Business 

Park, would it have been a no exit street? 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes, it always was. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Or was a no exit street? 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and that is the street that gets parked up and - - - 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 45 
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MR PARIS:   And surrounding streets away from that as well.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Even further away? 

 

MR PARIS:   Oh yes. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much.  Thanks for pointing that - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Keep that there. 

 10 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  Could you go back please to where we were 

before on that plan, back up at Avonhead Road?  Yes, thank you.  Still 

looking at that. 15 

 

 Just keeping that in focus just for a couple of questions, Mr Paris.  The 

Panel clearly hears the Avonhead Community’s submission and 

concern.  One of the things we have to give effect to, in terms of our 

obligations, is the Regional Policy Statement, so different lawyers and 20 

planners have told us about what we have to do there and we have to 

make some decisions on that.   

 

 And a number of them of have told us that that means we have to make 

in this zoning decision a choice to zone this land substantially for 25 

industrial purposes.  So then, if that is the case, the question comes 

back to how best to deal with effects, considering the effects that your 

association has raised and so forth in that scenario.   

 

 In your highlights package at paragraphs 12 and 13, you talk about the 30 

problems about traffic, and I put a question to the Crown’s transport 

engineer, Mr Clark.  From his perspective, his client’s concern is about 

the operation of the State Highway system.  But from that point of view 

he considered it would be sensible and more appropriate to direct heavy 

trucks in a way that meant they only entered or exited the site via 35 

Memorial Avenue. 

 

 Now, were we to do that, would that help address, not fully address, but 

would it help address your client’s concerns? 

 40 

MR PARIS:   That is one of the requirements that we would look forward to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Then looking at the other issue for – do you live in this 

vicinity yourself? 

 45 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you live very close to where we have got that picture 

there now? 

 

  [2.25 pm] 5 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can you tell me which house you live in? 

 10 

MR PARIS:   I live 14 Henridge Place, which is down Hawthornden Road. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 

MR PARIS:   Probably about 500 metres away. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And have you met with any of the owners of properties 

that look across the road to what are now paddocks? 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes.  They are greatly concerned. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think their concerns would, again, not be 

overcome but helped by, for instance, a requirement to provide some 

form of bunding or/and tree-planting along that facing where they are 

looking at that land at the moment, so that they at least have an aspect 25 

of vegetation as opposed to the back end of warehouses?  Would that 

help them? 

 

MR PARIS:   I would doubt it.  The impact of warehousing is very hard to 

overcome. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Bearing in mind my initial question, you say that you 

would doubt it.  Now, bearing in mind you are giving evidence of what 

you understand they think.  

 35 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So is that your own opinion or what they have told you? 

 

MR PARIS:   That is the evidence that they have given to me. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Did you put to them the suggestion that I put to you? 

 

MR PARIS:   They are aware of those sort of ideas that can help mitigate the 

traffic but they are still concerned about it and whether it is going to be 45 

enough. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So you would be able to go back to them on the basis that 

it would not be your recommendation to us, were we to zone this 

industrial, to require anything like bunding or landscaping along that 

section?  Are you quite happy to tell them that? 5 

 

MR PARIS:   That would be part of what we would suggest. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I just want to make sure you understand this.  Given that 

you are here representing the interests of the association, I ask you this 10 

question:  If the ultimate decision made by the Panel is to zone this 

industrial, would you prefer that decision on behalf of those members 

of the association to include landscaping and bunding along this face, 

or would you prefer that it does not do that? 

 15 

MR PARIS:   We would prefer that it would be included. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It would? 

 

MR PARIS:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you.  All right, any matters arising, Professor, 

from that questioning?  Just what you are entitled to do now is on a 

confined basis to respond to anything that came out of our questions 

but not to ask new matters. 25 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And not to put questions that effectively deliver the 

answer to the witness. 30 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, sir.  I will just give a bit of more clarification 

that the questions what you were raising here.  I am the chair of the 

community group - - - 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry, you are not giving evidence, Professor - -  

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   No, I am not giving evidence, I am just - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and so – and you also will not interrupt me. 40 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   - - - clarifying the situation.  Am I allowed? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no.  You will be quiet until I am finished. 

 45 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Okay. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   You stand here as a capacity of person who has called an 

expert witness and that expert witness is the person we ask the 

questions of in that situation.  It is not for you to argue with me or to 

put another proposition to me different from the expert or other witness 5 

that has presented.   

 

 What you are entitled to do is make representations.  You have a few 

minutes to do that.  I will give you 10 minutes. 

 10 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Is it presentations in writing? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, you can speak to the issues you have now but it is on 

the basis that this is evidence and what you are giving me is your 

representation, but not evidence.  All right? 15 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, what is the limitation?  I could not actually 

follow you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   What I am saying to you is that you stood up and you said 20 

you are the representative of - - - 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I am the representative of the Avonhead Community 

Group and the chair of the Community Group. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you are standing here as a representative of the 30 

Group and have called an expert person - - - 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   As a representative - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Be quiet.  You have called this person as a witness for the 35 

association and it is on that basis that we ask this witness questions. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So what are the things you want to say to me about your 40 

role that relates to that evidence and what we need to decide? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, I wanted to only clarify one point, what you 

were asking our witness. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Just to further make it clear for the understanding of 

the Panel that we have reviewed the whole thing on the basis of the last 

three days ongoing process.  We have been following it up and we 

understood the position of the Crown, we understood the position of the 5 

Council, and that is why in our summary submission – in our summary 

of evidence today – we have agreed to extend support on two 

conditions.  One is onsite parking and another is the traffic. 

 

  [2.30 pm] 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:  The third question, sir, what you asked for the 

bunding and the tree lining so as to create a visual amenity for the 15 

residents.  Definitely, sir, We didn’t attach importance to that because 

for us the first two things were very, very crucial.  The third one is an 

amenity part and if it is decided or if it is, I mean if it is adjudged by 

the Panel that that would be really good as a bonus to us that would be 

really welcome, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, those submissions are very helpful to us and that is 

exactly your role to give us an understanding of your client’s position 

on those matters and I thank you for that. 

 25 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I ask you about the parking matter?  Now, you have 

heart the evidence and I could put a question to your witness on this as 

well, and one of the challenges is it is really not in one sense for this 30 

Panel to control parking on a public road.  The Council can do those 

sorts of things under its own powers, for instance in some parts of the 

country they have residents parking zones and those sorts of things as 

controls for on-street parking.   

 35 

 What the Panel can do though is set controls for the land in issue.  In 

other words what can happen on that land and so in regard to heavy 

traffic movements, for instance, you may have been here but we put 

questions to the Crown’s planner about the capacity to control heavy 

traffic movements hence my question to your witness on that. 40 

 

 Now, one of the things in that supplementary statement from Mr Paris 

today is to highlight the high traffic generator rule regime and that has 

also come up in evidence and so there have been questions around how 

to make sure the high traffic generator rule works in the plan depending 45 



 Page 536 

 

  

Private Plan Change: MAIL (Stage 2) Commenced 16.09.15 

on how this land is treated.  So do you have a position on the high 

traffic generator rule? 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Sir, we have submitted here in the evidence today 

that we consider 6,000, from 2,000 to 6,000 would be quite okay, but if 5 

it is going to 10,000 it would be definitely creating, going to cause a 

problem for the local residents.  But if the heavy traffic, I mean heavy 

trucks and heavy vehicles movements are restricted there, that would 

definitely help us because all these areas there is school children, the 

elderly, people that take that road in the morning and evening and the 10 

joggers, their life will be completely disturbed forever, it will never be 

coming back to the same situation.  So that is why we have restricted 

our situation here in the evidence so if you could kindly into the detail 

at a later stage, we have requested that if it could be ensured that up to 

6,000 it would be really nice but 10,000 will be on the very higher side.   15 

 

 Secondly, about the heavy traffic, we have requested that a restriction 

has to be there.  Now, I do not have any idea, sir, we do not have any 

idea whether it is within the capacity of the Panel but whether the Panel 

can take guidance to the Council as part of your judgement. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay.  All right.  Is there anything else you wanted to 

mention, I think that has given us a clear understanding of your 

priorities? 

 25 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes – sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There has been a lot of evidence on those matters from a 

range of witnesses and including evidence that assists you. 

 30 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Yes, and, sir, as far as the maximum parking as 

much as you can give as guidance to the MAIL site owners that to 

arrange inside parking maximums so that there is no score for onsite 

parking that would be really helpful for us because with our business 

park experience we are still struggling in the last four years to convince 35 

the Council what best solution we can make for the residents but we 

haven’t been able to. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay, all right, well, we will give that some careful 

thought about how we strike the balance there. 40 

 

PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, is there anything else, I think you had a signal to 

your to left that there might be something else, is everything covered? 45 
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PROFESSOR BAGCHI:   I think so, we have covered almost everything. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay.  Well, thanks very much, Mr Paris, thank 

you for taking the trouble to prepare that evidence and thank you for 

your answers to our questions. 5 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.35 pm] 

 

 Now, so we have heard from you, Mr Minhinnick, in your closing and I 

think it is now for Mr Christensen and Mr Winchester.   10 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Sir, as I indicated, I am going to prepare a full written - 

- - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   A 10 minute - - - 15 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   - - - summary, and just Mr Chairman, to tell you where 

I am heading and if you have any particular questions where I can 

assist you. 

 20 

 Clearly I accept that the site is a challenge in terms of the mix of 

activities which are required and I have to say, from MAIL’s position, 

it was not originally seeking an industrial zoning, that came about 

through the Land Use Recovery Plan, so the industrial part of it has 

really been not of its own making.  So with that background, it has been 25 

attempting to go as far as it can in terms of consistency with the Higher 

Order documents. 

 

 So my submissions will be addressing you on those Higher Order 

documents, and I started in the opening of Stage 1 Hearings around 30 

submissions around those policies and objectives and why, in my 

submission, activities of a non-industrial nature were consistent with 

those and my submission will be around what is significant effects and 

what is primarily industrial. 

 35 

 And those, sir, in my submission, are matters of judgement which go to 

the evidence. 

 

 There has been quite a lot of expert planning comment on policies 3, 4 

and 5 of the Replacement Plan, it is my submission that those policies 40 

are not settled, they are the subject of submissions by my client and 

they are – the submission that I will be making is that in their present 

form, as I did in Stage 1, were not consistent with the Higher Order 

documents in the Land Use Recovery Plan and the Regional Policy 

Statement. 45 
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 So I think that the Panel should take guidance from those policies as 

they are currently expressed and rather look to the Regional Policy 

Statement for that particular guidance, and we are looking to impose or 

to amend, in my submission, policies 3, 4 and 5 to be consistent with 

the Regional Policy Statement. 5 

 

 I will be saying, sir, that both the Council’s Proposal and MAIL’s 

Proposal is consistent with the Regional Policy Statement, and I will be 

relying on the evidence of Messrs Colegrave and Winder in respect of 

retail uses and office uses respectively. 10 

 

 Just turning firstly to the retail.  There has been a number of comments 

over the course of the Hearing where the total amount of retail has been 

agglomerated into a global figure and my submission will be that you 

actually need to look at each of those components of retail separately 15 

and the effects that each of those have on potential effects on retail 

distribution and also urban effects. 

 

 So a supermarket is in a different category to specialty retail, and it is 

also important, in my submission and I will be addressing you on this, 20 

in my written submissions, that there is some staging around the 

specialty retail, which is the smaller scale retail which has the greatest 

potential for effects in terms of the Central Business District Recovery. 

 

 Turning to office.  Again, sir, there has been a lot of discussion around 25 

5,000 versus 15,000.  That is too broad an approach.  The 5,000 general 

is one issue and I will need to convince you that it is consistent with the 

Higher Order documents, but the 10,000 additional metres proposed by 

MAIL is restricted to specific activities. 

 30 

 The objective, as you heard from Mr Winder, is to ensure that those 

specific activities and permitted in activity 3, does not affect the key 

activity centres and the Central Business District. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 35 

 

 Now there are some concern that two at least of those categories are – 

well perhaps it might be implied that they are “stalking horses” that in 

fact there is no demand or need for aviation related businesses or rural 

related businesses, but in fact MAIL’s intention might be to pretend 40 

that it is of that term and then try to get full 15,000 metres of the third 

activity, because, sir, it is my submission that that is not the case. 

 

 But in terms of need and demand, I understand the position that it 

relates to section 7B around “efficiency”, so you should not be 45 
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approving a rezoning for an activity for which it is unlikely to have 

ever occur there. 

 

 But - - -  

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:  It also relates to policies that give direction on those 

matters, isn’t it? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   But - - -  

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN: 7B is one aspect but when the higher order policy 

documents also give direction which in effect invite us to consider 

“need”, that ends up being something we are directed to do as well, 

doesn’t it? 

 15 

MR CHRISTENSEN: I agree and consistent with those higher order 

objectives, but the worse that could happen from MAIL’s perspective 

in terms of aviation related activities or offices, is that, there is not the 

demand that Mr Tansley for instance says “there is not that demand”.  

 20 

 And in that situation it is not thought there is going to be a lacuna or a 

gap that the, that what would happen is that, industrial and warehousing 

activities, which are permitted activities, would otherwise use that, so it 

is really MAIL’s risk in terms of those specific activities. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And no doubt you will think about the other dimension of 

that list of 10,000, as to exactly what is and what is not outside the 

categories that are identified, for instance is, is airways related to the 

first category, Airways Corporation which happens to be not located at 

the airport at the moment, but in another business park - - -  30 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  - - - a agricultural directly related activities, do they 

include the banks that deliver to the primary sector, do they include the 35 

power companies that deliver to the primary sector, do they include the 

likes of Fonterra and others, just what do these categories actually 

control. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:  Yes, yes, so I accept there are potentially issues of 40 

definition around that. 

 

 The third category is the suburban professional offices and we have 

attempted to provide a definition of what professional offices are. You 

may have some concerns around the size of those offices, again Mr 45 
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Winder’s evidence is that, intention is to avoid law firms that might 

otherwise be in the centre, but simply want to have cheaper rentals. 

 

 So, it may be that there is a lesser number that would be appropriate in 

terms of that particular type of activity, and I will – and that - - -  5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Give us that – and give that some thought for closing 

submissions, what is really helpful to us is when parties footnote 

reference to the evidence relied on for the particular submission, or if it 

is not relied on to indicate that it is effectively the client’s position. 10 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, thank you, sir. 

 

 Just tracking through some of the issues, I do not understand there to be 

any disagreement around the setback for Memorial Avenue now, the 10 15 

metres – I believe all of the witnesses are now accepting that that is an 

appropriate setback. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Except there is still alive question though, isn’t there, for 

us to actually grapple with, and that is – and we have got to look at the 20 

evidence on this, but just to alert you of the things that you need to give 

your careful attention to, you know how viable or otherwise is filling 

up that space, there has been contested evidence on that, including from 

your own expert to the effect that, if the scale of activity that the 

Council promotes beyond primarily industrial - - -  25 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - is the presumption then we have a mouthful of gaps, 

if you like, a space with lots of gaps and not enough buildings - - -  30 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and if we look at the same visual for your own client, 

again it is a patch work, and there are other questions associated with 35 

that at interface, I mean the Panel’s not particularly persuaded by, for 

instance, pretty looking pictures in a urban design experts portfolio, the 

question is, in a real sense, in a real sense, is that section of Memorial 

Avenue likely to be enlivened in the ways that that those experts have 

in mind, given its proximity, given its location. 40 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, yes. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now I raise that question because you said the setback 

issue is settled and that it perhaps depends on the nature of the activity 

that goes there.  Not to say the Panel has made its mind up one way or 

the other, but for instance if it did need a mix or at least some 

component of activities that were primarily industrial, how do we 5 

manage that? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Does that effectively require a setback before it is 10 

acceptable along Memorial Avenue? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Well the urban design experts in their caucusing agreed 

that the setback in itself was not a driver of quality.  It was about the 

form and function of particular buildings.   15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but we also heard from Mr Patten (ph 1.04) that he 

would not consider it appropriate to have the blank walls of an 

inherently industrial type of building from primarily industrial setting 

hence his strong preference for glazing and office frontages and so 20 

forth along that.  Now taking that into account, depending on where the 

Panel ends up, if one scenario could involve industrial type activities, is 

it compatible with Mr Patten’s evidence to have that 10 metres back or 

would his evidence effectively lead us back to a wider setback? 

 25 

 Anyway I have not formed a view, I am just thinking those are issues to 

grapple with. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Well, yes, yes.  Mr Pocock’s view is certainly that the 

10 metre setback is preferable over 20, irrespective of the particular 30 

use, particular building. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   And there is no dispute that an industrial building or a 35 

commercial services activity could locate up to the 10 metres up to 

Memorial Avenue. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is what I was trying - - - 

 40 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   And could look good. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I struggle with that one a little bit because I would 

have thought so. 

 45 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   But Mr Pocock was tested on this in cross examination as 

well. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   For instance he was asked about what happened in regard 

to Ashburton and I think a place up in Napier where he was involved as 

a consultant and I think his answer was to the effect he did not know.  

So in other words, what sort of evidence have we got in front of us to 10 

give us confidence from the experts? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Well I think he has done the most extensive study of 

industrial and commercial zones across the city in terms of urban 

design. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Well it would certainly help us to understand the 

true nature of that evidence I think. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Because it is a trade-off area for us to grapple with. Do 

industrial scale activities, in order to prudently look after the amenities 

of Memorial Avenue, warrant a bigger setback or not is one of the 

issues for us to deal with.  Not that we have formed a view, it is just in 25 

the mix at the moment. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes well, sir my submission is that you actually do not 

have any evidence that 20 metres should be better than 10.  In fact to 

the contrary, or even those witnesses from the parties opposing - - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   - - - are still happy with the 10 metre setback. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, well if you could assist us with that that would be 

helpful. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you.  I think outdoor amenity is dealt with sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes it does not seem to be as contentious. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   No. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one issue there, sorry to interrupt you again but just to 

bear in mind a matter of detail and the internal noise boundary question 

in regard to say hotels versus something else (ph 3.50). 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, we have attempted to address that by two rules. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   That are currently there and one is the rule which 

applies to noise for traffic and for aircraft applies also within the zone.  10 

So it is, I will not explain but - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   (INDISTINCT 4.13). 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   - - - there is that and there is also a setback and sunlight 15 

rule which normally applies to a residential boundary.  We have made 

it apply also to the boundary of any guest accommodation within the 

zone. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, well just make sure we are helped on the detail 20 

there and in essence the theory of Dr Chiles’s evidence seems to pertain 

to the question of this interface as much as it pertains to the 

Commodore interface. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, yes.   25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So we need to address that.  Traffic, so my submission 

will be that the traffic issues are sufficiently dealt with by Mr Carr, 30 

Mr Falconer.  Issues of the wider network, will be dealt with through 

other means, the road controlling authorities will in due course attend 

to those where necessary. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Bear in the mind the Regional Policy Statement does not 35 

treat all parts of the network on the same basis. 

 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   The question I almost got from Mr Clark’s evidence, 40 

was that the western corridor is presently inadequate for the uses 

currently, so it is constrained, and that one option in terms of 

addressing that issue is simply just to be very conservative about 

allowing any additional development. 

 45 
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 And my submission would be that one of the functions of the road is to 

provide access to development and that is the nature of the – I think 

you said, it is not necessarily protecting the road from itself, for itself, 

but it is the efficiency in relation to be able to use that road network for 

social and economic wellbeing. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   There is a question of equity in that, is there not, and there 

is a question of – it is about social and economic wellbeing in a broad 

sense and in a sense it is an asset for those purposes for the community, 

one might say. 10 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And as it is upgraded it is providing that amenity or asset 

to the community to extract the economic wellbeing by a more efficient 15 

network and it has got a design life and there are funding issues. 

 

 As I say, I come back to the policy statement and just sort of emphasise 

to you that it is not just a matter of considering the evidence but it will 

be a matter of considering the evidence in light of the directions given 20 

by the policy statements. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you.  I think REPA perhaps is the other issue, 

sir. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   MAIL’s position on this is that it is supportive of the 

submissions that you will receive from Ms Steven.  Now originally - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I am not sure what happened to Ms Steven, she did 

not turn up (INDISTINCT 2.17). 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   No, I was looking forward to that but originally, as you 

can see there are effectively two landowners on the MAIL rezoning, the 35 

MAIL - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   McVicar. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   - - - and then McVicar, or McVicar’s estate now 40 

because Mr McVicar passed away at the end of last year. 

 

 MAIL has always taken the view that the REPA is the REPA and 

whatever controls and restrictions that arises from that and from 

designations, it would accept. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And your submission being framed on that basis? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Effectively consistent with the logic of the REPA in 5 

assigning car parking to this area? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Well, that was the original position that MAIL put in 

its plan change.  An attempt to recognise, I suppose, the reality of what 

could actually occur on the land as at today given whatever the REPA 10 

would have. 

 

 When, in discussions with the Council, it became clear the Council did 

not favour specific controls around the REPA area, and then a 

submission on the plan change from Mr McVicar, clearly did, it 15 

opposed that, and so when MAIL has effectively merged the relief it is 

seeking on the plan change and Stage 2, it now accepts that the position 

that the McVicar Estate takes is the more correct legal position. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Which is in essence? 20 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Well, I have not seen the draft submissions, but I 

understand it to be that the appropriate zoning is the appropriate zoning 

irrespective of the REPA. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, and taking that point forward, first of all, what do 

you think of Ms Appleyard’s submissions? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I think the best she got, sir, was that the designation 

was probably seen as a red herring and so if you are looking at the 30 

effect of the existing environment, that is the Airport, on the 

appropriate activities within the MAIL area, I think that is the better 

enquiry as opposed to what is the effective REPA in the designation on 

the land. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   But then I come to a difficulty, and I think Ms Steven 

will explore that in detail, and that is the REPA in itself is not a thing, it 

is not an actual noise or - - - 40 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, but what is a thing? 

 45 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Operational, it is - - - 
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JUDGE HASSAN: But what is a thing, as Mr Bonis alluded to, well, 

addressed, isn’t it the case that we look at the appropriate zoning in 

terms of all of the directions that the Act gives us and consider 

alternatives and one alternative is the designation is sufficient, another 5 

alternative is designation plus rules.  But in behind that there is a 

question, isn’t there, and that is what is the nature of the receiving 

environment looking into the future, now and into the future, and that 

REPA is there for a reason, isn’t it, it is do with the health and safety of 

– well, the safety of the community? 10 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if that is a feature of this land, in other words this land 

is at some risk of a safety to the community problem then that factors 15 

into the question of appropriate zoning, doesn’t it? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   I think I accept that it does.  The question though, in 

terms of what happens if the REPA is adjusted in some way, because 

the REPA, as I understand it, is a FAA requirement. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  But in relation to a risk which the FAA people have 

figured out and I presume they have done the numbers on it and said, 

“Well, there is some sort of risk that with the wrong sort of tailwind 

and a bad sort of pilot we could end up with the plane on that piece of 25 

land” more or less I think.   

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:  Yes, but I don’t think it is necessarily the same as I 

think Ms Appleyard suggested simply like a setback to the Commodore 

Hotel, to my mind it is more like addressing a reverse sensitivity issue, 30 

so like an intensive agricultural activity beside a residential zone. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, I suppose the perspective I am debating with you is 

not about reverse sensitivity at all, it is about dealing with a piece of 

land and prudently zoning it on the basis of our knowledge of low 35 

probability-high impact risk as identified through a process of 

regulatory control and reflected in a piece of land being identified 

called the REPA.  The Grim Reaper. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:  Yes, I think for the estate it probably it is, sir.  Well, I 40 

accept that those are the issues but interestingly one of the things that 

Ms Appleyard seemed to focus on or to feature was this first in first 

served idea and I don’t know whether I subscribe to that. But 

interestingly, in my submission, the LURP became effective in 

December 2013 so at that point we knew, because it required the 45 
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Regional Policy Statement to be amended, we knew at that point that 

this land was to be zoned industrial, primarily industrial.   

 

 The REPA only came along after that and so I think I will leave it to 

Ms Steven to explore that as to whether that has implications but at the 5 

end of the day this issue is around, at least as I perceive it, is around 

what is the underlying value from a taking point of view.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  What is the proper zoning, I mean where angels fear to 

tread include making assumptions around statutory codes on the basis 10 

of what they say or don’t say.  It is a question of how much of that we 

need to get into I am not sure but no doubt you will think about that, we 

will have to think about it. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:  Well, sir, I am not sure that I am really going to be able 15 

to assist you any further because as I say MAIL’s position is that other 

than a small area of its own land unfortunately it is the other landowner 

who is most affected and Ms Steven is dealing.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I understand. 20 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So we will be supporting her. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I am just debating it with you on the basis that no 

doubt you can convey some issues to Ms Steven given that she is not 25 

here to have a debate and we will get her submissions in due course but 

hopefully she thinks about it in the right way. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   So those are all the matters unless I can help you with 

anything else? 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think the only other thing is it would be most helpful for 

us as we progress through these things to sift out those things where 

there isn’t a need for contention and you mentioned one where it seems 

that points of contention have narrowed significantly in regard to 35 

outdoor amenity.  They may not have gone away entirely but they have 

narrowed significantly and to the extent you can assist us in closing 

submissions in helping us to see what aren’t issues, that is also helpful 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes.  I have to say, sir, that the mediation that we had 40 

two weeks ago was probably one of the most successful I have, other 

than reaching resolution, we reduced from 28 issues to effectively sort 

of 12 so we have attempted to do that over time. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   One other thing I think to think about is in terms of there 45 

were questions put to, I put I think and I will ask my Panel members, I 
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haven’t done that I have been rude, to Mr Pocock about the potential 

for a low slung type of office design with a high - in other words a limit 

on height to achieve more longitude. 

 

  [3.00 pm] 5 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I got the impression from his answer that, an office like 

that in that sort of locality for instance, would be marketable. 10 

Obviously it can cover more length of Memorial Avenue potentially, if 

that was done.  

 

 The other question is, I have been floating myself that I am interested 

in and I do not know about other Panel members and I will ask that 15 

shortly – in relating the question of anchoring activity, the question of 

ancillary activity in extent to which there might be capacity to deal with 

the issues in that space, and obviously if that is to your client’s benefit 

then you telling me about that as well, in terms of ancillary activities. 

 20 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, okay, thank you, sir. 

 

 So just want to make sure that I am making clear that, the submission 

around retail and office, additional to what the Council is proposing, is 

not because of the (INDISTINCT 1.05) need to have more activities of 25 

a higher quality along Memorial Avenue that is not the driver for it, the 

driver says it is on its own merits, it just happens to be that that is more 

likely to result in our submission and a better outcome along the 

Memorial Avenue frontage. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks very much, Mr Christensen, especially before you 35 

sit down though I need to ask my Panel members. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawson, are there any questions at this stage? 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, I think just following on from what you were both just 

discussing, in terms of that Memorial Avenue frontage, I mean when 

you are looking at how you swanned in your closing submissions, 

thinking about the issue of the Memorial Avenue frontage, there is a 45 

separate issue to how much office is needed and how much retail and 
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making sure that whatever activities front Memorial Ave that the rules 

that you finally put to us and the assessment matters et cetera, have 

good teeth and work on their own merits, sort of irrespective of the land 

uses that might be provided for or actually in reality eventuate along 

that frontage. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I will ask Commissioner Illingsworth – there is one 

further matter from me, and that is, you have heard the Panel listen to 

the Association submission, the Commodore submission - - -  

 10 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - and so to the extent to which you can help us in that 

regard and it is a matter for you obviously to be as clear as you can 

about what it is, if anything you are proposing in regard to the concerns 15 

they have. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 20 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you, I will do. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Winchester? 

 25 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Sorry, did Mr Illingsworth have no - - -  

 

MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No, no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   He has got the signal no question, sorry. Mr Winchester. 30 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir, I will not keep you long. 

 

 Now I continue to rely on my opening submissions which I think the 

way we have traversed through the hearing, the key conclusions have 35 

been, at least been borne out, if not reinforced during the course of the 

hearing, I will run through those. 

 

 I suppose I would make the observation and Mr Bonis made the point 

this morning that in some respects much of the debate we have had 40 

over these three days is about subsequent matters and a transport urban 

design, all these sorts of things which has not really confronted the big 

picture issue head on. 

 

 And that is not to be disrespectful to the experts who have given 45 

evidence on those matters because it is important, in terms of traffic 
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consequences and urban design consequences. But it all ultimately, in 

my submission, comes back to the big picture issues of zoning, mix of 

activities and quantum of those activities, particularly with regard to 

office and retail. 

 5 

 And with respect, in my submission, those are issues that have been 

largely ducked or avoided by MAIL during the course of this hearing, 

so I think those key issues, there is evidence about them, but not 

evidence about why that mix of activities is the most appropriate. 

 10 

 So there is no planning evidence from MAIL. I detected very little 

challenge by way of cross-examination by my learned friend, Mr 

Christensen, in terms of the planning experts, and in terms of the 

planning evidence before this Panel, it is virtually unanimous about the 

inconsistency of the MAIL proposal with the higher order framework 15 

and indeed the discomfort with the commercial and industrial 

objectives and policies of the Replacement Plan. 

 

 And I noted my learned friend suggested that, in his closing, he was 

going to deal with these issues by reference to the Regional Policy 20 

Statement and look to rely on the Regional Policy Statement to justify 

the outcomes that it sought in terms of quantum of office, quantum of 

retail.  I look forward to those submissions. 

 

  [3.05 pm] 25 

 

 Quite frankly, I do hesitate and wonder whether the Regional Policy 

Statement could ever provide the support that is sought, so it seems 

abundantly clear from the very directive nature of that Chapter 6 of the 

Regional Policy Statement as to what is intended, and you heard 30 

evidence this morning in response to the questions I posed to 

Ms Whyte and Mr Bonis about urban form. 

 

 There is a very, very clear thread there and it simply cannot be picked 

apart and broken down into categories of retail in terms of effects and 35 

then translated back to the RPS objectives and policies in my 

submission.   

 

 And I note that was a suggestion my learned friend made about the 

need to break down the evidence about retail into the different 40 

categories.  Well, in my submission, you have not actually heard 

evidence as to those effects and their relationship, it has not been 

broken down - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   It wasn’t done in the modelling? 45 
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MR WINCHESTER:   No, and it wasn’t done by Mr Colegrave in 

cross-examination and quite frankly, it is not Mr Heath’s task to do 

that.  So I am not sure that the Panel has got the raw material to do that, 

but I look forward to those submissions.  

 5 

 In terms of the evidence of Mr Pocock, in my submission what I 

demonstrated was something of a bottom up approach in terms of the 

way that the master plan was put together.  I was not really done by 

reference to the planning documents and what the overall intention for 

the site is in those higher order documents, my learned friend explained 10 

on the strength of that, but even though some momentum had been 

gathered towards MAIL’s ultimate goals, one would have thought it 

would have been useful to stop, pause for thought, and re-evaluate 

against where we got to with the planning framework, and in light of 

the RPS and the LURP, that does not appear to have been done, and it 15 

has created, in my submission, insurmountable problems for what is 

proposed by MAIL. 

 

 I made the submission in opening that the MAIL approach was one of 

the tail wagging the dog, and in my submission, that is exactly what 20 

Mr Pocock’s evidence demonstrated.  The suggestion was more office 

is required because you are going to get a better urban design outcome.  

You posed a couple of questions, sir, to my learned this afternoon as to 

exactly whether that will in fact create a better urban design outcome or 

whether that is equally achievable with other activities along that 25 

Memorial Avenue frontage. 

 

 And there was specific questions that your Honour put to Mr Pocock 

about industrial activities having at least one active frontage and 

comparing that to office activities if the access is going to be from a car 30 

park around the back, and perfectly logical questions to which, in my 

submission, there was not a convincing answer. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, as far as I could tell, the answer relates to glazing. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, that was my understanding, sir.  And an 

unspecified and unfounded concern that a controlled activity, the need 

for a controlled activity consent for an industrial building in the 

50 metre setback, would somehow discourage the appropriate outcome, 

which I struggle to understand and there was simply no foundation for 40 

it other than Mr Pocock’s opinion. 

 

 So in terms of a planning justification for what is before you from the 

MAIL perspective, in my submission there is none.  There is no 

evidence in terms of a planning justification for what is proposed, there 45 
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is no section 32 analysis before you to assist you in your own 

section 32AA duties. 

 

 Talking about the level of office that is proposed and the nature of 

office that is proposed, I think it was demonstrated in 5 

cross-examination that there is almost no hard evidential foundation 

from Mr Winder’s evidence regarding the nature, scale or purpose of 

office provision. 

 

  [3.10 pm] 10 

 

 No evidence of demand, no surveys, simply nothing.  It is a concept 

and it is based, certainly I do not doubt Mr Winders’ best intentions but 

very conceptual and again it is about MAIL’s preferred outcome first 

without actually having the material, the raw material to work with in 15 

the first place in terms of evidence. 

 

 And I heard my learned friend just say in closing about the different 

categories of activities and the restrictions that have been proposed in 

terms of office and I think he said that it has been constructed in a way 20 

that if you do not get the rural activities – and I take your point about 

how do you define what is truly a rural activity, a rural office activity 

sorry – and if you do not get the aviation activities, then you are going 

to end up with industrial and warehousing.   

 25 

 Well in my submission that in itself creates a problem because it leads 

you all the way back to the concerns that Mr Pocock expressed about 

having a bad outcome at the site.  So you are somewhat chasing your 

tail.  So the level of office is absolutely needed according to MAIL but 

if you do not get it then you are going to end up with a bad outcome 30 

based on their own evidence. 

 

 And in my submission in the context of the zoning that is proposed, it 

is an Industrial Park zoning, and in the context of the evidence you 

have heard about office, the 5,000 square metres which essentially 35 

comes for free with an Industrial Park zoning, in my submission it is 

something of a gift for MAIL. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well it is not a gift until it is given. 

 40 

MR WINCHESTER:   Correct sir, and I think you heard evidence this morning 

from Ms Whyte in terms of the Panel’s jurisdiction to go lower than 

5,000 and as to whether it is justified at all given there is no evidence 

before you of any intention from MAIL to establish high tech or high 

amenity industrial activities on this site, which is the fundamental 45 

policy purpose of the zone. 
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 Turning to retail, I think it is pretty clear that in terms of the 

overarching policy position, that the policy framework clearly 

discourages retail out of centre and this is not a centre, and it 

discourages retail on industrial land and this is identified for industrial.  5 

So there is no policy support for retail, let alone the nature and scale 

proposed by Mr Colegrave. 

 

 In terms of Mr Colegrave’s evidence, in my submission it is simply not 

reliable.  In terms of the conclusions expressed, there are no sound 10 

building blocks in terms of studies and the methodology employed and 

indeed the model.  The methodology is unclear, and a number of the 

assumptions appear to be highly subjective and somewhat casual in my 

submission, in terms of the way Mr Colegrave puts together his 

evidence and reaches his conclusions. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I am intrigued about one issue of comparison there 

and that relates to the significant arguments that occurred and 

supplementary requests for evidence and so forth in regard to the traffic 

modelling approach to underpin opinions compared to Mr Colegrave’s 20 

approach. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I agree with you sir.  That is entirely correct.  It is very 

hard to pin it to anything in terms of raw data, actually going through a 

sound methodological approach to reach a logical conclusion and the 25 

gravity model, you have got competing evidence about that.  Mr Heath 

criticises it.  His reasons for criticising the gravity model are clear and 

in my submission it cannot be fit for purpose in this context given that 

Mr Colegrave said that it dilutes – it carries the effects as far as 

Waimakariri and Selwyn.   30 

 

  [3.15 pm] 

 

 It is simply ludicrous to dilute the effect of the MAIL Centre across 

such a broad geographical scale, and the conclusions as to effects 35 

simply defy logic.  It is not just that, you know, there is a model and 

you have to trust it.  If you step back and just apply common sense 

thinking to the conclusions, they were quite frankly outrageous. I said 

that they beggared belief.  That is absolutely the case.  To say that the 

biggest effect of MAIL was going to be on Northwood, well, it speaks 40 

for itself in my submission. 

 

 Now, Mr Colegrave sought to place some reliance on the work he has 

done for the City Council in the past, and he made reference to the 

gravity model being applied at North Halswell, and I said I had a 45 

submission to make about that.  My submission there is that 
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Mr Colegrave certainly produced a gravity model for the Council in 

relation to a prior plan change for North Halswell which never 

proceeded.  Certainly the work was done.  As to whether the Council 

accepted that model or adopted, there is no evidence before you about 

that.  But I think what I can say is that in this process the Council has 5 

not adopted or relied on the work of Mr Colegrave in terms of the 

North Halswell Key Activity Centre.  It has relied on the work of 

Mr Heath. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Mr Colegrave’s statement was just a statement of his 10 

understanding of what your client did. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Correct.  In terms of what Mr Colegrave produced, and 

I think it is on the record from Commercial Industrial Stage 1, his 

gravity model for that prior plan change produced an outcome of 15 

200,000 square metres of retail at the North Halswell Key Activity 

Centre without an adverse effect on other centres or the CBD. 

 

 What we have ended up with, in terms of the outcome of expert 

caucusing for North Halswell in this process, is 50,000 square metres 20 

of retail on a staged basis. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And on the basis of a consensus being reached by which 

process the Panel has not received or tested the evidence. 

 25 

MR WINCHESTER:   Absolutely, sir.  But it does put Mr Colegrave’s claims 

into some context.   

 

 There was a question, your Honour, put to me in opening about the 

extent to which the Panel can have regard to or put weighted (ph 2.57) 30 

reliance on the actions of a road controlling authority. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I thought you might struggle with that vague question 

which I had to ask while we were waiting for some witness. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   I am not sure the extent to which - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just to help you further with it, and for all counsel, I mean 

obviously we are now considering these issues in light of the position 

Mr Falconer reached and on the basis of which you elected not to 40 

cross-examine, from which I currently have a view – unless I am told 

otherwise – that the Council effectively takes on board a position where 

effect on a traffic internal network view, leaving aside the strategic 

network which is not your responsibility, as road controlling authority 

you do not contest one scenario or the other on the basis of that 45 

evidence.  Effectively it is neutral. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Correct. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I was initially asking the question because I would like 

counsel to think about the – avoid the primer 1 or resource management 5 

101 approach to roads and say if there is an adverse therefore there 

must be something done about it, ie section 52(c). 

 

 Simply to say, it seems to me that is a very complicated evaluative 

exercise required in regard to a network which is dynamic and which 10 

changes all of the time for a range of reasons.  Part of the mix in that is, 

what does the network provider, the road controlling authority, think 

about it?  It is certainly not definitive but it bears some weight and it is 

really in that context. 

 15 

 But I think possibly my enquiry in regard to this for you is sort of 

answered by the fact that, in effect, you modified your case approach.  

In any event, in light of Mr Falconer’s shift of position, and which is 

appropriate for him to do in an expert capacity of course, in light of 

further things he had come to understand and see. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes.  Thank you, sir.  I think that is a fair reflection of 

what the intention was in terms of the Council’s position, and of course 

you then have expert evidence from other traffic witnesses about their 

experience of what road patrolling authorities do which you are entitled 25 

to take into account and particularly in terms of the Crown’s position 

how it might manage that west corridor.  So I will not pursue that any 

further but I just wanted clarification as to whether that was still an 

outstanding issue. 

 30 

  [3.20 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We would rely on the Crown, I think, to assist us in terms 

of how they see the strategic network in regard to the policy statement, 

it is really not your fight but you are welcome to comment on it if you 35 

want. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Thank you, sir.  And the final issue I think that I can 

address you on today and I will record formally in the written closing is 

on the REPA and essentially it is the position I put to Mr Bonis this 40 

morning which I think reflects pretty closely the questions you posed to 

my learned friend, Mr Christensen, this afternoon that you must have 

regard to the designation and you must acknowledge the constraints 

under that designation by way of context. 

 45 
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 Also the history and the timing issues that Ms Appleyard took you 

through yesterday are part of the context and the legal relevance of the 

designation and Plan Change 84 and what it says are also relevant but I 

certainly do not go so far as to say that the only result can be that the 

rules that are imposed or the controls that are imposed through this 5 

process must mimic what is in the designation.  It is an evaluative 

exercise in terms of that (INDISTINCT 1.54) by part two. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   My concern is if it was to go that extra step there are all 

sorts of legal implications of that which spin well beyond this context. 10 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Indeed. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In regard to situations all so different kinds of designation 

for instance for a proposed hospital on the site, does it mean a 15 

commercial, best use approach to that site has to be shut down because 

it has a hospital designation over the top of it or something.  Public 

Works Act have mentions of that, the code in the Public Works Act in 

regard to when one crystalizes the entitlements of compensation, being 

careful not to intrude into that area when you should not.  20 

 

 Bearing in mind section 85 of the Act in terms of the constraints on a 

rule when it comes to denying reasonable use, all of those things are 

part of the mix I think for us to be cautious about taking a view that 

goes beyond the evidence. 25 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   That is absolutely right and it is incredibly complex and 

doing one thing may result in consequences in terms of section 185 and 

section 85 and Public Works Act considerations.  That, however, in my 

submission runs the risk of applying the wrong test.  30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes.  That is right, it is not going to help anyone to do that.  

On the other hand the Policy Statement gives us reasonable guidance 

including regard to our development plans. 

 35 

MR WINCHESTER:   It does, sir, and that was the submission I was going to 

make is that simply reflecting what is in the designation for the 

purposes of this zone runs the risk of you not giving effect to the RPS. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 40 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   In terms of matter of detail there are some issues of 

planning detail and drafting that have been traversed and - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But not to forget the detail in regard to other submitter 45 

interests, who you know are sitting behind you. 
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MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, indeed, and those have been made very clear.  So I 

can address those matters of detail in closing, sir, after consulting with 

Ms Carter. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Winchester.  Just one other thing before 

other Panel members ask questions, are we going to receive an updated 

version? 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   Yes, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I think what would be helpful to the extent that you can 

confer on that with the parties and obviously not to put undue pressure 

on you or your team but nevertheless as it was very helpful on the way 

into this process, Ms Carter, we are indebted to Ms Carter despite the 15 

whack around the ear she got a few times from counsel; it does not 

reflect our view.  It is certainly helpful to have that thoroughness done 

in terms of identifying in one document what different parties think.  

Now, you may not be able to achieve that but if you can it would be 

helpful. 20 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   I can certainly ensure that Ms Carter provides an update 

in terms of what she has considered, heard and reflected upon in the 

last few days and I will do my best to encapsulate what other parties 

want as well. There is a version floating around that is awfully 25 

colourful but we will take it on board, sir.   

 

 In terms of timing would you want that at the same time as the closing 

submissions? 

 30 

  [3.25 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   We do not need to put pressure on.  I think what I will do 

at this stage is I will – what I propose to do once we get to the end of 

this is to adjourn and simply probably follow up with some directions 35 

on a timetable, but on the basis that we would test the views with 

Counsel as to what could be done, and we will just set the timetable 

directions on that basis. 

 

MR WINCHESTER:   As your Honour pleases. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks Mr Winchester.  Just before you go, any 

questions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, that’s fine. 45 
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MR ILLINGSWORTH:   No questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well thank you very much to you and to Mr Winchester 

and other Counsel and also Professor, thank you for your help, it was 

particularly helpful for you to organise your questions and keep within 5 

time limits because that is what stresses me out as the Panel Chair, to 

try to keep to those given we have Panel members having to take flight. 

 

 So at this stage, I can just indicate that I adjourn the hearing and that I 

will issue a set of directions for followup in regard to closing.  I would 10 

probably do that once I receive the written closings from other parties 

to determine what further followup we require. 

 

 Thank you very much. 

 15 

MR WINCHESTER:   If your Honour pleases. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 3.26 PM ACCORDINGLY 


